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Foreword from Chairman and Chief Executive
This is our first annual report as the Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust.
Although we changed our name on the 1st April 2011, the bulk of the organisation changed
on the 1st August when we came together to provide specialist learning disability services
across the Black Country, children and young people’s services in Dudley and all age
mental health services in Sandwell and Wolverhampton. This involved the move of over
1000 staff, completely new management and operational structures as well as several new
service strategies to implement.
As a result of this transition most people’s energies have been spent on integration and this
enormous task has impacted on everyone in all departments. It is therefore with great credit
to the staff within the organisation that patients and clients have continued to receive
excellent care during this period.
Being a Foundation Trust requires us to maintain and improve services, embrace change,
grow and develop the organisation while at the same time exercise strong budgetary
management. This year we have complied with the NHS Foundation Trust Code of
Governance, met the terms of our authorisation and achieved all our performance targets.
We knew one of the key priorities of the new organisation would be to resolve some of the
long standing issues associated with Penn Hospital in Wolverhampton, and indeed a
resolution to the considerable estate difficulties was successfully concluded between
ourselves and the Wolverhampton City Primary Care Trust (PCT) in February. Other issues
as a result of a Care Quality Commission (CQC) inspection on the date of transfer have also
required some considerable effort by all concerned, not least of which was the closure and
move of the Sandlewood psychiatric intensive care ward from Wolverhampton to the
Macarthur Centre in Sandwell; this happened in December 2011.
Unfortunately however, following an unannounced visit in March 2012, the Trust has received a
further inspection report in early May 2012 from the Care Quality Commission. Whilst
acknowledging that the Trust has improved in areas from the inspection in August 2011, it now
requires the Trust to address major concerns it has in other standards of care. The Board of
Directors is fully committed to ensuring actions are taken that will result in improved quality of
services from Penn Hospital.
Considerable progress has been made with the implementation of the mental health strategy
in Wolverhampton. This has involved the reconfiguration of community services to better
serve the needs of our patients and allows for a more integrated approach to be taken with
our primary care colleagues.
The service redesign of Children and Young People’s services has also moved on a pace
both in Dudley, with the expansion of Health Visiting and the move of Child and Adolescent
Mental Health, Eating Disorder, Early Intervention and the Clinical Health Psychology
Services into the Division, which will provide a much expanded and better service to young
people.
The Trust has faced significant challenges this year as a result of the financial reductions in
both the NHS and the local authorities who have and are continuing to competitively tender
certain services. This year saw the loss of the Substance Misuse Services in Sandwell and
6
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Wolverhampton is tendering their service in 2012. Another service subject to tender during
2012 is the Positive Choices Therapy Services. Notice has been given in the coming year to
Churchvale, our rehabilitation and recovery unit, and Orchard Hills one of our learning
disability step down facilities. Not withstanding all these changes we look forward in 2012 to
significant improvements in the estate, being able to complete the integration projects,
particularly around governance, and improving patient care.
In addition to all the new staff, we are also pleased to welcome new governors into the
organisation, particularly the expansion of representatives from Wolverhampton, Dudley and
Walsall. We would also like to extend a warm thank you to those governors who have
stepped down from the Assembly of Governors, mostly from the Sandwell area. They have
been great advocates for the organisation in its first three years as a Foundation Trust and
we wish them well.
As the NHS and all parts of the public sector face unprecedented challenges there will also
be opportunities to work in a different way with the new Clinical Commissioning Groups
(CCGs). This will require the Trust to view integration with primary care in a different and
much more coherent way for the people who need our services. So as we look forward our
theme for the year ahead is to try to maintain and improve the quality of patient care.

Karen Dowman
Chief Executive

Bob Piper
Chairman
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1.1 Brief Background and Establishment
Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust provides mental health services to people of all
ages in Sandwell and Wolverhampton. The Trust also delivers specialist learning disability
services to people across the Black Country and also provides community based children’s
healthcare services in Dudley.
The Trust formerly operated as Sandwell Mental Health and Social Care NHS Foundation Trust
predominantly providing mental health and learning disability services in Sandwell.
As a response to the Transforming Community Services (TCS) programme, in 2011, the Trust took
on responsibility to provide:
Walsall (from 1st April)
Specialist Learning Disability Services in Walsall
Dudley (from 1st August)
Specialist Learning Disabilities Services and Children, Young People and Family Services in
Dudley
Wolverhampton (from 1st August)
Specialist Learning Disabilities Services and Mental Health Services including Child and
Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) and Addiction Services in Wolverhampton
As a result of these transfers, the Trust changed its name on the 1st April 2011 to Black Country
Partnership NHS Foundation Trust in order to reflect its wider geographical reach and broader
range of services. The Trust has effectively doubled in size; it now employs approximately 2000
staff and has a turnover of just over £100 million.
1. 2 Vision and Values : Goals and Objectives
In preparation for the scale of change in 2011, the Trust recognised that it would need to develop a
new vision for the enlarged organisation. As such, the Trust brought together over 300 staff,
service users, carers and members (from across the Black Country) in early February 2011.
Together, a new organisational vision, along with a set of values and goals were developed.
The Trust’s revised vision is:
“Our community: you matter, we care”
supported through our vision statement:
“working with local communities to improve the health and well-being of everyone.”
Our collective values are:
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Honesty and Openness – to act in a transparent way that supports honesty and openness
Empowerment - to empower people who use services; carers and staff
Dignity and Respect – to treat people who use services, carers and staff fairly, with dignity and
respect, appreciating their individuality.
The following four key goals were also agreed:





To reduce inequality by recognising diversity and celebrating difference
To improve and promote the health and well-being of local communities
To provide high quality care, in the right place, at the right time
To put people and their families at the heart of care

The Board of Directors then developed three strategic objectives to underpin and realise the
vision, values and goals. These are as follows:
 We will improve access to a range of integrated services across the Black Country
which are sustainable and responsive
 Our local communities will value the contribution we make to improving people’s lives
 We will attract, retain and develop a capable and flexible workforce
1.3 Description and Summary of Service Areas
The Trust’s services are predominantly divided into three main clinical divisions: Mental Health;
Specialist Learning Disabilities and Children, Young People and Families.
The following section provides an overview summary of our services. More detailed descriptions
can be found on our website: www.bcpft.nhs.uk
1.3.1 Mental Health
In the mental health division, we support people aged 18 years and above who are experiencing
both common and severe mental health difficulties. We provide services within hospital and
community facilities, as well as within people’s own homes.
Inpatient Care
Inpatient care is provided at Hallam Street Hospital, West Bromwich and Penn Hospital,
Wolverhampton. We provide intensive 24-hour inpatient care to people aged 18 to 65 years who
need more support than we can give them in the community. To help people get better, staff
encourage them to take control of their own care. People learn about how they can get better, and
how they can manage their own medication and symptoms.
The Macarthur Centre in West Bromwich provides an enhanced environment for people with
severe and enduring mental health conditions who require focused rehabilitation. Patients at the
centre are supported to build up their life skills and social skills so that they can go back to living
independently. The Macarthur Centre also provides a Psychiatric Intensive Care Service (PICS).
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At Edward Street Hospital in West Bromwich and on Cedar Ward at Penn Hospital,
Wolverhampton our staff give 24-hour inpatient care and support to older people with mental
health needs (typically over 65 years) such as dementia, depression, and anxiety.
Community-based Care
Comprehensive community support is provided by a number of staff working in multi-disciplinary
teams. In Sandwell, services are provided by the following community teams: the Assertive
Outreach Team, Churchvale Rehabilitation and Recovery Centre, six Community Mental Health
Teams for both adults and older adults, the Crisis Resolution and Home Treatment Team, the
Criminal Justice Mental Health Liaison Team, the Mental Health Liaison Team (based in Sandwell
General Hospital), two Positive Choices Teams and three Primary Care Liaison Teams. For older
adults in Sandwell we provide a Memory Disorder Service, a Mental Health Liaison Nursing
Service, a Therapy and Recovery Outreach Service and a Therapy and Recovery Unit.
There are three main Community Mental Health Teams based around Wolverhampton City.
These are Steps to Health in the North East, the Croft Resource Centre serving the South East
and Corner House Resource Centre in the South West. All three teams work closely with the
Assertive Outreach Team. Linked to these community teams is a Forensic Liaison service which
works in partnership with South Staffordshire and Shropshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust.
Services across Wolverhampton also include Wolverhampton Healthy Minds providing support for
adults experiencing common mental health problems, such as depression and anxiety, and a
range of services for older adults including Wolverhampton Memory Assessment Service, Older
people’s Liaison Team and Older People’s Home Treatment Service.
These teams all perform different roles in providing mental health care to the community. Teams
are made up of various staff including Psychiatrists, Community Nurses, Psychologists,
Occupational Therapists and Social Workers.
Substance Misuse Services
The Trust ceased to provide Adult Drug Treatment Services in Sandwell from August 2011 but
continues to provide an alcohol dependency service, (now known as Sandwell Community Alcohol
Service).
In Wolverhampton, the Drug and Alcohol Addiction Services team helps people with abstinence
and recovery. The Wolverhampton SUBS service supports young people and their families around
their substance misuse.
1.3.2 Learning Disability Services
These services provide specialist health care to adults with learning disabilities and additional
complex health needs, including autistic spectrum disorders, mental health difficulties and
behaviour problems.
We provide services in Dudley, Sandwell, Walsall and Wolverhampton. A team of specialist health
staff from different professions provide a range of inpatient, outpatient and community treatments
and interventions. Specialist healthcare staff work closely with community nurses and social
workers.
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Learning Disability Inpatient Care
The Gerry Simon Clinic in West Bromwich, is a regional low secure service for men with learning
disabilities and complex health needs, some of whom may have come into contact with the
criminal justice system.
Newton House is a specialist step-down and rehabilitation service for men with learning
disabilities, many of whom have been discharged from a secure environment.
Penrose House is a specialist learning disability acute assessment and treatment service for both
men and women.
Pond Lane is a service for people with a learning disability between the ages of 18 and 65 who live
in Wolverhampton and who may have mental health issues as well as challenging behaviour and
physical health conditions.
Ridge Hill in Dudley and Suttons Drive in Walsall provide services for adults who have learning
disabilities and / or additional needs and who require rehabilitation.
Orchard Hill House is our service for people with learning disabilities and / or additional needs who
require medical admission to a specialist assessment and treatment unit. This could be because
they are at risk in their current situation or because they require a period of treatment and
rehabilitation.
Community Learning Disability Services
In addition, the Trust provides Learning Disability Services in the community. These services
include: Dudley Learning Disabilities Specialist Health Service (based at The Ridge Hill Centre);
Walsall Integrated Learning Disabilities Service for people with learning disabilities requiring health
and social care support.
There are two locality teams in Walsall: the North / West Integrated Learning Disability Team
based at The Allens Centre and the South / East Team based at Broadway North Centre.
Walsall Learning Disabilities Health Facilitation Team helps people with a learning disability access
primary and secondary health care. The team work with the Community Learning Disability
Nursing Team.
The Trust also provides support to the Sandwell Integrated Support Service, run by Sandwell
Metropolitan Borough Council. This is a service for children and young people (aged 0 to 25
years) who have profound learning disabilities. We have a team within the service who can support
children and young people with mental health needs.
Wolverhampton Learning Disabilities Specialist Healthcare Service supports adults in
Wolverhampton with a learning disability to access mainstream services. The team is based within
Wolverhampton City Council’s learning disability team.
1.3.3 Children, Young People and Family Services
We provide children’s community healthcare services in Dudley as well as a range of services in
Wolverhampton and Sandwell for children and young people experiencing mental health problems.
12
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Children’s Community Healthcare Services
These services are for children and young people aged 0 to 18 years, and their families, living in
Dudley. Services are delivered in a range of settings, including schools, nurseries, children’s’
centres and in people’s homes.
Services include: the Children’s Assessment Unit, for pre-school children of varying special needs;
Speech and Language Therapy; School Nursing; the See-Saw Team (providing children’s
palliative care); the Family Nurse Partnership (FNP); Paediatric Physiotherapy Service; Health
Visiting; Haemoglobinopathies Services (for children and young people with blood disorders);
Dudley Schools’ Health Advisors; Children’s Occupational Therapy and an Asthma Nurse
Specialist for children and young people.
Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS)
These services are for young people up to the age of 16 years, and those aged from 16-18 years
in full-time education. Where possible, pre-school children (aged 0-4 years) are put in touch with
health visitors and children’s centres where they can receive appropriate support. Our staff work
across Sandwell and Wolverhampton to reach children and young people who have severe mental
health difficulties.
Sandwell specialist CAMHS is for children and young people with complex mental health needs.
The service also aims to support their families and carers. Specialist CAMHS also run the
Sandwell Deliberate Self-Harm Service for children and young people who enter Sandwell District
General Hospital’s Paediatric Unit showing signs of deliberate self-harm.
The Trust also employs CAMHS staff who are based in services outside the organisation. For
example, there are mental health workers in Sandwell Integrated Support Service, the Youth
Offending Team, Looked After Children and the Multi Agency Team Around the Child (MATAC).
In Wolverhampton, the Child and Family Service provides assessment, diagnosis and treatment to
children and adolescents experiencing mental health difficulties. The Wolverhampton CAMHS
Crisis and Home Treatment Team provide a more intensive service with the aim of treating child
and adolescents with more severe illnesses in their homes. The Key Team provides a specialist
CAMHS service to hard to reach children and young people and their families.
The INSPIRE team, based at the Gem Centre, Wolverhampton, supports children and young
people who have a learning disability, and their families.
Early Intervention
The Trust provides Early Intervention Services in Sandwell and Wolverhampton for young people
and adults who are going through a first episode of psychosis, or who seem at risk of going
through a first episode of psychosis. The service provides quick diagnosis and appropriate
treatment.
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Eating Disorders
We have services in Sandwell and Wolverhampton for adults, and young people aged 16-18 years
who are in full time education, who are dealing with an eating disorder such as anorexia nervosa,
bulimia nervosa or binge eating disorder. The service offers a recovery programme to help people
get better psychologically and physically.
1.3.4 Carers’ Services
Our Carers’ Team gives carers the chance to have their own caring, physical, and mental health
needs considered. The team gives support to people caring for someone aged 18-65 years, living
in or on the boundaries of Sandwell. The support comes in many forms, from giving care
assessments, to providing health screening and organising social events for carers.
1.3.5 Chaplaincy and Spiritual Care
Our Chaplaincy and Spiritual Care Service is for anyone receiving support from one of the teams
or services in the Trust.
The spiritual part of someone’s life can be an aid towards recovery and a comfort and strength in
times of stress and anxiety. Ensuring that people can draw on this spirituality is an essential part of
helping someone towards better well-being. We know not all people express their spirituality
through a particular faith or religion. With this in mind, we make sure our support is as much for
those who don’t follow a particular faith or spiritual tradition as it is for those who do.
Our Team of seven chaplains, six of whom are part-time, covers the whole Trust. Each member of
the team is from a different faith or spiritual tradition including Hindu, Muslim, Sikh and the
Christian denominations of Church of England, Methodist, Pentecostal and Catholic. Although
chaplains come from these different backgrounds, they are all respectful of the different faiths and
beliefs they encounter.
1.3.6 Therapy Services
We have a number of therapy services which play a key part in the care and support we provide to
people. There are various Counselling Teams, a Family Therapy Team, Occupational Therapists
and Psychologists working across the Trust, and Speech and Language Therapists and
Physiotherapists working with older people and people who have learning disabilities.
1.4 Key Statistical Data
During the year we delivered 937 completed episodes of inpatient care, held 26,986 consultant
outpatient appointments in 4,599 clinics, and had 257,880 contacts with people through our
community teams.
The table overleaf provides further analysis of our activity during the year:
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Table 1: Activities 2011/12 - Sandwell/Walsall full year, Dudley/Wolverhampton part year
Trust Wide

Adult

Older
Adult

CAMHS Substance Misuse

LD

PCS

CYPF

Total

Completed Episodes of inpatient
care

721

172

4

-

40

-

-

937

Outpatient attendances

13,257 6,857

3,234

2,027

1,611

-

-

26,986

Outpatient clinics

1,887

847

110

490

-

-

4,599

Community team contacts

81,367 23,043

5,282

18,585

21,490 46,968 61,145 257,880

1,265

Note: Figures shown include Sandwell and Walsall for the full year. Figures for Dudley and Wolverhampton are included for the
period August 2011 to March 2012

Section 2
Governance Arrangements
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2.1

Assembly of Governors

2.1.1 Composition
In anticipation of the successful transfer of services from neighbouring Black Country Primary Care
Trusts (PCTs) during 2011/12, the Board of Directors agreed further changes to the composition of
the governing body to ensure it remained representative of both the wider geographical area
served and the range of services provided.
These changes, which were approved by Monitor, the independent regulator of NHS Foundation
Trusts, included a redistribution of the former majority of public governor seats from the Sandwell
area to the other Black Country areas, an increase of two staff governor seats and wider
representation of the Black Country local authorities.
The changes were implemented over two phases, thus ensuring that no existing governor was
prematurely displaced from office.
The current composition of the Assembly is shown in the table overleaf.
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Composition of Assembly of Governors

Category of Governor
Public
Sandwell
Walsall
Dudley
Wolverhampton
Birmingham and Wider West Midlands
Total Public

Number
7
3
4
7
1
22

Staff
Medical
Nursing: Mental Health
Nursing: Learning Disabilities
Nursing: Children’s
Social Care
Professional Clinical
Administrative and Management
Support
Total Staff

1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
8

Appointed Governors
Sandwell Primary Care Trust
Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council
Wolverhampton City Council
Dudley Metropolitan Borough Council
Walsall Metropolitan Borough Council
Changing Our Lives
Black Country Carers Forum
West Midlands Faith Forum
The Children’s Society
Total Appointed

1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
9

Total

39
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2.1.2 Tenure and attendance
The following table provides the names of governors in office during 2011/12, the date they
became or ceased to be a governor, and a record of their attendance at general meetings of the
Assembly.
ASSEMBLY OF GOVERNORS
CONSTITUENCY AND NAME
OF GOVERNOR

PUBLIC
Geoffrey PARKES
Derek WATLING
Manjit KOONER
Liam WHEAL
Rani KAUR
David BOAZ
Ahmadul HAQUE
Elaine GILES
Garry David BEDFORD
Mark STURGEON
Gaynor EDWARDS
Gaynor EDWARDS

Peter SELLICK
Sandra PRINCE
David GRATWICK
Surendra K. SHARMA
(Dr)
Barbara MERCADO
Brian BOOTH
Mary BOLLAND
Steve MATTOX
Doreen Jean SMITH
Estine DENNIS BRYAN
Vijay SHARMA
Luke GRAHAM
Matthew MORRISON
Carol Ann CONWAY
Sally Ann GROGAN
Shahab QUERESHI (Dr)
Doreen TILL
Thomas SCOTT

Neil STEVENS

DATE
ELECTED/
APPOINTED

DATE
CEASED

AREA,
CLASS OR
ORGANISATION

03/11/2008
01/07/2009
03/11/2008
13/05/2009
01/07/2009
04/12/2008
04/12/2008
13/05/2009
03/11/2008
03/11/2008
04/12/2008
07/12/2011
(*)
01/09/2010
01/09/2010
02/08/2011
01/02/2012

02/11/2011
17/01/2012
02/11/2011
17/05/2011

Sandwell
Sandwell
Sandwell
Sandwell
Sandwell
Sandwell
Sandwell
Sandwell
Sandwell
Sandwell
Sandwell
Sandwell

4/4
1/5
1/4
0/1
2/6
3/4
3/4
3/6
2/4
3/4
4/4
2/2

Sandwell
Sandwell
Sandwell
Sandwell

3/6
4/6
3/4
0/1

Wolverhampton
Wolverhampton
Wolverhampton
Wolverhampton
Wolverhampton
Wolverhampton
Wolverhampton
Dudley
Dudley
Dudley
Dudley
Dudley
Walsall
Birmingham and
Wider West
Midlands
Birmingham and
Wider West
Midlands

2/4
4/4
3/4
0/1
4/4
4/4
4/4
0/1
4/4
2/2
1/4
3/4
5/6
2/4

07/04/2009
02/08/2011
02/08/2011
02/08/2011
02/08/2011
02/08/2011
02/08/2011
16/07/2010
02/08/2011
02/08/2011
020/8/2011
02/08/2011
08/06/2009
04/12/2008

01/12/2011

03/12/2011
03/12/2011
02/11/2011
02/11/2011
03/12/2011

15/12/2011

08/11/2011

17/05/2011
08/12/2011

03/12/2011

ATTENDANCE
(ACTUAL/
POSSIBLE)

2/2
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STAFF
Imthiaz HOOSEN
Phil COLE
Phil COLE

03/11/2008
04/12/2008
01/12/2011
(*)

Nicole JONGWE

07/12/2011

John Anthony FARNELL
Jacqueline BOTT

03/11/2008
01/12/2011

Susan VAN
GENDEREN
Martin BROWN

07/12/2011
03/11/2008

Salma Bi

01/12/2011

Martyn JINKS

APPOINTED
Dr Ishraga AWAD
Councillor Joy EDIS
Councillor Yvonne
DAVIES
Councillor Yvonne
DAVIES
Councillor Dr Mike
Hardacre
Councillor David
VICKERS
Councillor M Nazir
Debbie TALBOT

Jayne LEESON

Jayne LEESON

02/11/2011
30/11/2011

02/11/2011

Medical
Nursing
Nursing:
Learning
Disabilities
Nursing:
Psychiatry
Social Care
Social Care

3/4
4/4
2/2

2/2
4/4
2/2
2/2

16/07/2010

Professional
Clinical
Administrative
and
Management
Administrative
and
Management
Support

15/05/2009
28/04/2009
19/05/2009

Sandwell PCT
Sandwell MBC
Sandwell MBC

3/6
3/4
1/4

Sandwell MBC

1/2

Wolverhampton
City Council
Dudley MBC

2/2

13/07/2011

30/11/2011
30/11/2011

01/12/2011
(*)
01/12/2011
01/12/2011
09/01/2012
06/11/2008

05/11/2011

28/10/2008

31/07/2011

Carol McAULEY

01/8/2011
(*)
110/8/2009

03/05/2011

Pauline HODGETTS

19/11/2008

18/11/2011

Walsall Council
Sandwell and
West
Birmingham
Hospitals NHS
Trust
Sandwell’s
Changing our
Lives
Organisation
Changing our
Lives
Sandwell’s
Children’s Trust
Sandwell’s
Agewell Group

1/2

2/2

4/6

2/2
0/2
2/4

0/2

3/4
0/0
3/4
20
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Alan A VERNON

09/10/2008

08/10/2011

Rev’d Andrew SMITH

23/04/2009

30/11/2011

Rev’d Andrew SMITH

01/12/2011
(*)
01/01/2012

Simon COTTINGHAM

Sandwell
CARES
Organisation
Sandwell Multi
Faith Network
West Midlands
Faith Forum
The Children’s
Society

0/3

3/4
2/2
2/2

(*) indicates re election
or re appointment
2.1.3 Register of Governors’ Interests
Governors are required to adhere to a Code of Conduct as approved by the Board of Directors,
and are required to declare any interest, which may compromise their objectivity in fulfilling their
duties. A copy of the current register is published on the Trust website, www.bcpft.nhs.uk or can
be obtained by application to the Company Secretary.
2.1.4 Vice Chair of the Assembly (Lead Governor)
The role of the Vice Chair, as provided for in the Constitution of the Trust, is identical to
that of Lead Governor, as described by Monitor, the independent regulator of NHS Foundation
Trusts. Mr. Mark Sturgeon (Public - Sandwell) held the position until his term of office ended, and
the Assembly subsequently appointed Mrs. Susan Van Genderen (Staff – Professional Clinical) to
this role at its meeting in January 2012.
2.1.5 Elections to the Assembly
The changes to the composition of the Assembly as described above resulted in a number of
elections being held during the year, the details of which are provided in the table below.

Date

01/08/2011
01/08/2011
01/08/2011
07/12/2011
07/12/2011

Constituency

Public
Public
Public
Public
Staff

07/12/2011 Staff

Area/Class

Sandwell
Dudley
Wolverhampton
Sandwell
Nursing:
Psychiatry
Professional
Clinical

Number
of Eligible
Voters
2534
539
732
2553

Turnout
(%)

447

11.9

490

17.3

14.8
10.8
10.2
12.8

21

Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust / Annual Report 2012

As part of the above elections, four Governors were elected unopposed.
Further elections are to be held for the vacant public and staff Governor seats with results
expected in early summer 2012.
2.1.6 Role of the Assembly of Governors
The statutory duties to be undertaken by the Assembly are:
 The appointment or dismissal of the Chairman and other Non Executive Directors. During the
year, the Assembly, on the recommendations of the Governor Led Nominations Committee,
approved the re-appointment of both Mr. Paul Riley and Mr. Bryan Stock as Non Executive
Directors, each for a further term of three years.
 The determination of the remuneration and terms and conditions of the Chairman and Non
Executive Directors. The Remuneration Working Group reviewed the remuneration of Non
Executive Directors in 2011/12, and on its recommendation the Assembly approved the
following:
o an increase of 5% in the annual remuneration of the Chairman and Non Executive
Directors
o a payment for attendance at each hearing convened under the Mental Health Act
1983, at the same rate as those payments made to Associate Hospital Managers


The approval of the appointment of the Chief Executive Officer. At its meeting in January
2012, the Assembly approved the re appointment of the current Chief Executive Officer upon
recommendation of the Chairman and Board of Directors.



The appointment or removal of the Auditor to the Trust. The term of office of the current
Auditor ends on 30th September 2012, and the Assembly has approved a process, on the
recommendation of the Audit Committee, for the appointment of the auditor to be subject to a
competitive tender exercise.



To receive and consider the Annual Report and Accounts. Directors presented the Annual
Report, the Annual Quality Report and the Financial Accounts for the year ended 31st March
2011 to the annual meeting of the Assembly in September 2011; the Auditor presented his
report on the above at the same meeting.



To review the Annual Plan, as presented by the Board of Directors. Governors have been
involved in the development of the annual plan through workshops and formal meetings, and
reviewed the annual plan for 2011/12, as presented by the Directors, at the meeting of the
Assembly in May 2011.

In addition to its statutory duties, the Assembly also oversees the implementation of the
membership development strategy, and has agreed further initiatives to support the engagement
with members and the wider public.
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The Chairman continues to play a significant role in ensuring a sound and open working
relationship is maintained between the Assembly and the Board of Directors and the Assembly
continues to receive regular reports from Directors concerning:
 the operational performance of the Trust as measured against compliance and contractual
requirements
 the progress in delivering the agreed service developments
 decisions of the Board of Directors
 the membership of both the Trust and the Assembly itself
Furthermore, there have been several informal sessions held between Governors, Directors
and other senior managers of the Trust, where governors have received additional information
to support them in their duties.
The Senior Independent (Non Executive) Director also attends meetings of the Assembly, and
is accessible to governors should they need to obtain his advice.
2.2

The Board of Directors

2.2.1 Duties of the Board of Directors
The Board of Directors has the following primary duties:







ensuring compliance with its terms of authorisation and other legal obligations
setting the strategic direction of the Trust
ensuring the quality and safety of the services it provides
ensuring services are provided in an effective, efficient and economical manner
setting the vision, values and standards of conduct
ensuring a framework of internal control and risk management is in place.

In fulfilling these duties the Board is advised by the Chief Executive Officer and Company
Secretary and guided by the Schedule of Matters reserved for the Board itself.
2.2.2 Composition
The transfer of services from PCTs in 2011/12, and specifically the Children, Young People and
Family Services from Dudley PCT necessitated a review of the executive membership of the Board
of Directors.
Proposed amendments to membership and associated portfolios were reviewed by the Non
Executive Led Nominations Committee, whose recommendations were approved by the Board of
Directors and included:




the establishment of, and appointment to, new executive positions of Chief Operating
Officer, Director of Nursing and Professional Practice and Director of Children and Young
People’s Services
the removal of the former executive positions of Director of Service Delivery, Director of
Strategic Planning and Director of Corporate Governance
the establishment of, and appointment to the role of Company Secretary.
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None of these changes incurred additional costs to the Trust.
Profiles of members of the Board of Directors are provided overleaf:
Bob Piper: Chairman
Bob has been a local councillor for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council (MBC)
since May 1999. He is currently Chair of Sandwell MBC Performance and Policy
Scrutiny Panel and a member of the Council’s Scrutiny Management Board. He is a
former Non Executive Director of Birmingham International Airport Ltd, and former
member of Sandwell MBC Diversity and Equality and Scrutiny Panel.
Bob has significant experience within the NHS and local government and has a sound knowledge
of corporate governance issues in the public sector. He is an experienced Chairman having
chaired meetings of the Board of Directors and Assembly of Governors and various other Council
committees.
BA (Hons) Politics
Bryan Stock: Non Executive Director
Bryan was Deputy Chairman until 31st March 2012 and remains as Chair of the Audit
Committee.
Bryan qualified as a chartered accountant and served as Chief Executive and Finance
Director of both stock exchange listed companies and private businesses. He has many years
experience of working for international businesses in a range of product sectors with extensive
involvement in acquisitions and mergers not only in the UK, but also North America and Europe.
Until recently Bryan was a Non Executive Director and shareholder in a private manufacturing
company.
BSc (Econ); FCA
Paul Riley: Non Executive Director
Paul is the Senior Independent Director and Chair of Investment Committee.
Paul has spent the majority of his career in commercial roles for large private and
independent organisations in competitive and complex markets. He has extensive
experience of building successful partnerships between organisations to deliver services on behalf
of the Department for Children, and has recently advised local authorities on options for
improvements in their children in care services.
Paul is currently Chief Executive Officer of Outcomes UK Ltd, which provides services to
disadvantaged groups.
B Eng (Hons) Chemical Engineering; European Quality Management; Business Excellence Model
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Vicky Harris: Non Executive Director
Vicky is Chair of Governance Committee and Post Acquisition Review Committee.
She has over 10 years management experience working within mental health services
across voluntary and statutory providers. Vicky also has extensive experience in
partnership working and developing services within the local community, especially
around employment projects/services for mental health service users, notably gaining significant
external funding (European) for mental health service projects.
MBA; BSc (Hons) Psychology
Jackie Smart: Non Executive Director
Jackie was Chair of Hospital Managers Committee until September 2011 and
chairs the Membership Development Strategy Steering Group.
Jackie’s appointment to the Board was with a specific remit to bring service user
representation. She is a mental health service user and former secretary of Sandwell’s Service
User Reference Group (SURG), which she was instrumental in establishing. She is currently
employed as a Service User Development Officer for the Mental Health Research Network and
was formerly employed as Detective Constable in West Midlands Police from 1983 to 2002.
Parmjit Sahota: Non Executive Director
Parmjit is Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
Parmjit has worked for Sandwell MBC since 1999 and has extensive experience in
the delivery of community and regeneration projects, and wider strategy development
and partnership working experience to deliver change and service improvement.
He is presently employed within the Homes and Communities Directorate of Sandwell MBC,
working with other council departments, partner agencies and end users to help shape and
improve service delivery. Prior to joining Sandwell MBC, Parmjit held retail management positions
with national retailers.
BA (Hons) Business Management; DipM; MCIM
Pauline Werhun CBE: Non Executive Director
Pauline currently chairs the Associate Hospital Managers Committee and was
appointed Deputy Chairman from April 2012.
Pauline has over 40 years experience within the NHS, beginning her career as a
Cadet Nurse before retiring her role as Executive Director of Nursing at Sandwell and
West Birmingham Hospitals NHS Trust, a post she held for over five years. She has extensive
knowledge and experience in the development of corporate and clinical strategy and policy in both
secondary acute and primary care settings, and her work in developing patient and public
engagement strategies has been commended by the Department of Health.
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Pauline also has experience with children’s services including direct managerial responsibilities for
health visitors and school health nurses, and as project lead for new ways of working for health
visitors and school health nurses.
In 2002, Pauline was awarded the CBE for services to nursing. She is now self employed as a
health service consultant
BSc (Hons) Health Studies; RGN; NDN; PWT;EN(G);OTN
Karen Dowman: Chief Executive Officer
Karen has been Chief Executive of the Trust since its authorisation in February
2009, and its predecessor organisations since 1995.
Karen has extensive leadership and management experience relating to service
integration, service redesign, change management and partnership working.
Her key achievements include:
 Establishing the first Mental Health NHS Trust in Sandwell (1995), which involved leading
the organisation through the relevant authorisation process and overseeing the
development and implementation of a new organisational governance structure.
 Leading the NHS Trust in its negotiations to completion of the first Private Finance Initiative
(PFI) scheme (Hallam Street Hospital) to be concluded in the West Midlands (2000).
 The establishment in 2003 of Sandwell Mental Health NHS and Social Care Trust, to
become one of the five Care Trusts in England. This saw the integration of health and
social care services utilising Section 31 Health Act 1999 (now Section 75 NHS Act 2006)
agreements, and involved extensive partnership working, significant cultural change and
organisational development.
 Leading the Trust to successful authorisation as an NHS Foundation Trust in February
2009, and since then sound organisational performance in preparation for the next stage of
its evolution and growth.
 In 2011, leading the transfer of multiple services from neighbouring PCTs
MSc Public Sector Management; Dip IHSM; Dip IM
Paul Stefanoski: Director of Resources (Deputy Chief Executive)
Paul was appointed as Director of Finance to the predecessor Trust in 2001.
Paul has significant experience in finance systems implementation, major service
reconfigurations and organisational mergers predominantly in mental health services.
He has met all financial targets as Director of Finance and has led the successful
financial transitions from NHS Trust to Care Trust through to NHS Foundation Trust status. Under
his wider executive portfolio, he has responsibility for Estates and Facilities and IMT, and under
the latter has initiated a joint marketing agreement with the Trust's clinical information system
provider to ensure future development in light of Payment by Results for mental health and the
demise of the national programme for IT.
Paul is Vice-Chair of the HFMA Mental Health Faculty
BA (Hons) Accounting and Finance; CPFA
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Dr Stephen Edwards: Medical Director
As one of the first Consultant Psychiatrists in Sandwell Stephen has been clinical
lead in the successful development of mental health services within the Borough,
and the development of mental health services for the elderly across the West
Midlands Region. He has been an examiner to the Royal College for 10 years and
was Regional Adviser and Member of the School Board for five years. He was elected Chair of the
West Midlands Division of the Royal College of Psychiatrists in 2009. Stephen retired from his
clinical duties in April 2011
FRCPsych; MBchB
John Campbell: Chief Operating Officer
John was appointed in 2007 and has over 20 years experience of working in the
NHS in a range of healthcare organisations covering learning disabilities; mental
health; community services; primary care; maternity and acute services. He has
operated as a Board level Director for the past nine years and has particular
experience of managing large-scale organisational change and of developing business cases for
significant service developments. He has gained significant operational management experience,
initially within ICT, and subsequently in business management roles, including the management
and integration of child health departments following an organisational merger, health records,
estates and information departments.
MSc Healthcare Policy and Management; Chartered Marketer (CIM); PGC Managing Information
in Healthcare Organisations; King’s Fund Top Management Programme (2010); WMSHA Aspiring
Chief Executive’s Programme (2009).
Sue Marshall: Director of Children and Young People’s Services
Sue was appointed to the Board in 2011 having previously held the post of Associate
Director of Governance and Risk since October 2005, reporting directly to the Chief
Executive with responsibility for all Professional Clinical Services and the Care
Governance function the latter which she has retained in her current executive role.
Sue has extensive experience as a senior clinician within the NHS and was
responsible for leading the development of Professional Clinical Services and the CAMHS services
in Sandwell. She was seconded on a part time basis during 2010/11 to Wolverhampton City PCT
to oversee the development of clinical governance and risk systems and support service
improvements across the mental health services.
MPhil Clinical Psychology; BA Psychology Anthropology; Kings Fund Top Managers’ Programme
(2009); BPS Management Course
Susan Claire Marshall: Director of Nursing and Professional Practice
Susan was appointed in January 2012 and is also the Trust’s Director for Infection
Prevention and Control
She is a registered general nurse, midwife and registered health visitor and worked
for many years in both acute and community settings in various posts linked to
clinical leadership, operational management and governance. Susan previously worked as an
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Associate Director of Nursing and Quality for Solent NHS Trust, where she was an integral
member of the senior team responsible for the successful merger of two high performing provider
organisations. She has extensive knowledge of working in community services, community
hospitals, mental health and learning disability services, all underpinned by 30 years of working in
health and social care.
In her present role she is dedicated to the delivery of quality and governance associated with safe
and effective health care.
MSc Health Sciences / Health Services Management, PGD Family Planning and Sexual Health,
PGD Professional Studies and Health Visiting, RGN, Midwife, PGD Family Planning and Sexual
Health
2.2.3 The Chairman
The Chairman leads the Board of Directors in its primary duties of:





ensuring compliance with its terms of authorisation and other legal obligations
setting the strategic direction of the Trust
ensuring the quality and safety of the services it provides
ensuring services are provided in an effective, efficient and economical manner

The Board of Directors confirms that the Chairman has remained independent in character and
judgement throughout his term of office, and has no interests which might impair his judgement.
The Chairman has declared his role as a Councillor for Sandwell MBC, Chair of the Sandwell MBC
Performance Management Scrutiny Committee, and Trustee of Building Understanding of
Dementia Services, a voluntary body.
2.2.4 The Deputy Chairman and Senior Independent Director
The appointment to the role of Deputy Chairman is approved by the Assembly of Governors at one
of its general meetings. Mr. Bryan Stock held the post of Deputy Chairman until 31st March 2012.
The role of the Senior Independent Director is undertaken by Mr. Paul Riley, an appointment made
in consultation with the Assembly of Governors.
2.2.5 Role and Independence of Non Executive Directors
In addition to their role as board members, Non Executive Directors also undertake the duties of
Hospital Managers in accordance with the Mental Health Act 1983.
The Board of Directors considers that all its Non Executive Directors are independent in character
and judgment and have no relationships which may affect their judgment.
2.2.6 Register of Directors Interests
The Directors are required to adhere to a Code of Conduct, based on and incorporating the Nolan
Principles of Conduct in Public Life, which includes a requirement to declare any interests they feel
may compromise their objectivity in fulfilling their duties.
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A full register of Directors’ interests is published on the Trust’s website, www.bcpft.nhs.uk, or may
be obtained on application to the Company Secretary.
2.2.7 Meetings of the Board of Directors
Public meetings of the Board of Directors are held on a regular basis. The Board also meets in
private as it considers necessary. Board meetings have been supplemented by planning and
development sessions during the year.
The table overleaf provides a record of each Director’s attendance at Board meetings during the
year together with the term of office of the Chairman and Non Executive Directors and the notice
period of the Executive Directors.
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The Board of Directors
Name

Role

Term of Office/
Notice period

Mr. Bob Piper
Mrs. Vicky Harris

Chairman
Non Executive
Director
Non Executive
Director
Non Executive
Director
Non Executive
Director
Non Executive
Director
Non Executive
Director
Chief Executive
Officer
Chief Operating
Officer (from
01/8/2011: formerly
Director of
Strategic Planning)
Medical Director
Director of
Corporate
Governance and
Trust Secretary
(until 02/05/2011)
Director of
Resources
Director Nursing
and Professional
Practice (from
01/08/2011;
formerly Director of
Service Delivery )
Director of Children
and Young
Peoples Services
(from 04/05/2011)
Director of Nursing
and Professional
Practice (from
03/01/2012)

30th November 2012
28th February 2013

11/11
08/11

30th September
2014
28th February 2013

07/11

31st January 2013

10/11

28th February 2015

09/11

30th November 2013

09/11

6 months

09/11

3 months

11/11

3 months
3 months

09/11
02/02

3 months

11/11

Retired 04/11/2011

07/07

3 months

09/09

3 months

03/03

Mr. Paul Riley
Mr. Parmjit Sahota
Mrs. Jackie Smart
Mr. Bryan Stock
Mrs. Pauline Werhun
CBE
Ms Karen Dowman
Mr. John Campbell

Dr. Stephen Edwards
Mr. Andrew Green

Mr. Paul Stefanoski
Mr. Richard Taylor

Ms. Sue Marshall

Mrs. Susan Claire
Marshall

Attendance
Actual/Possible

11/11
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2.2.8 Evaluation of the Performance of the Board and its Sub Committees
During the year the Board undertook a review of the board governance arrangements which
resulted in the following changes:
 The replacement of the Finance and Quality Assurance sub committees with the Investment
and Governance sub committees respectively, with modifications to the range of duties for
each, but their purpose remains predominantly to provide assurance to the Board.
 The establishment of a Post Acquisition Review Committee, with a specific remit to provide
assurance to the Board of progress in delivering the integration and transformation plans
developed in light of the transfer of services from the PCTs.
Each sub committee undertakes a self assessment of its effectiveness and performance and
agrees any improvement plans as required.
In light of the organisational and governance changes experienced during the year, the Board
will commission an independent review of its own performance during 2012/13.
The Chairman and Non Executive Directors have annual appraisals in accordance with the
process approved by the Assembly of Governors, the outcome of which also feed the ongoing
board development programme as necessary.
Executive and board level Directors are appraised annually by the Chief Executive Officer.
2.3

The Audit Committee

2.3.1 Membership
The Audit Committee is a sub committee of the Board of Directors, and its membership is
comprised wholly of Non Executive Directors. The Chairman of the Committee is confirmed as
having recent and relevance financial experience.
The Audit Committee
Member
Mr Bryan Stock (Chair)
Mr Bob Piper
Mr Parmjit Sahota
Mrs Jackie Smart
Mrs Pauline Werhun CBE

Attendance
(Actual/Possible)
07/07
05/07
06/07
05/07
01/07

2.3.2 Role and Duties
The Committee’s key function is to provide assurance as to both the adequacy and operation of
systems of risk management and internal control within the Trust, and the integrity of the financial
statements and quality accounts of the Trust.
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In discharging its duties during the year the Committee has:










2.4

reviewed and approved the annual work programme of both Internal and External Audit
reviewed the annual management letter from External Audit and recommended its
acceptance to the Board of Directors
reviewed the accounting policies of the Trust and in particular arrangements for the
revaluation of assets
reviewed the Assurance Framework and associated risk management systems of the Trust
reviewed the financial accounts for 2011/12
reviewed the quality report for 2011/12
received and reviewed reports from the Internal Auditor concerning individual assignments
and progress of management in implementation of agreed recommendations
reviewed managements plans for achieving and maintaining compliance with Information
Governance standards
reviewed arrangements and work programmes in place for the planned introduction of the
nationally led initiative of Payment by Results for mental health services
received regular updates on the work of the Local Counter Fraud Specialist
The Nominations Committee (Non Executive Led)

2.4.1 Membership
This committee has membership which is comprised wholly of Non Executive Directors, though
receives the advice of the Chief Executive Officer. The table below provides details of the
committee membership and their attendance at meetings during the year.

The Nomination Committee (Non Executive led)
Attendance
(Actual/Possible)
Mr Bob Piper (Chairman)
03/03
Mrs Vicky Harris
02/03
Mr Parmjit Sahota
03/03
Mrs Jackie Smart
02/03
Mr Bryan Stock
01/03
Mrs Pauline Werhun CBE
03/03
Name

2.4.2 Role and Duties
The main duties of the Committee are to:



review the composition of the Board of Directors, as it relates to executive roles
make recommendations for appointment to the Board of Director

During the year the Committee has:


reviewed and approved planned changes to the executive composition of the Board and
their associated portfolios
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reviewed and approved proposals for the establishment of a dedicated post of Company
Secretary to the Trust



reviewed a proposal for the re-appointment of the Chief Executive Officer consequent to her
planned voluntary early retirement from the NHS Pension Scheme, and made
recommendations for her re-appointment to the Board of Directors and the approval of such
to the Assembly of Governors

2.5 The Governance Committee
2.5.1 Membership
The Committee is comprised primarily of Non Executive Directors, though includes the Chief
Executive Officer or her deputy in its membership. The Chairman of the Audit Committee is not a
member of the committee but may attend its meetings.
The table below provides a summary of attendance of members at meetings of the Governance
Committee and former Quality Assurance Committee during the year.

Name

Mrs Vicky Harris (Chair)
Mrs Jackie Smart
Mrs Pauline Werhun CBE
Chief Executive/Deputy

Attendance
(Actual/Possible)
Quality Assurance
Governance
Committee
Committee
02/02
03/03
01/02
02/03
02/02
03/03
n/a
03/03

2.5.2 Role and Duties
As mentioned above, the Governance Committee was established to replace the former Quality
Assurance Committee, and in so doing has a wide remit in seeking assurance as to the adequacy
of governance systems and processes in place to support the Trust in delivering services against
the mandated and accredited standards expected of service delivery.
During the year the Committee has gained assurance through:
 the review of evidence to support declarations of compliance against the Care Quality
Commission (CQC) registration standards
 receipt and review of quarterly operational risk management reports, including details of
incident reporting and analysis, and complaints, concerns and compliments consideration of
reports from external independent reviews of mental health services elsewhere and
associated improvement plans
 internal audit reviews on the adequacy of arrangements in place for maintaining compliance
with the quality governance framework and other relevant control areas
 reports of CQC visits in their review of the application of Mental Health Act (MHA) 1983 in
our mental health and learning disability inpatient services
 reports from Associate Hospital Managers concerning their duties under Mental Health Act
1983
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 the review of relevant elements of the high level risk register and the associated mitigation
plans
 received reports concerning infection control and wider patient environment matters
 a review of the annual clinical audit plan
 reviews of arrangement in respect of research and development activities
 reports concerning assurance as to the Trust compliance with information governance
standard
2.6

The Investment Committee

2.6.1 Membership
Members of the Committee are Non Executive Directors, and whilst the Chairman of the Audit
Committee may not be a member of this Committee, he may attend its meetings.
Below is a table summarising attendance of members at meetings of both the Investment and
former Finance Committees held during the year:
Name

Mr Paul Riley (Chair)
Mrs Vicky Harris
Mr Bob Piper
Mr Parmjit Sahota
Mrs Jackie Smart

Attendance
(Actual/Possible)
Finance
Investment
Committee
Committee
04/04
04/04
02/04
03/04
02/04
03/04
03/04
03/04
03/04
02/04

2.6.2 Role and Duties
This committee assumed many of the responsibilities of the former Finance Committee and
undertakes a range of duties with the purpose of assuring the adequacy of the financial and
performance management systems, planning processes and investment plans, and as necessary
the approval of investments and business plans within limits delegated by the Board of Directors
During the year the Committee has:
 reviewed in depth the arrangements and management plans to achieve recurring cost
efficiencies
 reviewed emerging business opportunities and their relevance to the core business of
the Trust
 considered the processes for the development of the Annual Budget and annual plan
 reviewed the adequacy of certain high level risk mitigation plans
 received and considered proposals emanating from service contract negotiations with
commissioners
 reviewed the implementation of service line reporting, and in particular the methodology
for cost allocation
 received assurance on assumptions made in financial and treasury management
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The Post Acquisition Review Committee
2.7.1 Role and Duties
The Committee was established as a short life committee to provide assurance to the Board as to
the delivery of the implementation and transformation plans agreed following the transfer of
services from Primary Care Trusts (PCTs) during the year.
Membership of the committee comprises three Non Executive Directors, the Director of Resources
and the Chief Operating Officer.
It has met once during the year and in addition to gaining assurance of progress in implementation
has also agreed a cycle of business for the remainder of its proposed term of two years.
2.8

Membership of the Trust

2.8.2 Membership Profile
The tables below and overleaf provide analysis of our membership at 31st March 2012.

Area

Membership by Constituency and area/class at 31/03/12
PUBLIC
STAFF
Number Class
Number

Sandwell
Wolverhampton
Walsall
Dudley
Birmingham and Wider
West Midlands

TOTAL

2811 Medical
823 Nursing: Psychiatry
311 Nursing: Learning
Disabilities
610 Nursing: Children
758 Social Care

61
448
173

Professional/Clinical
Support
Admin and
Management
5313 TOTAL

490
337
498

108
38

2153
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Public Membership by gender, age and
ethnicity at 31st March 2012
Number
of Members

%

Gender
Male
Female

2205
3108

41.5
58.5

Age
12-16
17-21
22 and over

136
622
4555

2.6
11.7
85.7

3860
191
726
459
77

72.7
3.6
13.7
8.6
1.4

Ethnicity
(note 1)

White
Mixed
Asian
Black
Other

Note 1:

includes apportionment of those not declaring age (348) or
ethnicity (186)

There was a net reduction in public membership of 37 during the year, represented by recruitment
of 130 new members against 167 leavers. Whilst this position is disappointing, it is encouraging
that the number of gold and silver level members, i.e. those wanting to become more involved with
and supportive of the Trust, increased during the year by nearly 4%; gold and silver members
represents over one-third of the total public membership.
There remains under representation in white people and the male population, but most significantly
within the age range of 12 to 16 year olds, the latter which remains a priority to address in the
forthcoming year.
Movements in membership within the year are provided in the table below:
At 1st April 2011
Add Members joining
Less Members leaving
At 31st March 2012

Public
5350
130
167
5313

Staff
1024
1214
85
2153

Total
6734
1344
252
7466
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Membership Engagement and Involvement
The Trust has a good record of member, including service user and carer, involvement and is
committed to developing this further. A governor led steering group oversees the implementation
of the membership development strategy and has agreed a broad programme of engagement for
the forthcoming year including governor and constituent member meetings and continuation of
initiatives to engage the younger population.
In addition, the Trust has continued to engage and communicate with its membership through a
variety of ways, including:




issuing news letters to members
the annual membership event which again attracted a good attendance from our members
and participation from a wide range of partner and other interested organizations
invitations to attend the meeting of the governors at which Directors presented the annual
report

The Membership Development Strategy can be found on the Trusts website at www.bcpft.nhs.uk,
and members wishing to contact their elected governors may do so through the offices of the
Membership Support Manager at Trust headquarters.
2.9

Compliance with the NHS Foundation Trust Code of Governance

The NHS Foundation Trust Code of Governance is issued by Monitor, the Independent Regulator
of NHS Foundation Trusts. This Code provides an overarching framework of standards of
corporate governance, drawn from best practice in both the public and private sector, and is
reflective of mandatory and regulatory obligations placed on NHS Foundation Trusts. Monitor
encourages NHS Foundation Trusts to comply with the principles within the Code, and to provide
explanations where such practice has not been applied.
Within this report, the required disclosures are made as to the application of and compliance with
the principles and provisions of the Code.
The Board of Directors confirms that to the best of its knowledge, the Trust has complied with the
NHS Foundation Trust Code of Governance.
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3.1

Directors of the Trust

The following held positions on the Board of Directors during the financial year ended 31st March
2012.
Non-Executive Chairman:
Bob Piper
Chair of the Nominations Committee
Non-Executive Directors
Vicky Harris
Chair of Governance Committee
Paul Riley
Chair of Investment Committee Senior Independent Director
Parmjit Sohota
Chair of Remuneration Committee (from 01/09/2011)
Jackie Smart
Chair of Hospital Managers Committee (until 31/08/2011)
Chair of Membership Strategy Steering Group
Bryan Stock
Chair of Audit Committee
Chair of Remuneration Committee (until 31/08/2011)
Deputy Chairman of Trust (until 31/03/2012)
Pauline Werhun
Chair of Hospital Managers Committee (from 01/09/2011)
Deputy Chairman of the Trust (from 01/04/2012)
Executive Directors
Karen Dowman
Chief Executive Officer; Chair of Executive Committee
John Campbell
Chief Operating Officer (from 01/08/2011; formerly Director of Strategic Planning, Business
Development and Partnership)
Dr Stephen Edwards
Medical Director
Andy Green
Director of Corporate Governance (until 02/05/2011)
Paul Stefanoski
Director of Resources (Deputy Chief Executive)
Richard Taylor
Director of Nursing and Professional Practice (retired 05/11/2011); formerly Director of Service
Delivery [Nurse Director] until 31/7/2011)
Sue Marshall
Director of Children and Young People’s Services (from 04/05/2011; formerly Associate Director of
Care Governance)
Susan Claire Marshall
Director of Nursing and Professional Practice (from 01/01/2012)
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Other Directors regularly attending Board meetings are:
Alan Duffell
Director of Workforce (until 31/01/2012)
Chris Oakes
Director of Workforce (from 01/03/2012)
3.2

Principal Activities of the Trust

The principal activities of the Trust are the provision of mental health and specialist health learning
disability services to all age groups, the provision of children’s community services, and under
delegated authority of Sandwell MBC, the provision of social care services to adults with mental illhealth.
The terms of authorisation for the Trust, as issued by Monitor, the Independent Regulator of NHS
Foundation Trusts, includes a requirement in Condition 7 for the Trust to provide mandatory
services, as itemised in Schedule 2 to the authorisation. The terms of authorisation can be found
on Monitor’s website: www.monitor-nhsft.gov.uk
3.3

Employment Policies

3.3.1 Equal Opportunities
The recruitment of an appropriately skilled and experienced workforce that represents the diversity
of the population we serve remains an important objective of the Trust.
Staff from a Black and Minority Ethnic (BME) background currently represent 26% of the Trust
workforce within the new organisational structure, which compares favourably with the BME
population that the Trust serves
The BME population that the Trust serves is – Sandwell 20.3%, Dudley 8.3%, Walsall 15.3% and
Wolverhampton 23.7%. The combined BME total population of all the areas is 17.1%.
In furtherance of the above objective we undertake close monitoring of the composition of our
workforce. This and other indicators of employment activity such as the number of grievances and
disciplinary cases have been reviewed during the year by the Governance Committee.
It remains our aim not to create unnecessary barriers in our employment processes, especially
during the recruitment and selection of candidates, particularly those with disabilities. The
Guaranteed Interview Scheme, which was introduced to support this aim, continues to be
successful and in 2012 we were successfully re-assessed and awarded. The two ticks process
continues to support applicants with a disability.
An analysis of the Trust’s workforce as at 31st March 2012 is included in the Table overleaf.
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Analysis of Workforce at 31st March 2011 and 31st March 2012

Analysis
Gender
Female
Male
Total

31st March 2011
WTE
%

31st March 2012
WTE
%

782
243
1025

76.29
23.71
100.00

1689
444
2133

79.18
20.82
100.00

Age
Under 21
22 to 59
60 to 64
65 and over
Total

12
952
55
6
1025

1.17
92.88
5.37
0.5
100.00

13
2007
98
15
2133

0.61
94.09
4.59
0.70
100.00

Ethnicity
White
Mixed
Asian
Black
Other
Not Stated
Total

635
30
145
182
24
9
1025

61.95
2.93
14.15
17.76
2.34
0.88
100.00

1489
45
233
256
30
80
2133

69.81
2.11
10.92
12.00
1.41
3.75
100.00

All our staff has access to a comprehensive occupational health service which is a newly acquired
service from PTH Occupational Health Services. In addition, the Trust now directly provides a staff
support and counselling service to the whole of the organisation. During the coming year we will
continue to look at ways of supporting our staff and improving their health and well-being in line
with the Boorman Review.
3.3.2 Managing Sickness Absence
Over the last year, the Trust has worked hard to improve the sickness absence rate and as a result
the absence rate for the whole of the organisation is 4.63%, which is under the target of 5% set by
the Trust for the year 2011/12. This has been as a result of the introduction of a harmonized policy
following the merging of the organization along with supporting managers in ensuring a robust
approach to sickness absence has been achieved at a time of large scale change within the
organization through Transforming Community Services (TCS). See table belfow.
Analysis of Sickness Absence Rates

Short Term
Long Term
TOTAL

2010/11
%
2.16
3.27
5.43

2011/12
%
1.99
2.64
4.63
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3.3.3 Employee Involvement – Staff Engagement
Within the Trust there is a strong commitment to partnership working and involvement, which
continues to foster good relations with staff and their representatives at all levels. In strong support
of this is the staff forum which has been expanded to include the new representatives that have
joined the Trust following the merger, and continues to be chaired by the Staff Side Lead. The
continuation of good relations has proved invaluable during the previous year whilst the Trust has
progressed through the TCS changes. Partnership working and involvement were integral to the
process both in relation to communication and to aid the management of changes processes that
have resulted.
As a result of TCS the Trust set up a TCS Staff Forum to enable joint discussions on the
harmonisation of policies from the different merging Trusts. This has been a useful arena for the
furtherance of developing partnership working.
Staff engagement has also been essential in the development of a new organisational structure,
along with integrating staff from different locations in to areas such as corporate services. Work
continues to be undertaken to align systems within the Trust.
Phil Cole, Staff Side Chair said, “ 2011 proved to be a very busy, yet very rewarding year for
local trade unions. Trade union activists from Dudley, Sandwell, Walsall and Wolverhampton
Trusts have successfully come together and worked collaboratively on behalf of members at the
new Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust. We have successfully negotiated new
ways of working together, while scrutinising and harmonising significant policies from across the
patch.
Working in partnership with management, while clearly maintaining our differences, we have
successfully agreed a new recognition agreement and formed the foundations of what we hope will
be a rewarding and productive relationship in the years to come. We are particularly keen to get to
know our new Director of Workforce Chris Oakes and look forward to many years working together
to ensure properly rewarded staff continue to provide safe, high quality services to the people of
the Black Country”.
3.3.4 Staff Survey
The ninth annual national staff survey was conducted between October and December 2011. The
purpose of the survey is to assess the effectiveness of the NHS nationally through the views of
staff in order to help shape future developments. Locally the survey not only supports the
assessment of our effectiveness as a Trust; it also identifies how we can make improvements in
working conditions and practices.
Once again, Staff Side has taken the responsibility for the distribution and administration of the
survey to staff. This helps to reassure staff that the information is treated confidentially and helps
to communicate the importance for staff to complete the survey. On this occasion the Trust
undertook to do a sample survey due to the changes that had taken place under TCS. The survey,
the response rate for which was 51%, will provide the initial baseline for the new organisation.
The following Tables outline response rates and the Trust’s four best and four worst performing
areas.
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Staff Survey Response Rate
2010/11
Trust
(based on
SMHFT)
Response
Rate

2011/12

Improvement /
Deterioration

National
Average

Trust

National
Average

63%

51%

54%

61%

10% Deterioration

Trust’s Top Four Ranking Scores

2010/11

Top Four Ranking
Scores

KF29 – Percentage of
staff feeling pressure
in last three months
to attend work when
feeling unwell
KF20 – Percentage of
staff witnessing
potentially harmful
errors, near misses or
incidents in last
month
KF8 - Percentage of
staff working extra
hours.
KF2 – Percentage of
staff agreeing that
their role makes a
difference to patients

Trust
(based
on
SMHFT)

Improvement/
Deterioration

2011/12

National
Average

Trust

National
Average

22%

19%

16%

20%

6% improvement

22%

28%

22%

27%

No change

53%

65%

58%

65%

8% deterioration

91%

90%

92%

90%

2% improvement

Despite Key Finding (KF) 8 showing deterioration, it is not viewed as a significant change and
within the National NHS Staff Survey report is still scoring in the lowest (best) 20% of similar trusts.
KF29 and KF2 are both new top scores and both have indicated an improvement on last year’s
figures appearing in the best 20% of similar trusts’ scores. KF2 – the percentage of staff agreeing
that their role makes a difference to patients - is a particularly positive response at a time when
the Trust has undergone large scale change and shows that staff are still motivated to ensure that
they make a difference for the clients that we provide a service to.
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The Trust also had an improvement in its score for overall staff engagement, which is calculated
from a combination of staff’s ability to contribute towards improvements at work; staff’s
recommendation of the Trust as a place to work or receive treatment, both of which have been
scored as having no change, however there is improvement in staff motivation at work which is
now scoring above (better than) average.
Trust’s Four Lowest Ranking Scores

Bottom 4 Ranking
Scores

KF3 – Percentage
of staff feeling
valued by their work
colleagues.
KF10 – Percentage
of staff feeling there
are good
opportunities to
develop their
potential at work.
KF22 – Fairness
and effectiveness of
incident reporting
procedures.
KF24 – Percentage
of staff experiencing
physical violence
from staff in last 12
months.

Improvement/
Deterioration

2010/11
Trust
National
(based
Average
on
SMHFT)

2011/12
Trust

76%

79%

75%

79%

1% deterioration

38%

45%

37%

45%

1% deterioration

67.2%

69%

67.6%

69%

0.4%
improvement

3%

1%

2%

1%

1%
improvement

National
Average

For all of the four bottom ranking scores, there has only been minimal changes to the scoring, all
of which the Department of Health have indicated as being no change, however the scores are still
within the worst 20% for similar type trusts.
In order to address the staff survey results, it has been agreed to put in place a package of work
that will deal with a number of areas, rather than under-taking specific one-off actions to address
individual concerns. The package will include:
 re-drafting of the appraisal policy and process in order to simplify and improve the quality of
appraisals. This will include ensuring that the paperwork is reduced in order that there can
be more of a focus on the quality of the dialogue that takes place between the manager and
the staff member so that emphasis is not only on performance to date, but also on
development
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 work will also be undertaken to ensure that staff attend Mandatory Training, with the
intention to condense the training into one annual occurrence to meet the requirements of
legislation, National Health Service Litigation Authority (NHSLA), Care Quality Commission
(CQC) and other nationally and locally set standards. It will include a review of the content
and delivery of the training required, along with a new booking scheme
 development of a skills training package for managers focusing on core human resource
policies and their application in order to support managers to deal with issues with their
workforce in a fair, consistent and effective manner following the changes that have taken
place as a result of TCS.
During 2011 the Trust, as a result of TCS, expanded to include mental health and learning
disability services from Wolverhampton, learning disability services from Dudley and Walsall and
children’s services from Dudley. The 2010/11 staff survey report was specifically based on
Sandwell Mental Health and Social Care Foundation Trust. Therefore, the 2011/12 staff survey is
the first survey of the new organisation and as a result will provide a baseline from which to work.
3.4

Equality and Diversity

Work around equality and diversity has continued to move forward as the new expanded
organisation has evolved in order to ensure that people throughout the organisation are having a
fair and positive experience of either working here or using our services. Developments over
2011/12 have included the implementation of the new NHS Equality Delivery System and
responding to the new specific public sector duties of the Equality Act 2010.
The Trust’s Equality and Diversity Strategic Group has responsibility for ensuring the development
and delivery of the Trust’s Equality and Diversity agenda across the Trust. This includes meeting
the requirements of equality and diversity legislation and policy across all the Trust’s functions.
The Equality and Diversity Strategic Group is ultimately accountable to the Board of Directors.
3.4.1 Play Fair
Play Fair is the Trust’s single equality scheme. This shows how the Trust is meeting its statutory
duties around equality in line with current legislation, and sets out the actions that we have already
taken, or plan to take in relation to promoting equality and diversity and challenging discrimination.
It identifies new and improved ways of working to ensure that the Trust is more efficient and
effective in meeting the diverse needs of its staff and those who use its services. To this end, Play
Fair provides an overarching strategy for how we develop equality and diversity within the Trust to
ensure that all are treated with fairness and respect.
It reflects the Trust’s commitment to equality and diversity being part of its everyday business. A
review was carried out of the detailed Play Fair action plan during the second half of 2011. It was
updated in the light of the Equality Act 2010 and the Equality Delivery System.
3.4.2 Staff Awareness of Equality and Diversity Issues
All staff (including those new to the Trust as part of TCS) has a common understanding of our
approach to equality and diversity. Equality and diversity mandatory awareness training, Equality
Act 2010 briefings and bespoke equality awareness training have been offered on a regular basis
across the Trust to ensure easy access for those in the wider geographical areas and to ensure
that there is consistency across the different divisions.
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3.4.3 NHS Equality Delivery System (EDS)
The EDS is the new national framework to help reduce health inequalities and improve the equality
performance of the NHS. It enables NHS organisations to meet the requirements of the statutory
public sector equality duty, contained within the Equality Act 2010 and the statutory duty to consult
and involve patients (NHS Act 2006).
The EDS has four goals measured through 18 Outcomes:





better health outcomes for all
improved patient access and experience
empowered and included staff
Iiclusive leadership

Organisations who take the EDS on board are required to analyse and grade (with local interests)
their equality performance against these goals and the related outcomes. As a Trust, we have
progressed with the process of implementing the EDS through an EDS Implementation Plan.
The two key milestones for the EDS are built around the Equality Act 2010:
 publication of data on the nine protected characteristics by 31st January 2012 and
 publication of Equality Objectives by April 2010.
We are currently working with stakeholder groups and staff to identify evidence and make some
suggestions on where they feel we should position ourselves in terms of grading.
3.4.4 Equality Act Compliance
The specific duties of the Equality Act 2010 require us to publish equality information to
demonstrate our compliance with the equality duty, at least annually, and by 31st January each
year. This now needs to reflect the nine personal characteristics as protected by the Equality Act
2010 of: age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and
maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation.
In the second half of 2011 we carried out an information gathering exercise which highlighted
areas for improvement in our data collection, in workforce, learning and development and relating
to those who use our services. One of our new equality objectives moving forwards will relate to
improving our information systems and our analysis of equality data.

46

Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust / Annual Report 2012

Additionally, by 6th April 2012 we published the equality objectives for our organisation. These are
shown below:

Equality Objectives
1. Ensuring race equality in the provision of services and employment of staff.
2. Ensuring equality of opportunity in the provision of services and employment for
men, women and those who identify as transgender.
3. Ensuring that there is equality of opportunity in provision of services and
employment for people with a disability.
4. Ensuring that there is no age discrimination in the provision of services or
employment especially in relation to older adults and younger people.
5. Recognising the needs of service users and staff of different religions and spiritual
traditions and responding sensitively and appropriately to their needs.
6. Ensuring that lesbian, gay and bisexual people do not experience prejudice,
discrimination or disadvantage as a result of their sexual orientation in service
provision or employment.
7. Ensuring that the human rights principles of fairness, respect, equality, dignity and
autonomy, are promoted in service provision and employment.
8. Making good use of biographical data around service provision and employment to
create a clear picture of our workforce and those we care for.
9. Working with our members, governors, local communities, service users, carers and
volunteers in the shaping of, and improving access to, our services.
10. Ensuring that we work in close partnership with those who share our responsibility
to provide services which promote equality and challenge discrimination.
11. Ensuring that we have effective organisational arrangements that support our work
around equality and diversity.
12. Equality impact assessing all aspects of our organisation to ensure that we are
promoting equality and challenging discrimination in all we do.
13. Ensuring that all staff have the necessary knowledge and skills to provide culturally
sensitive and responsive services.
14. Developing a workforce representative of the local community across all levels and
services areas and ensuring there are no differences in staff experiences which we
cannot justify.
3.4.5 Equality Impact Assessments (EqIA)
We continue to use EqIAs as a form of equality information and equality analysis (a requirement of
the Equality Act). EqIAs are a way of thinking about the impact that a Trust policy, strategy, project
or service might have on different groups within the community including staff, service users and
carers.
Completed EqIAs are published on the Trust website and recorded in a register to assist with
monitoring any proposed actions and changes. We now have over 100 completed EqIAs.
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3.4.6 Examples of Issues Highlighted Through EqIAs
 when the Trust refreshed it’s branding for the new larger organisation, the EqIA process
helped those involved to identify and discard designs that could have potentially had a
negative impact on staff and service users through being culturally inappropriate, by
stereotyping certain groups of people, or by being a literal, and therefore exclusive
representation of people. By considering the issues for people of different backgrounds,
gender, ages and cultures, and reflecting on the particular services we provide we were
able to choose a logo which can potentially have a positive impact and one that has
universal appeal.
 the EqIA for the Service User and Carer Involvement Policy identified the need to promote
service user involvement amongst those groups currently less involved in the Trust and the
process that would need to be in place to do that. It is recognised that more detailed
monitoring of who is involved to identify gaps in representation to ensure that interpreters
and other support can be provided. The original policy was aimed at adults but a
consideration of age issues through the EqIA meant that it was amended to be applicable
for all ages.
 when the Trust was faced with making a decision on the future of Penn Hospital the EqIA
highlighted the potential positive and negative impacts of each option considering elements
such as accessibility for carers and families, need for improved facilities for those with
disabilities, provision for religious practise, the particular needs of older adults, privacy,
dignity and feeling safe. The potential for positive impacts in all these areas was identified in
the option chosen.
3.5

Key Contractual Relationships

With services transferring from Wolverhampton, Dudley and Walsall this year, the Trust now has
four main commissioners. As such, approximately 80-90% of the income the Trust receives is
from Sandwell, Wolverhampton, Dudley and Walsall PCTs.
Key commissioning relationships (from 1st August 2011) are represented in Diagram 1 below and
planned income in the Diagram 2 overleaf.
Diagram 1 Commissioning Relationships

Sandwell PCT
(OAP, Adult
MH, CAMHS)
Other PCTs
(10% income)

Dudley
(LD, CYPF)

Sandwell DAAT
(alcohol)

BCPFT

WC PCT (MH,
LD, CAMHS,
Addiction
Services)

Sandwell MBC
(LD)

Specialised
Commissioning
Team (forensic)
Walsall MBC
(LD)
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Diagram 2

Planned Income

Summary of
(Signed) Contract
Income by
Commissioner
Sandwell PCT
Wolverhampton
PCT
Dudley PCT
Walsall MBC
West Midlands
Specialised
Commissioning
Birmingham
PCTs
Other PCTs
Total

3.6

£million

% of Total Income

36.202
33.052

35.02%
31.97%

15.485
3.779
3.014

14.98%
3.66%
2.91%

1.101

1.07%

0.520
93.153

0.50%
90.10%

Key Developments During the Year

3.6.1 Transforming Community Services (TCS)
The Trust’s ambition to bring together services across the Black Country saw the largest service
development in the Trust’s history in 2011, with the transfer of over 1000 staff and over a doubling
of the Trust’s annual turnover.
In April, Specialist Learning Disabilities Services transferred from Walsall (78 staff, approximately
£4 million turnover). In August, Children, Young People and Family services (248 staff) and
Learning Disabilities services (126 staff) transferred from Dudley (approximately £15 million
turnover full year impact). A further 689 staff transferred from Wolverhampton Mental Health
Services (including CAMHS, and Addiction Services) and a further 33 Learning Disabilities staff
totalling an increase in annual turnover of approximately £36million.
The Trust now provides learning disabilities services across the whole of the Black Country,
mental health services in Wolverhampton and Sandwell and children’s services in Dudley across
over 50 sites.
The Trust has concentrated on ensuring that services transferred over in a safe and effective
manner, safeguarding minimal disruption for staff and continuity for patients. The focus will now
turn to putting in place a transformation programme which will look to provide sustainable
improvements (in Quality, Innovation, Productivity and Performance) to services and patient
outcomes moving forward.
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CQUIN – Commissioning for Quality and Innovation

3.6.2 Market/Operating Environment
Local authorities continue to see cuts in their funding allocations (up to 28% over three years).
A significant proportion of the Trust’s services are either funded directly or jointly by local authority
funding streams. As such, this poses a significant risk to the Trust as services may be
decommissioned or tendered in order to mitigate these financial risks to local authorities and
potentially may destabilise the delivery of services currently provided.
The Health and Social Care Act 2012 heralds a radical re-shaping of the commissioning
landscape. The Act places patients at the heart of the NHS, changes the emphasis of
measurement to one of patient outcomes, and empowers clinicians to take decisions about how
NHS resources are used. In order to achieve this, General Practitioners (GPs) will be responsible
for managing the majority of NHS budgets with an estimated control of £80 billion. GPs, through
Clinical Commissioning Groups CCGs), will therefore have a much greater say in designing and
influencing how services will operate in future.
In order to support this change in infrastructure, CCGs are being established (made up of GPs and
other multi-professionals). On the whole, CCGs will take over the existing contracts that the Trust
has with the PCTs. This will be except for the low volume high cost services (e.g. forensic
services) which will transfer to the NHS Commissioning Board and some aspects of children’s
services which will be commissioned in future by Public Health services (part of the local
authorities) such as health visiting and school nursing.
The Trust will therefore work to develop and build relationships with the emerging CCGs and local
authorities to help support the transition from the PCTs to maintain high quality outcomes in future.
3.7

Developments Planned

3.7.1 Penn Hospital Site Redevelopment
Mental health inpatient services in Wolverhampton are provided at Penn Hospital. In 2011, the
Trust recognised that significant investment in the facilities were required to ensure that services
meet the ongoing needs of patients to aid their advancement in treatment, rehabilitation and
recovery. This was affirmed by a CQC inspection which found a number of issues with the
physical build which could pose risks to the effective delivery of clinical services.
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In light of this, some immediate changes have been made to the facilities including the relocation
of Psychiatric Intensive Care to the Macarthur Centre in West Bromwich. It remained
acknowledged that a fundamental redesign was required to ensure sustainable improvements in
quality.
The CQC were invited by the Trust to visit Penn in December 2011, to witness the improvements
to the existing ward environments including the installation of observation mirrors; air conditioning
in the conservatory areas and movement of the medication room. The Trust and commissioners
formally met with the CQC prior to Christmas, and the CQC commended the work the Trust had
undertaken to improve the environment in the interim
Clinicians, managers and commissioners have worked together to review areas of clinical quality,
patient safety and design of the existing facilities. Plans have therefore been drawn for the
redesign of the existing Penn Hospital site in order that the physical environment enables the
delivery of high quality care.
The refurbishment will provide all bedrooms with ensuite facilities, separate female and male
lounges and better therapeutic space and environment. In addition to the reprovision of the two
adult wards, the older adult ward (Cedar) would also benefit from being relocated within the main
block into the same standard of accommodation.
The year long programme of work commenced in April 2012. The work will be completed in two
phases with care taken to minimise disruption to patients and their families whilst the work is
undertaken. Ongoing communication with patients, families, carers and local residents will take
place between the Trust and the construction company carrying out the work to ensure that the
redevelopment is managed efficiently and effectively.
The Trust continues to consider options for a permanent solution to psychiatric intensive care
including the provision of a service on a Black Country wide basis. Discussions with
commissioners have commenced to clarify demand and requirements for this service in order to
inform a long term-plan.
3.7.2 Inpatient and Community Service Redesign
As part of realising sustainable services across the enlarged Trust moving forward, the Trust is
investing in a transformation programme which looks to improve quality, enhance productivity
whilst at the same time providing efficient and cost effective services.
As the Trust moves towards implementing Payment by Results in mental health services, the
transformation programme looks at how it can support the delivery of specific service user needs
in the form of pathway redesign. ‘Care Clustering’ is all activity that groups service users into
categories based on need (comprising of a set of 21 ‘care clusters'). Each cluster defines a group
of service users who are relatively similar in their care needs and therefore resource requirements.
The main benefit of this is making sure patients are seen in the right place by the right people.
This will in turn support the way the Trust examines its own resources and infrastructure, ensuring
those that require specialist inpatient hospital beds have access to them, but avoidable admission
are appropriately managed in community settings in primary care and together with GPs.
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3.7.3 Mental Health Services
Mental health services in Wolverhampton have started to see real change in the last year, as the
Trust has commenced implementation of a strategy agreed with commissioners. Significant work
has been undertaken to create a Complex Care Team. Previously three Community Mental Health
Teams and an Assertive Outreach Team, this new service is based on a stepped care model. By
supporting it with a wellbeing service that focuses on service users with less complex needs, the
Complex Care Service is able to work with a smaller caseload of service users. This means the
team can concentrate their efforts on helping this more intensive group of clients on a recovery
pathway. It also allows staff to spend more time with service users at home rather than in
outpatient settings.
Alongside the Complex Care Team is the Referral Assessment Service (RAS). This will be the
single point of contact for referrals into Wolverhampton mental health services. Work has been
done with GPs to develop this service, and this has resulted in a greater emphasis on GPs actively
assessing needs prior to referral.
The final component developed in 2011/12 is the health transition work. This focuses on
developing primary care arrangements for service users with relatively low levels of need, who can
be cared for by their GP rather than specialist mental health services.
To support this new model, medical teams in Wolverhampton reorganised themselves to provide
support on a service basis rather than by geographical area. This will provide consistent, focused
medical support to each of the new services.
Wolverhampton strategy developments for 2012/13 are focused on two further streams of work.
The Criminal Justice sub-group brings together stakeholders from a wide range of partner
organisations to develop liaison services across Sandwell and Wolverhampton – proactively
identifying and addressing mental health needs across the criminal justice system.
During 2012/13, the Transformation Team (which has supported the division to deliver the strategy
to date) will be undertaking a review of community mental health services in Sandwell, building on
the experiences of the Wolverhampton strategy. This is planned for the first half of the year, with
implementation following soon after.
A service review is also taking place in the Trust’s Older Adult Service to identify future bed
requirements and explore options to reinvest into much stronger community services. This has
particular links to national Dementia Strategy work.
3.7.4 Early Intervention and Children’s Services
The Trust continues to enhance its Early Intervention Services to detect issues early in life and
support the recovery of individuals proactively before more serious problems develop. In line with
commissioning intentions, the Children, Young People and Families Division continues its focus on
early intervention by considering the development of a Young Adult Service in Wolverhampton to
support the transition of patients between adolescent to adult services.
Additionally, there is a clear desire from commissioners to develop more integrated models of
service delivery between NHS Dudley and Dudley Metropolitan Borough Council. This aims to
reduce duplication, enhance early intervention and ultimately secure better outcomes for children,
young people and families.
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As a result, the key areas below will be enhanced over a programme of work:
Pre School
 Development of a Family Nurse Partnership (FNP) Model. The Family Nurse
Partnership (FNP) is a licensed Department of Health (DoH) initiative that provides a
detailed and intensive preventative home visiting programme working with women aged 19
or under who are at risk first time parents, offering support from early pregnancy until the
child is two years. The programme will be introduced across Dudley working independently
of the generic Health Visiting Team. However, commissioners in Dudley have identified that
the FNP programme should be delivered by experienced health visitors who have
experience of working with families in the community.
The FNP programme is a structured programme which aims to improve pregnancy
outcomes, child health and development and parent's economic self sufficiency. The FNP
project offers a new way of preventive working with the most vulnerable families through
an intensive home visiting evidence based structured programme that can be adapted to
individual needs.
 Increase in the number of Health Visitors. We have an opportunity to increase our Health
Visitor Team in Dudley by 17 in response to the national plan to rejuvenate and expand the
national Health Visiting workforce by 4,200 by 2015. The national programme Call to Action
takes account of the pivotal role health visitors’ play in intervening in the early years to
improve outcomes for children and families.
 We have identified pre-school as a transformation priority and have developed a model to
reflect new team structures and working practice to increase face to face contact time.
School aged
 Increase capacity to reflect the increase in school leaving age. We are pleased we will have
an opportunity to begin to work, with commissioners and partner agencies, to respond to the
national document Call to Action for school age children and young people. The national
document is clear that commissioners and providers need to develop the school age
services to reflect services that are visible, accessible and confidential, which deliver
universal public health and ensure that there is early help and extra support available to
children and young people at the times when they need it. They should also include
services to help children and young people with illness or disability within the school and in
the community,
 The school age service faces the challenge of raising its profile as services will be
commissioned by public health that will sit within the Local Authority from April 2013.
Children with additional needs
 Work will be undertaken to address duplication across health and the local authority with a
focus on single assessment and placing the child and family at the centre. This is identified
as a transformation priority and we are working with commissioners and partner agencies to
develop a model of integrated care across Dudley.
The model is based on multi-disciplinary, cluster based teams working in partnership with
social care. We will improve the pathways of care for children and their families,
assessment will be based on the single Common Assessment Framework which will reduce
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duplication and will ensure families have seamless assessment and clear support through
the identified pathways.
 Aspirationally it is anticipated that the transformed services will make efficiencies across the
services by reducing duplication and provide a number of opportunities to grow our
business.
Safeguarding and Looked After Children
 A significant increase in children entering the looked after system and the CQC/Ofsted
inspection in November 2011 has identified the need for additional capacity within a
currently small Safeguarding Team (currently five nurses).
 We will undertake a scoping exercise and develop business plans to be able to demonstrate
to commissioners what extra resources will be required to strengthen the team to meet the
growing agenda.
 We have recruited to a senior children’s safeguarding post which will be instrumental in
developing services across the organisation.
3.7.5 Learning Disabilities
The Trust will work with commissioners across the Black Country to develop a clear and consistent
pathway to be delivered for service users. As part of this work, the Learning Disabilities Division is
reviewing its inpatient provision across the four boroughs. The aim of this work is to identify the
best location for the various types of service that are required and to ensure we are making best
use of our staff and estate in delivering these. Supporting this aim are a number of service
development opportunities that have been identified by the division including the service reintegration of community learning disability team staff from the local authority and wider pathway
development (e.g. forensics).
The Trust is also taking a lead across the region for developing the Productivity Improvement
Pathway (PIP) in learning disabilities services. This will support the ultimate aim of developing
learning disability clusters and a Payment by Results tariff.
The programme will support:
 developing capacity to deliver improved quality and value for money services
 improving data quality with respect to financial, activity and quality measures
 identifying and addressing gaps in information systems
 introducing best practice approaches to service line reporting and working across patient
care pathway
 improving benchmarking of services across teams and other providers
 improving workforce planning by providing workforce productivity data
 improving personalisation of services by introducing a care pathway approach to service
delivery and costing of services
 delivering improved service models in line with population and commissioner requirements
 enabling large scale and transformational change across provider services in line with
organisational objectives and national policy drivers
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3.8

Research and Development

The Trust continues to be a member of the Birmingham and Black Country Comprehensive Local
Research Network (BBC CLRN) and is also a member Trust of the Mental Health Research
Network.
2011/12 has seen an increase in the number of patients recruited into the National Institute for
Health Research approved Portfolio research studies and an increase in the number of research
active clinicians. The Trust has exceeded the 2011/12 target set by the BBC CLRN for the number
of patients participating in Portfolio research. During 2011/12 the Trust has participated in 24
Portfolio projects.
Two Clinical Studies Officers (CSOs) were appointed in November 2011 to support Portfolio
research activity across all services within the Trust. One of these posts was funded by the BBC
CLRN and one by the Mental Health Research Network.
A ‘Good Clinical Practice’ in research training event was held during this year and was well
attended by clinicians within the Trust.
The Trust has agreed with the Mental Health Research Network to participate in a gap analysis
considering readiness to participate in commercial research. It is hoped that this will identify
opportunities and strategies to further develop research activity within the Trust. This work will be
undertaken in 2012/13.
3.9

Registration with the Care Quality Commission (CQC)

It is a legal requirement for all care providers who undertake regulated activities to be registered
with the CQC.
Under the Department of Health’s national Transforming Community Services (TCS) programme,
all Primary Care Trusts (PCTs) were required to separate their provider and commissioning
functions by 31st March 2011. This involved the transfer of community services provided by PCTs
to other organisations. These transfers required both PCTs and the receiving providers to make
applications to the CQC:
•
•

PCT providers to apply to cancel their registrations
Existing receiving trusts to apply to make changes to their registrations

The Trust submitted its application for registration to take account of the community services
transferred from Dudley PCT, Walsall Teaching PCT and Wolverhampton City PCT and was
registered without compliance conditions on 1st April 2011. Services from Dudley and
Wolverhampton did not transfer until 1st August 2011.
On the day of transfer, following a compliance inspection of Penn Hospital, Wolverhampton, the
CQC issued warning notices to the Trust, requiring that action was taken to meet: Regulation 15
(1) safety and suitability of premises and Regulation 23 (1) supporting workers of the Health and
Social Care Act (Regulated Activities) Regulations 2010.
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The issues identified were legacy issues that had transferred as part of TCS. Following on from
this visit a significant amount of work has been done to rectify the issues identified. This has
culminated in an agreement that there will be a significant refurbishment of Penn Hospital so that
by April 2012 there will be a hospital that is fit for purpose. The CQC are aware of this plan and the
work that has been done in respect of ensuring reasonable levels of staff have participated in
mandatory training (Regulation 23).
3.10

Quality Governance Arrangements

As reported last year the Board of Directors agreed that some of the internal audit time would be
given over to assessing the Trust position in respect of Monitor’s Quality Governance Framework.
The results of this audit were available to the Board of Directors in September 2011. The audit
highlighted a number of areas which required action. Three of the four areas assessed were
considered to have a moderate level of assurance with one area having insufficient assurance.
This area was that of ‘strategy’ with the view being that the existing Quality Strategy need to be
updated. The previous strategy was due to be updated as it covered the period 2009 – 2012.
Work has been completed on this and a revised quality strategy covering 2012/13 to 2013/14 has
been agreed by the Board of Directors. As part of this strategy there is a plan to develop a quality
dash board which will be reported to the Board of Directors on a quarterly basis – the first report
will be in quarter one of 2012/13.
During 2011/12 the Board of Directors agreed to a number of initiatives designed to increase the
level of positive assurance available to the Non Executive Directors. These include the
presentation of patient stories before the board meeting and Non Executive Directors undertaking
short notice visits to ward areas to make assessments of services using the CQC Essential
Standards of Quality and Safety.
These positives assurance activities are supported by the governance reporting system which
includes the Governance Committee. This has replaced the Quality Assurance Committee as the
board sub-committee which has a focus on quality, patient safety and risk. The committee receives
quarterly integrated risk management reports which highlight key risks across the organisation.
The annual cycle of business for this committee includes seeking assurance in respect of
compliance with CQC registration and standards and other accreditation systems and a range of
internal assurance mechanisms.
The Trust began using Equality Impact Assessments (EqIAs) in 2011/12. These are a mechanism
for ensuring that where changes are proposed in service delivery and funding these will not
adversely affect quality. In line with one of the proposals from the previous quality strategy the first
staff award for a quality initiative was made in September 2012.
3.11

Involvement of People who Use Services and Their Carers

The Make a Difference Group is now in its fourth year and has become a significant force in
ensuring the involvement of people who use services in aspects of service audit and planning.
During this year the group has completed its work in auditing the experience of people using adult
psychiatric outpatient services.
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The group is due to report on this early in 2012 /13. Responding to the changes in the
configuration of the Trust the group has started work to establish similar groups across the
enlarged geographical patch that the Trust now covers. The group continues to be consulted on
a range of issues. The contribution made by members of this group was recognised at the staff
award ceremony.
On an individual level people who use service are involved in managing their own care via their
participation in the care planning process. Where a person has limited capacity then they are
routinely referred for support by the independent mental health advocacy services or specialist
advocacy services for children and young people.
The Quality Council met twice during the year year. On both occasions a question and answer
format was used. These meetings give people who use services and their carers an opportunity to
hear about quality initiatives, to propose ideas about how to improve quality and to challenge the
organisation regarding quality via the Quality Council.
During 2011/12 the Service User and Carer Involvement policy was approved for use in the
organisation. This policy describes how people can become involved in a range of activities within
the Trust. As a result of this a number of experts by experience sat on the recruitment panels for
senior management and Board level posts.
People have also been involved via this policy in the Clinical Leadership project run at Penn
Hospital and in supporting Patient Environment Action Team visits.
Carers and people who use services have written accounts of their experiences in the Trust
newsletter, Grapevine, and are beginning to attend the Board of Directors meetings to present
their stories.
3.12

Health and Fire Safety

The Trust is committed to ensuring the health and safety of its staff, people who use services and
visitors.
The Health and Safety Group is made up of staff representatives, the Health and Safety Advisor,
operational and senior managers. The group reviews policies, considers risk and their mitigation
and monitors the health and fire safety work plan.
Fire on NHS premises is not a common occurrence and one of the most common fire-related
issues within the NHS is the use of incorrect procedures in the event of a fire, due to the infrequent
use of these skills, even though fire drills are regularly conducted. This year we are developing an
interactive locally delivered fire safety training program to reduce the level of fire related risks.
We are also increasing fire training compliance and promoting fire safety management to support
staff to manage fire incidents when they occur.
3.13

Patient Satisfaction Survey

For the purposes of this report only the survey results for Sandwell will be reported as the national
survey of inpatient services took place prior to the move of services as part of TCS. The return rate
for Sandwell was low with only 39 usable responses from a final sample of 133. This represents a
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return rate of 29%. The survey asks questions about the ward environment, the staff and the care
that people receive.
In terms of the wards the Trust scores, in comparison to other Trusts on issues relating to the
ward environment, are mixed but overall the ward environment scores have improved in
comparison to last year.
Trust scores about staff, in comparison to other Trusts, are generally more positive and overall
these scores have improved in comparison to last year.
With regard to care and treatment, the Trust scores, when compared to other trusts, are generally
more positive and have improved in comparison to last year.
A number of areas for improvement have been identified and some of these are listed below:







hospital food including access to specific dietary needs,
cleanliness of ward or room
providing better support and assistance to patients to organise their home situation
being contacted within two weeks of discharge
feeling safe during an impatient stay
receiving information about getting help in crisis

The Division for Mental Health Services is working on improvement in these key areas. It should
be noted from the table below that although the Trust results have improved, compared with other
trusts, there is still work to be done.
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3.14

Financial Performance

This report relates to the twelve month period from 1st April 2011 to 31st March 2012.
The Trust has reported a surplus on income and expenditure (excluding impairments) of £1.906m
for the period, against an original planned surplus of £2.644m.
Earnings Before Interest Tax Depreciation and Amortisation (EBITDA) for the year was £3.440m
(3.73%) compared to the plan of £4.537m (5.00%).
The impact of the Trust’s acquisitions resulting from Transforming Community Services (TCS) was
an increase in income from £53.2m in 2010/11 to £92.3m in 2011/12 with a corresponding
increase in expenditure from £50.7m to £88.8m due mainly to increased staff and premises costs.
The Trust also received more income than planned from service contracts due to greater levels of
activity over the period, for which there was also an increase in operating expenses.
At the beginning of the financial year, the Trust was in the second year of a three year legally
binding contract with its main commissioner, Sandwell PCT.
During the year, as a result of the TCS acquisitions, the Trust entered into further significant
contracts with Wolverhampton PCT, Dudley PCT and Walsall PCT that will remain in place until
2013.
As at 31st March 2012, the key performance measures for the Trust were as outlined below:
 Financial risk rating of 3
 Surplus for the financial year of £1.906m
 Cash balance of £8.9m – against a plan of £8.0m
NHS bodies are considered to be under common control and are therefore required to apply
merger accounting where a transfer of functions between NHS bodies takes place. As a result of
TCS, the Trust applied merger accounting principles in its 2011/12 Financial Statements and was
required to report the financial performance of Dudley PCT and Wolverhampton PCT for the period
April – July 2011, even though at this time those services were not under the control of the Trust.
The combined Dudley PCT and Wolverhampton PCT position for this period was a deficit of
£674k.
During 2011/12, a loss on revaluation of £0.1m was taken to the Income and Expenditure (I&E)
account which related to two sites; Delta House (£0.05m) and Heath Lane (£0.05m) as a result of
a revaluation of assets being carried out by the District Valuer. The Trust also took an amount of
£0.1m to the I&E account relating to the reversal of Impairments.
Where revaluation losses were taken to the I&E account in 2010/11 and those buildings increased
in value in 2011/12, then the Trust was permitted to take a gain to the I&E account for the extent of
the losses taken during the previous year. The reversal of Impairment related to three buildings on
the Heath Lane site (Tredgold, Penrose and Scott House).
The Trust disposed of an asset during 2011/12 as a result of the loss of the Drug and Alcohol
Service previously provided by the Trust. The asset in question was Metro Court and the loss on
disposal shown in the Financial Statements was £1.3m.
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Summary of Overall Financial Performance 2011/12*
Plan
£M

Actual
£M

Variance
£M

90.337

92.264

1.927

(85.800)

(88.824)

(3.024)

4.537

3.440

(1.097)

Non Operating Items

(1.893)

(1.534)

359

Net Surplus/(Deficit)

2.644

1.906

(738)

0

(433)

(433)

(1.451)

(1.443)

8

Operating Income
Operating Expenses
EBITDA

Restructuring Costs
Loss on Revaluation and
Disposal

* not on merger accounting basis- figures represent Black Country Partnership NHS FT for

2011/12 with part-year effect of Dudley and Wolverhampton acquisitions as reported to Monitor for
final assessment of risk rating for 2011/12
3.14.1 Capital Investment
Dividend payments made by the Trust on past capital expenditure as an NHS Trust were £0.4m in
September 2011 and £0.3m in March 2012.
Future capital finance as a Foundation Trust is expected to be sourced internally (accumulated
surplus and depreciation charges) or through an interest-bearing loan. A Prudential Borrowing
Limit is set by Monitor (the Independent Regulator for Foundation Trusts), which for the Trust is as
follows:
 Maximum cumulative long term borrowing of £18.6m, and
 Approved working capital facility not greater than £8.3m.
As at 31st March 2012, the Trust had not required any external finance, or used its working capital
facility.
Capital expenditure incurred during the year was £1.1m of which the majority of expenditure was
on schemes as shown in the table overleaf.
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Capital Expenditure 2011/12
Scheme Name

Expenditure
£000s

Delta House

339

Edward Street Hospital

192

Hallam Street Hospital

47

Heath Lane Hospital - Site

372

Penn Hospital

159

The capital programme for 2012/13 contains the refurbishment of Penn Hospital, Wolverhampton a major scheme likely to cost approximately £8.5m to complete. It is expected, however, that the
majority of funding for this scheme will be sourced via Wolverhampton PCT, the owner of the
property. Additionally, the Trust has set-aside £1m for the commencement of a major upgrade of
its IT infrastructure. The focus for other capital expenditure will be mainly on backlog maintenance
and health and safety projects.
3.14.2 Liquidity and Cash Management
The cashflow summary for 2011/12 is shown below:

EBITDA
Net movement in Current Receivables
Net movement in Creditors (payables)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating
activities
Capital expenditure
Net cash inflow/(outflow) before financing
Net interest
PDC dividends (paid)
Other Financing
Net cash inflow/outflow

Plan
£m
4.5
-4.1
7.6

Actual
£m
3.4
-3.1
7.5

Variance
£m
-1.1
1.0
0.1

8.0
-2.1
5.9
0.0
-1.0
-0.2
4.7

7.8
-1.6
6.2
0.0
-0.7
0.1
5.6

-0.2
0.5
0.3
0.0
0.3
0.3
0.9

Period Start Cash

3.3

3.3

0.0

Period end cash

8.0

8.9

0.9
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3.15

Financial Outlook

The financial projections for the Trust for the period 2012/13 to 2014/15 are shown below. These
are based on the inflation and cost assumptions, shown in the second table below.
There are not expected to be any further significant acquisitions by the Trust during this period.
However, it is expected that the Trust will experience the non-renewal of a small number of service
contracts as commissioners respond to the present funding constraints.
The Trust has included in its future plans the transfer of significant building assets critical to
service delivery and currently in the ownership of the PCTs, that were not transferred as part of the
TCS process. As per current national guidance, this transfer is expected to take place on 31st
March 2013.
Financial Projections 2011/12 to 2013/14
2012/13
£M

2013/14
£M

2014/15
£M

105.2

95.7

94.0

Operating Expenses

(101.8)

(91.7)

(89.5)

Normalised EBITDA

3.4

4.0

4.5

EBITDA Margin

3.2%

4.1%

4.9%

Net Non-Operating Expenses

(1.8)

(2.9)

(2.9)

1.6

1.1

1.6

1.5%

1.2%

1.7%

Income

Normalised Surplus / (Deficit)
Surplus Margin

Key Assumptions in Financial Projections 2011/12 to 2013/2014
2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

Income Inflation

-1.80%

-1.80%

-1.80%

Pay Inflation

0.00%

0.00%

1.00%

Incremental Drift

1.33%

1.34%

1.31%

Drug Inflation

3.10%

3.30%

3.40%

Clinical Supplies and Services
Inflation

3.10%

3.30%

3.40%

Other Expenses Inflation

3.10%

3.30%

3.40%

PFI Inflation

3.00%

3.00%

3.00%
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The anticipated financial risk ratings resulting from the projections are shown below.
Anticipated Financial Risk Ratings 2012/2013 to 2014/15
Weighting

2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

EBITDA Margin

25%

2 (3.3%)

2 (4.2%)

2 (4.9%)

EBITDA Plan

10%

3 (75.8%)

3 (75.8%)

3 (75.8%)

Net Return After Financing

20%

5 (4.2%)

4 (2.5%)

5 (3.7%)

I&E Surplus Margin

20%

3 (1.5%)

3 (1.2%)

3 (1.7%)

Liquidity Ratio

25%

4 (38.9)

4 (35.6)

4 (29.5)

3.4

3.2

3.4

3

3

3

Weighted Average
Financial Risk Rating

The financial forecasts have been developed in consultation with budget holders based on prior
year performance and taking account of service changes highlighted in the Trust’s Business Plan.
Given the challenging economic climate, the future financial health of the Trust will depend
significantly on the ability to identify and secure recurring cost efficiencies whilst building upon the
quality of services provided. The table below shows the level of planned efficiencies required over
the next three years.
Efficiency Savings Required 2012/13 to 2014/15

Cost Efficiencies (£M)
As a % of relevant
Operating Cost

2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

5.23

4.83

4.78

4.88%

5.00%

5.07%

In response to the expected efficiency requirement, the Trust has developed plans that are
expected to produce recurrent savings; the key areas are shown overleaf.
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Planned Efficiency Savings 2012/2013 to 2014/15

Workforce, Pay &
Conditions
Financial & Budgetary
Controls
Infrastructure &
Procurement
Service Redesign &
Transformation
Productivity & Service Line
Management
TOTAL

3.16

2012/13
£M

2013/14
£M

2014/15
£M

0.46

0.58

0.58

1.57

0.91

0.90

1.25

0.84

0.84

1.77

2.26

2.23

0.18

0.23

0.23

5.23

4.83

4.78

Counter Fraud Arrangements

The Trust employs its own qualified Local Counter Fraud Specialist (LCFS) who is accountable to
the Director of Resources.
The Trust continually strives to develop an anti-fraud culture and to ensure that this message
reaches the widest possible number of staff and patients, it is also committed to providing and
maintaining a non-negotiable standard of honesty and integrity in dealing with its assets and will
not tolerate fraud of any description within the Trust.
The Audit Committee receives and reviews reports on counter fraud activities and associated
recommendations on a regular basis.
Activities have included:
•
•

•
•

LCFS has issued a survey to all staff in order to tailor future fraud work plans and ensure
any risks which may apply to the Trust are addressed
promotion of fraud awareness, including departmental and induction presentations as a
member of the Policy Ratification Group - the review of all Trust policies and procedures for
‘fraud-proofing’.
undertaking mandatory national and local exercises i.e. Audit Commission’s National Fraud
Initiative (NFI), creditor data for the Trust, staff references and qualifications
liaison with external agencies i.e. UK Border Agency, local Police, HMRC, DWP, solicitors.

There have been a number of enquiries from managers and staff across the Trust, which did not
require an investigation.
All investigations are dealt with confidentially, sensitively and with the utmost integrity with staff
being encouraged to call the LCFS on 0121 612 8055 to report their concerns, alternatively the
NHS Fraud and Corruption Reporting Line on 0800 028 40 60 or www.nhsprotect.nhs.uk can be
contacted.

`
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3.17

Audit Arrangements

The External Auditors to the Trust are KPMG LLP (UK), One Snowhill, Snowhill Queensway,
Birmingham B4 6GH
Their remuneration for the period 1st April 2011 to 31st March 2012 was £67,000.
Additional work relating to the Trust’s Quality Report was conducted at a cost of £13,000. Further
TCS related work was undertaken at a cost of £15,000.
Where the Trusts Auditors provide non audit services, these would be considered on a case by
case basis, by the Board of Directors to ensure the Auditors independence would not be
compromised. Such appointments would be reported to the Audit Committee which would receive
reports on outcomes of their work.
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3.18

Quarterly Trust Position 2011/12

The targets on which the declarations to Monitor are based are as follows:
Indicator
Clostridium difficile
year on year
reduction

MRSA – the annual
number of MRSA
bloodstream
infections
100% of enhanced
Care Programme
Approach (CPA)
patients receiving
follow-up contact
within seven days of
discharge from
hospital
CPA Patients having
formal review within
12 months
Minimising delayed
transfers of care
Admissions to
inpatient services
had access to crisis
resolution home
treatment teams
Meeting
commitment to
serve new psychosis
cases by early
intervention teams
Data completeness:
identifiers
Data completeness:
outcomes

Threshold
Q1
Q2
Q3
Q4 Weighting
To fit the trajectory for
No
No
No
No
N/A
the year as agreed with Cases Cases Cases Cases
PCT – assumed a 15 %
reduction if no level
agreed in a contract
Less than half the
No
No
No
No
N/A
2003/04 level (assumed cases cases cases cases
target is 50% of 2003/04
if no level agreed in a
contract)
95% quarterly
99% 97.3% 97.5% 95.6%
0.5

95% Quarterly

96% 98.4% 98.5% 98.8%

0.5

2%

2.9%

1.5%

2.5%

1.0

98%

98%

100% 100%

1.0

95% quarterly

100% 100% 100% 100%

0.5

99% (Quarterly)

99% 99.2% 99.8% 99.9%

0.5

50%

88% 79.9% 89% 88.9%

0.5

<=7.5% Quarter
cumulative
90% quarterly
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Indicator

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

Weighting

Risk of, or actual, failure to deliver mandatory
services
CQC compliance action outstanding

No

No

No

No

4.0

No

No

No

No

2.0

CQC enforcement notice currently in effect

No

No

No

No

4.0

Moderate CQC concerns regarding the safety of
healthcare provision
Major CQC concerns regarding the safety of
healthcare provision
Unable to maintain, or certify, a minimum
published CNST level of 1.0 or have in place
appropriate alternative arrangements

No

No

Yes

Yes

1.0

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

2.0

No

No

No

No

2.0

Target Score
Trust Score
3.19

Q1
0.0
0.0

Q2
0.0
2.0

Q3
0.0
2.0

Q4
0.0
2.0

Sustainability and Carbon Management

The Board of Directors approved a strategy to reduce its carbon dioxide emissions by 20% by
2013, on a baseline calculation of 2720 tonnes used in 2007/08.
The strategy set out key objectives in its aim to reduce its carbon footprint and minimise the
detrimental impact carbon emissions have on people’s health, and much has been done towards
implementation of this strategy since then.
The table overleaf provides an analysis of our usage (excluding that generated by services
transferred from the beginning of the year) of CO2 during the year and compared with that since
2007/08.
The Trust generated just over 2105 tonnes of CO2 in 2011/12. This means that the Trust has more
than achieved its target 20% reduction in CO2, which was set at 2176 tonnes for 2013.
However, and whilst not wishing to minimise the work to date in implementing carbon reduction
measures, the largest reduction was seen in our use of building energy (e.g. gas and electricity)
which in turn was highly affected by a combination of the loss of certain buildings, e.g. Metro Court
and learning disability group homes, from the estate portfolio, and a very warm winter; indeed
there was a 10% reduction in ‘degree days’, (a measure of weather related energy consumption)
between years.
Following the transfer of services from neighbouring Primary Care Trusts during 2011/12 it has
been agreed to review the strategy and associated target reductions so as to ensure the Trust
maintains a focus on carbon reduction across its enlarged portfolio of services and estate.
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Levels of CO2 Consumption 2007/08 – 2011/12
Scope

Scope 1

Scope 3

Waste
minimization and
management

Finite Resources

3.20

Type
Consumption (kWh)
Building Energy
Cost (£)
CO2 (Tonnes)
Mileage
Patient Tranport
CO2 (Tonnes)
Mileage
Trust Vehicles
CO2 (Tonnes)
Mileage
Official Business
CO2 (Tonnes)
Travel Emissions
Tonnes (Landfill)
Cost (£)
CO2 (Tonnes)
Domestic Waste
Tonnes (Recycled)
Cost (£)
Alternative Treatment Tonnes
Cost (£)
CO2 (Tonnes)
Clinical Waste
Incineration Tonnes
Cost (£)
CO2 (Tonnes)
3
Consumption (m )
Water
Cost (£)
CO2 (Tonnes)
Replaced (Kg)
Refrigerant Gases
CO2 (Tonnes)

07/08
9,137,402
385,652
2,370

289
35,589
129

08/09
7,754,616
454,050
2,206
72,000
32
13,505
4
589,277
199
212
39,137
95

58
30,216
0
22,551
61,062
8
3
6

48
23,910
0
26,376
69,533
7
1
4

09/10
6,799,867
410,126
1,832
30,834
14
25,381
9
515,311
179
227
31,844
101
5
710
36
24,035
16
1
429
0
19,362
69,226
7
8
22

10/11
11/12
6,906,720 6,133,414
365,796
413,587
1,781
1,936
33,091
45,811
14.5
20
27,468
29,224
9
9
469,043
620,730
161
201
149
112
23,635
22,032
66
50.5
17
27
2,644
5,678
40
31
26,204
20,506
18
14
1
1
418
2,703
0
0
21,017
18,057
75,743
54,610
8
7.3
2
13.5
2
28

Statement as to Disclosure to Auditors

As far as the Directors are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the auditors are
unaware, and that the Directors have taken all of the steps that they ought to have taken as
Directors in order to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that
the auditors are aware of that information.
3.21

Risk in the use of Financial Instruments

There are no identified risks in the use of financial Instruments.
3.22

Significant Events Post 31st March 2012

The Board of Directors confirms there have been no significant events occurring since 31st March
2012 that could affect the financial statements.
However, the Board would wish to report that following an unannounced inspection to Penn
Hospital in March 2012, the Care Quality Commission has in May 2012 issued warning notices to
the Trust in respect of non-compliance against certain registration standards.
Subsequently, Monitor, the independent regulator of NHS Foundation Trusts has downgraded the
Trust governance risk rating to “red” and has initiated a process to determine whether it considers
the Trust has significantly breached its Terms of Authorisation.
3.23

Going Concern

After making enquiries, the Board of Directors has a reasonable expectation that the Trust has
adequate resources to enable it to continue to operate for the foreseeable future and for this
reason has continued to adopt the “Going Concern” basis in preparing its accounts.
68

Section 4
Remuneration Report

Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust / Annual Report 2012

4.1

The Remuneration Committee

In accordance with the Constitution of the Trust and The Code of Governance for NHS Foundation
Trusts, as issued by Monitor, the Board of Directors has established a Remuneration Committee,
whose membership is comprised wholly of Non Executive Directors, to determine the remuneration
and terms and conditions of Executive Directors and other very senior management posts that are
not governed by those nationally negotiated frameworks, such as Agenda for Change.
Membership of and attendance at meetings of the Committee during 2011/12 is provided in table
below.
The Remuneration Committee
Name
Mr. Parmjit Sahota (Chair from 1/9/2011)
Mr. Bryan Stock (Chair until 31/8/2011))
Mrs. Vicky Harris
Mr. Bob Piper
Mrs. Jackie Smart
Mrs. Pauline Werhun CBE

Attendance
Actual/Possible
2/2
2/2
1/2
2/2
1/2
2/2

During the year the Committee has in accordance with its agreed Remuneration Policy:
•
•
•
•
•

agreed to maintain remuneration levels for all positions at the same level prevailing at 31st
March 2011
initiated a review of the remuneration for Associate Hospital Managers in respect of their
duties under the Mental Health Act 1983
commenced reviewing proposals for the development of a local pay framework for other
levels of senior management
approved revisions to the terms and conditions of Executive Directors and other very senior
management posts
reviewed the committee’s terms of reference and agreed an associated cycle of business.

The Board of Directors can confirm that no Executive Director held other Non Executive
Directorships within other bodies during 2011/12.

Date 29th May 2012

Signed
Chief Executive
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2011/12 Salary Entitlements of Senior Managers

A) Remuneration

2011/12
Salary

Mr. B Piper
Ms. K Dowman
Mr. P Stefanoski

Ms. S Marshall

Mr. A Green

Mr. A Duffell
Mr. C Oakes
Mr. R Taylor

Mr. J Campbell

Mr. A Craig
Mrs. S. C. Marshall

Dr. S Edwards
Mrs. A Gosain
Mrs. V Harris
Ms. J Smart
Mr. P Riley
Mr. B Stock
Mr. P. Sahota

Chair
Chief Executive
Director of Resources
(Deputy Chief
Executive)
Director of Children &
Young Peoples
Sevices (from
4/5/2011; formerly
Associate Director of
Care Governance)
Director of Corporate
Governance (until
2/5/2012)
Director of Workforce
(until 31/1/2012)
Director of Workforce
(from 1/3/2012)
Director of Nursing &
Professional Practice
(retired
5/11/2011:formerly
Director of Service
Delivery until
31/7/2011)
Chief Operating
Officer from 1/8/2011;
formerly Director of
Strategic Planning,
Business
Development &
Partnership)
Associate Director of
Social Care
Director of Nursing &
Professional Practice
(from 1/1/2012)
Medical Director
Non Executive
Director
Non Executive
Director
Non Executive
Director
Non Executive
Director
Non Executive
Director
Non Executive
Director

Other Remunaration

2010/11
Other Remunaration
(bands of £5000)

Rounded nearest £100

£'000

£'000

Rounded nearest
£100

0
0

100
900

25-30
115-120

0
0

100
900

95-100

0

300

90-95

0

400

100-105

0

300

100-105

0

100

5-10

0

0

80-85

0

500

60-65

0

300

70-75

0

400

5-10

0

0

0

0

0

50-55

0

0

80-85

0

0

85-90

0

1700

80-85

0

1800

55-60

0

200

50-55

0

0

10-15

0

0

0

0

0

40-45

0

600

25-30

155-160

600

0-5

0

0

5-10

0

100

10-15

0

200

10-15

0

200

10-15

0

0

5-10

0

0

10-15

0

0

10-15

0

0

10-15

0

200

10-15

0

400

10-15

0

0

10-15

0

0

(bands of £5000)

£'000

£'000

30-35
120-125

Benefits in kind

Benefits in
kind

Salary
(bands of
£5000)

(bands of
£5000)
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2011/2012 Pension Benefits

2011-12 Salary and Pension entitlements of senior managers
2011-12 Pension Benefits

Name

Real increase in Real increase in Total accrued
pension at age pension lump pension at age
60
sum at age 60 60 at 31 March
2012

Real
Employers
Total lump sum at Cash Equivalent Cash Equivalent
age 60 related to Transfer Value at Transfer Value at Increase/(Decrease) Contribution to
accrued pension 31 March 2012
31 March 2011 in Cash Equivalent
Stakeholder
at 31 March 2012
Transfer Value
Pension

(bands of £2500) (bands of £2500) (bands of £5000) (bands of £5000)
£000
£000
£000
£000
Mrs K Dowman - Chief Executive
Mr P Stefanoski - Director of Resources (Deputy CE)
Mr A Green - Director of Corporate Governance (until 2/5/2012)
Mr R Taylor - Director of Nursing & Professional Practice (retired
5/11/2011:formerly Director of Service Delivery until 31/7/2011)
Ms S Marshall - Director of Children & Young Peoples Sevices (from 4/5/2011;
formerly Associate Director of Care Governance)
Mr A Duffell - Director of Workforce (until 31/1/2012)
Mr J Campbell - Chief Operating Officer from 1/8/2011; formerly Director of
Strategic Planning, Business Development & Partnership)
Mr A Craig - Associate Director of Social Care
Mrs Susan Claire Marshall - Director of Nursing & Professional Practice (from
1/1/2012)

£000

£000

£000

0.2.5
0-2.5
0-2.5

2.5-5
2.5-5
0-2.5

50-55
15-20
30-35

155-160
50-55
95-100

1,163
263
0

1,066
195
559

60
62
(578)

To nearest £100
-

0-2.5

0-2.5

40-45

125-130

0

818

(845)

-

0-2.5
0-2.5

2.5-5
2.5-5

40-45
10-15

120-125
30-35

765
191

662
145

81
42

-

0-2.5
0-2.5

2.5-5
0-2.5

20-25
25-30

65-70
75-80

316
0

237
578

71
(598)

-

0-2.5

0-2.5

20-25

60-65

366

0

0

-

As Non-Executive members do not receive pensionable remuneration, there will be no entries in respect of pensions for Non-Executive members.
A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The benefits valued are the member's accrued benefits and any contingent
spouse's pension
Real Increase in CETV - This reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the employer. It takes account of the increase in accrued pension due to inflation, contributions paid by the employee (including the value of any benefits
transferred from
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5.1

Annual Governance Statement for the year ended 31st March 2012

5.5.1 Scope of Responsibility
As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal control that
supports the achievement of the NHS Foundation Trust’s policies, aims and objectives whilst
safeguarding the public funds and departmental assets for which I am personally responsible, in
accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me. I am also responsible for ensuring that the
NHS Foundation Trust is administered prudently and economically and that resources are applied
efficiently and effectively. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out in the NHS Foundation
Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum.
5.1.2 The Purpose of the System of Internal Control
The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level rather than to
eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives; it can therefore only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal control is based
on an ongoing process designed to identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of the
policies, aims and objectives of Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust, to evaluate the
likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage
them efficiently, effectively and economically. The system of internal control has been in place in
Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust for the year ended 31st March 2012 and up to
the date of approval of the annual report and accounts.
5.1.3 Capacity to Handle Risk
The Trust is committed to ensuring that risk management forms an integral part of its philosophy,
practices and development, where responsibility for its application and implementation is accepted
at all levels within the Trust.
During the year, the Trust acquired services from neighbouring Primary Care Trusts (PCTs) under
the national Transforming Community Services (TCS) initiative and in preparation for the actual
transfer commissioned independent due diligence reports so as to ascertain the level of risk likely
to be inherited and to prepare appropriate mitigation plans. Such plans included the negotiation of
more favourable terms of transfer and introduction of relief events, warranties and indemnities into
each relevant business transfer agreement which were drafted by the Trust’s appointed legal
advisers.
In addition the Trust prepared, through consultation with staff and managers from services being
transferred, risk based integration plans to ensure business continuity on day one of the transfer
and beyond. A critical element of these plans was the imperative to ensure that as far as
practically possible, the existing governance systems of the Trust (as described overleaf) were
implemented across all transferring services at day one or, where this was not viable, for example
in the case of various human resource policies and terms and conditions, as soon as possible
thereafter. Progress with these integration plans is monitored by the Transformation Board and
assurance is provided through the Post Acquisition Review Committee.
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At a collective level, the Board of Directors is responsible for approving the risk management
strategy and monitoring and reviewing its implementation. I, as the Chief Executive Officer, have
overall responsibility for establishing internal control systems and have delegated certain risk
management responsibilities to Executive Directors, and other senior managers within the Trust.
Governance arrangements within the Trust provide for the identification, assessment, analysis and
management of risk at appropriate levels representing a systematic approach to risk management
and thus enabling a fair, responsible and learning culture to develop.
Staff at all levels are required to attend mandatory and statutory training courses relating to key
elements of risk management and are provided with risk management training information at
corporate and local induction sessions. More specific training (for example physical intervention
skills) appropriate to individual roles and responsibilities is provided in accordance with the risk
management and learning and development strategies of the Trust. Staff also have access to risk
specialists employed by the Trust in functions such as health and fire safety, infection control, data
protection, complaints and general risk management.
The Trust seeks to learn from good practice in a number of ways including incident reporting and
reviews, complaints and claims management and the review of safety alerts, the outcomes of
which are cascaded through the Trust’s governance structure and through the publication of
regular bulletins via the Trust intranet and email system. Consequent improvements to systems
and practice are included within service quality improvement plans.
5.1.4 The Risk and Control Framework
The Risk Management Strategy, which was last reviewed and approved by the Board of Directors
in December 2010, describes in detail the approach to risk management and defines clearly where
responsibility lies at each stage of the process.
All staff are required to report risks, including hazards that they encounter in their work, through
well defined incident reporting procedures. Risks are also identified from the review of complaints
and concerns, through clinical and operational audit and research and development activities.
Management’s review of functional control systems against mandated and other standards of good
practice and the ongoing assessment of our performance against plans provide mechanisms for
the identification of clinical, operational, financial, strategic and external risks.
Once identified, risks are recorded and evaluated for their potential to adversely affect service
delivery and the objectives of the Trust. Evaluation of the risk includes an assessment of both the
likelihood of the occurrence and the consequence of the risk being realised, using a risk matrix
adapted from the Australian/New Zealand risk management standard (AS/NZS 4360:1999). The
descriptions allocated to each level of likelihood and consequence within the risk matrix enable a
consistent approach to risk evaluation across the Trust.
The authority to treat risk is determined by the level of risk assigned, and treatment plans will be
reviewed and monitored at relevant managerial levels, both individually, e.g. Service Manager or
Director, and collectively, e.g. Divisional Management Team.
Those risks which are assessed as high level are reported on a regular basis to the Executive
Committee, a sub-committee of the Board of Directors via the high level risk register. This register
includes reference to the risk mitigation plans, the identification of lead directors responsible for the
execution of mitigation plans, indicative timescale for mitigation to be implemented, and an
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assessment of the residual risk. This process enables ongoing review and confirmation of the high
level risks and progress with mitigation.
The high level risk register is regularly reviewed by the Board of Directors, and reports to the
Board of Directors and its sub committees require the identification and assessment of risk to be
included for consideration.
The High Level Risk Register is also presented to and discussed with service commissioners in
service quality review meetings.
The Board of Directors also reviews and approves the Assurance Framework, which identifies the
principal objectives being pursued in furtherance of each strategic objective, and those principal
risks likely to compromise realisation of the objective. In each case the Board of Directors reviews
those controls in place to mitigate the risks, and the source of assurance for each. Any gaps in
control or assurance are identified and action plans put in place to address the gaps. The
assurance framework, and the supporting processes for its production and review, is then subject
to independent review by Internal Audit.
The Executive and Governance Committees regularly receive and review reports which provide an
overview of risk management activity, including incident reporting and analysis, investigations into
serious untoward incidents and complaints management.
The Audit Committee has a key responsibility to review the adequacy of the organisational
systems of risk management and internal control and in so doing considers the adequacy of the
Board Assurance Framework in its entirety and as reviewed by Internal Audit.
Both the Governance and Investment Committees undertake assurance of the high level risks
through their business agendas, the outcome of which is regularly reported to the Board. The
Governance Committee also has a specific duty to review the adequacy of arrangements the Trust
has in place to meet the required standards of Information Governance, as mandated by the
Department of Health.
The Assembly of Governors is actively engaged in the development of the annual plan, and is
alerted to those key risks to the achievement of strategic objectives as identified by the Board of
Directors.
The Board of Directors has identified a number of key risks which are to be managed during the
coming year, and these are detailed elsewhere within the annual report and the annual plan.
However, of those, the most significant include the following:
 an ability to generate recurring efficiency savings to the level required, without impairing the
quality of service provision
 the lack of clear commissioning intentions and the potential adverse affect on mandatory
services and consequent loss of service income
 not maintaining compliance with the CQC registration standards for services provided
 not meeting the performance standards within the NHS Foundation Trust compliance regime
as prescribed by Monitor, the independent regulator of NHS Foundation Trusts
 the demise of models of integrated care, as local authorities seek to retract from established
partnership agreements.
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 continuing high levels of delayed transfers of care caused by lack of local authority
investment will impair the quality of services to patients and prohibit more efficient use of the
Trusts inpatient facilities
Responsibility for the mitigation plans has been agreed for each of the risks and these are
monitored during the year by the Board of Directors. Risk management is an essential element
of the wider quality governance framework within the Trust. The quality strategy, which was
reviewed by the Board of Directors in March 2012, sets out the approach and philosophy
towards achieving its goal to “provide high quality care in the right place at the right time”.
Ultimate responsibility for ensuring the quality and safety of services provided rests with the
Board of Directors, which regularly receives and reviews the quality and risk profiles as published
by the CQC, together with performance reports on quality initiatives and, reports from the
Governance Committee, a sub committee of he Board which has a duty to obtain assurance
as to the delivery of services to the standards of safety and quality expected, be those nationally
or locally determined. In particular, during the year the committee commissioned an internal
audit review of the arrangements in place to meet the requirements of the Quality Governance
Framework as prescribed by Monitor, which provided an opinion of moderate assurance; actions
to address the identified weaknesses have been taken. Additionally, the committee has reviewed
the clinical audit programme for the coming year and will receive updates on exceptional issues
arising from this as part of its normal business agenda.
The Director of Children and Young People’s Services heads the Care Governance function, and
along with the Medical Director and the Director of Nursing and Professional Practice are key
members of the Care Governance Committee which, as a sub group of the Executive Committee
oversees the development and monitoring of the quality governance framework.
Each division has its own care governance group reporting to the divisional management team,
and has representatives on subject specific corporate groups, such as the Infection Control
Committee, the Safeguarding Forum, the Medicines Management Committee and the Essence
of Care Group, thus ensuring consistency in the development of policy. The Clinical Directors
of each division are also members of the corporate Care Governance Committee.
At the interface with Governors, members and the wider public lies the Quality Council, which
meets twice a year and presents an opportunity for Governors and members to learn about and
inform the quality improvement programmes that are to be delivered by each division within the
Trust. These, together with agreed commissioned quality initiatives (CQUINS) and other mandated
and locally agreed quality indicators are reported on within the annual quality report, the
development of which is discussed below.
The Trust is not fully compliant with the registration requirements of the Care Quality Commission.
Following an inspection of adult mental health inpatient services provided at Penn Hospital,
Wolverhampton on 1st August 2011, the Care Quality Commission issued compliance notices in
relation to three service standard areas. The first related to concerns about the adequacy of
staffing levels within the hospital; however, this was challenged by the Trust which was able to
provide evidence that staffing levels were safe and appropriate which was accepted by the CQC.
The second concern centred on arrangements that the Trust had in place to ensure the staff
received appropriate training and support to enable them to continue to safely provide services. A
remedial action plan was immediately initiated by management and evidence of significant
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progress against this plan was reviewed by the CQC which has since confirmed that this fully
addressed its original concerns.
The third area of concern related to the functional suitability of the estate; in addition to minor
concerns which were addressed upon notification, there most significant issue concerns the design
of the ward environment which it has now been agreed to address through a major refurbishment
which will be concluded in spring 2013. The Trust has in place, and continuously reviews, its
governance arrangements for data and information security in accordance with the standards laid
out within the national Information Governance framework. The roles of Caldicott Guardian and
Senior Information Responsible Officer are both undertaken by Executive Directors of the Trust
and the job requirements of other key corporate officers include relevant responsibilities
associated with information and data security. All staff within the Trust receives relevant training at
induction and throughout their employment. Any incidents and/or risks associated with data and
information security are reported and dealt with in accordance with the Trust risk management and
incident reporting policies.
Control measures are in place to ensure that all the organisation’s obligations under equality,
diversity and human rights legislation are complied with. The Board is fully aware of its obligations
under the Equality Act 2010 and has made arrangements to ensure the Trust not only complies
with the legal requirements but more importantly harnesses and embeds the principles of equality
into everyday operations.
Significantly the Trust uses Equality Impact Assessments (EqIA) as a proactive approach to
positively promoting equality, challenging discrimination, and creating accessibility for staff, those
who use our services, and the local community.
Ultimate accountability for ensuring that EqIAs are completed and published lies with the Board of
Directors. An EqIA is carried out whenever the Trust is developing or amending strategies,
policies, projects and services. Managers have a responsibility to complete the EqIA and to ensure
that any other relevant staff are involved in the process so as to provide different perspectives and
challenge the established way of doing things. The EqIA process and accompanying online forms
are kept on the Trust intranet for easy access of all staff.
The Head of Diversity reviews each completed EqIA to ensure they have been completed
appropriately and that it is added to the corporate register. The Head of Diversity also ensures that
any overarching themes which arise are addressed at divisional level and as necessary are
brought to the Equality and Diversity Strategic Group or Executive Committee. It is the
responsibility of the division in which the EqIA has been undertaken, to ensure that any resulting
actions are incorporated into the ongoing delivery and review of services review. All completed
EqIAs are published on the Trust’s intranet and its website as part of our compliance with the
requirements of the Equality Act 2010.
As an employer with staff entitled to membership of the NHS Pension Scheme, control measures
are in place to ensure all employer obligations contained within the Scheme regulations are
complied with. This includes ensuring that deductions from salary, employer’s contributions and
payments into the Scheme are in accordance with the Scheme rules, and the members’ Pension
Scheme records are accurately updated in accordance with the timescales detailed in the
Regulations.
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The Foundation Trust has undertaken risk assessments and carbon reduction delivery plans are in
place in accordance with emergency preparedness and civil contingency requirements, as based on
UKCIP 2009 weather projects, to ensure that this organisation’s obligations under the Climate
Change Act and the Adaptation Reporting requirements are complied with.
5.1.5 Review of Economy, Efficiency and Effectiveness of the Use of Resources
The Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring systems are in place to maintain the economic,
efficient and effective use of resources within the Trust. The Executive Committee, a subcommittee of the Board, whose membership includes Executive Directors, Clinical and Divisional
Directors, meets on a monthly basis to review the performance of the Trust, against the agreed
financial, contractual, service and quality targets as set by the Board of Directors.
The Investment Committee reviews and assures the rationale and adequacy of investment and
cost improvement plans, and their potential impact on the effectiveness of service provision.
An integrated performance report, covering finance, workforce, compliance targets, contractual
targets and service line activity is regularly presented to the Board of Directors, which in turn
approves the quarterly compliance report for submission to Monitor, the Independent Regulator.
The Audit Committee receives regular reports from the Internal Auditors concerning their review of
internal control systems and procedures and the progress of management in implementation of
agreed recommendations. It also receives regular updates on key issues emerging from the work
programme of the Local Counter Fraud Specialist.
5.1.6 Annual Quality Report
The Directors are required under the Health Act 2009 and the National Health Service (Quality
Accounts) Regulations 2010 (as amended) to prepare quality accounts for each financial year.
Monitor has issued guidance to NHS foundation trust boards on the form and content of annual
quality reports which incorporate the above legal requirements in the NHS Foundation Trust
Annual Reporting Manual.
The development of the Quality Report is led by the Director of Children’s and Young Peoples
Services. The report contains performance data on specific measures of quality that have been
agreed by the Board of Directors and Assembly of Governors.
The majority of the measures rely on data and information that is already known and captured by
the Trust in its everyday operations. Some of the metrics used are identical to those used within
the mandated performance targets of the compliance regime, e.g. CPA 7 day follow up and are
subject to the same data and information management policies and validation procedures that the
Trust relies on for its performance reporting.
Where other local and new measures are required, these have been consulted on and the systems
have been developed to ensure correct captured and staff have been trained as necessary in
recording of such data. During the year assurance as to the reliance of these systems has been
provided by internal audit.
The annual quality report has, in accordance with directions by the Secretary of State, also been
shared with local commissioners, involvement networks and overview and scrutiny committees of
local councils, and comments received by these bodies have been included in the report.
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In accordance with directions from Monitor, the external auditors published their limited assurance
report to the Assembly of Governors which for 2010/11 concluded that ‘nothing has come to our
attention that causes us to believe that for the year ended 31st March 201, the content of the
quality report is not in accordance with the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual.’
Review of effectiveness
As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal
control. My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the work of
the internal auditors, and the executive managers within the NHS Foundation Trust who have
responsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal control framework. I have
drawn on the content of the quality report attached to this annual report and other performance
information available to me. My review is also informed by comments made by the external
auditors in their management letter and other reports. I have been advised on the implications of
the result of my review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control by the Board, the Audit
Committee, and other sub committees of the Board, and a plan to address weaknesses and
ensure continuous improvement of the system is in place.
In particular the process applied in maintaining and reviewing the effectiveness of the system of
internal control includes the following:
 the regular reviews of the high level risk register, and the Assurance Framework by the
Board of Directors
 the work of the Audit Committee and in particular its assurance of the adequacy of the Trust
wide systems of risk management and internal control.
 the duties of the Governance Committee (and before that of the Quality Assurance
Committee) in its assurance of quality governance and risk management, and in particular
its review of assurance of the Trust’s compliance against Information Governance
standards.
 the ongoing compliance with the standards of registration with the Care Quality
Commission, as evidenced by its publication of the quality risk profiles for the Trust.
 Internal Audit’s review and assurance of arrangements in place against the elements of the
quality governance framework, as prescribed by Monitor.
 the independent due diligence of acquisitions of services from neighbouring Primary Care
Trusts under the national Transforming Community Services initiative.
 the engagement of independent legal advice in the drafting of business transfer agreements
and service contracts associated with the aforementioned transfer of services.
 the development and implementation of the post acquisition integration plans
 the view of the independent accountant as to the adequacy of the governance
arrangements within the Trust in its report to the independent regulator of NHS Foundation
Trusts prior to the transfer of services from Primary Care Trusts
 the view of the independent regulator of NHS Foundation Trusts in its assessment of risk
associated with the transfer of services
 the role of the Investment Committee (and before that of the Finance Committee) in both
assuring the adequacy of plans to mitigate high level business, financial and strategic risks,
and reviewing the financial and performance reports and forecasts.
 the ongoing application of the risk management strategy and processes by Executive
Directors and other senior management
 the work of the Post Acquisition Review Committee in seeking assurance as to the
implementation of the integration and transformation plans
 the interim report of the External Auditor
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 the work of Internal Audit and specifically the opinion of the Head of Internal Audit which
states ‘that significant assurance can be given that there is a generally sound system of
control designed to meet the organisation’s objectives, and that controls are generally being
applied consistently’
 the in year reports of external inspection agencies, such as the Care Quality ( formerly
Mental Health Act ) Commission
 the work programme of the Local Counter Fraud Specialist
 Ofsted/CQC
 reviews of the adult safeguarding and child protection arrangements
With regard to the specific processes applied in maintaining and reviewing the quality report,
over and above those cited above, these include the:







regular reports on quality metrics to the Board of Directors
ongoing work of the Quality Council
implementation of the Quality Strategy
limited assurance report of the External Auditor
assurance provided by Internal Audit
views and comments received by external organisation

Conclusion
There are no significant internal control issues which have either been identified during the
reporting period, or are anticipated to occur in the future that require disclosure in this statement.

Signed
Chief Executive
Date: 29th May 2012
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Statement of Chief Executive’s responsibilities as the Accounting Officer of
Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust
The NHS Act 2006 states that the Chief Executive is the Accounting Officer of the NHS Foundation
Trust. The relevant responsibilities of the Accounting Officer, including the responsibility for the
propriety and regularity of public finances for which they are answerable, and for the keeping of
proper accounts, are set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum issued
by the Independent Regulator of NHS Foundation Trusts (“Monitor”).
Under the NHS Act 2006, Monitor has directed Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust
to prepare for each financial year a statement of accounts in the form and on the basis set out in
the Accounts Direction. The accounts are prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and
fair view of the affairs of Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust and of its income and
expenditure, total recognised gains and losses and cash flows for the financial year.
In preparing the accounts, the Accounting Officer is required to comply with the requirements of
the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual and in particular to:
 observe the Accounts Direction issued by Monitor, including the relevant accounting and
disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a consistent basis
 make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis
 state whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the NHS Foundation Trust
Annual Reporting Manual have been followed, and disclose and explain any material
departures in the financial statements; and
 prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis
The Accounting Officer is responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the NHS Foundation Trust and to enable
her to ensure that the accounts comply with requirements outlined in the above mentioned Act.
The Accounting Officer is also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the NHS Foundation
Trust and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other
irregularities.
To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the responsibilities set out in
Monitor’s NHS Foundation Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum.

Signed:
Chief Executive
Date: 29th March 2012
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Section 7
Accounts and Associated Notes
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Forward to the Financial Statements
Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust
These financial statements for the year ended 31st March 2012 have been prepared by Black
Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust in accordance with paragraph 24 and 25 of Schedule 7
of the National Health Service Act 2006 in the form which Monitor has, with the approval of the
Treasury, directed.

K. E. Dowman
Chief Executive and Accounting Officer
Date: 29th May 2012
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Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust
Column 1

Column 2

Column 3

Column 4

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Revenue
Operating expenses
Operating surplus/(deficit) for the year

Year Ending
TCS 1 April 2011 - BCP 1 April 2011 Year Ending
31 July 2011
31 March 2012 31 March 2012 31 March 2011
£'000
£'000
£'000
Note
£'000
2
17,130
92,167
109,297
52,246
3
(17,804)
(89,593)
(107,397)
(50,617)
(674)
2,574
1,900
1,629

(674)

(433)
(133)
89
(1,310)
787

(433)
(133)
89
(1,310)
113

(1,705)
(84)
(160)

8
9

(674)

25
(665)
147

25
(665)
(527)

17
(938)
(1,081)

11
11
11
19

-

298
523
48
(252)
617

298
523
48
(252)
617

(906)
715
(191)

764

90

(1,272)

Restructuring costs
Impairments
Reversal of impairments
Loss on the disposal of non-current asset
Operating Surplus/(deficit) for the year before financing

3
11
11
11

Finance income
PDC Dividends payable
Retained surplus / (deficit) for the year
Other comprehensive income
Asset disposals
Reversal of impairments
Revaluations
Actuarial loss on defined benefit pension scheme
Other comprehensive income for the year
Total comprehensive income/(expense) for the year

(674)

All income and expenditure is derived from continuing operations.
Column 1 is in relation to the pre-transforming community service performance of Wolverhampton PCT and Dudley PCT.
Column 2 is in relation to 'old' Sandwell Mental Health and Social Care NHS Foundation Trust including services transferred under Transforming
Community Services for Walsall PCT as at 1 April 2011, Wolverhampton PCT and Dudley PCT as at 1 August 2011.
Column 3 is the combined performance of column 1 and column 2 under merger accounting principles.
The notes on pages 19 to 31 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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B la c k C o unt ry P a rt ne rs hip N H S F o unda t io n T rus t

S T A T E M E N T O F F IN A N C IA L P O S IT IO N
Y e a r E nding 3 1 Year Ended 31M arch Year Ended 31M arch
2011
2010
M a rc h 2 0 12

N o te

£'000

*Restated

*Restated

£'000

£'000

A ssets
N o n- c urre nt a s s e t s
Intangible assets

11

-

13

27

P ro perty, plant and equipment

11

25,075

25,333

25,514

2 5 ,0 7 5

25,346

25,541
3,597

C urre nt a s s e ts
Trade and o ther receivables

12

5,782

2,590

Cash and cash equivalents

13

8,905

3,263

4,912

14 ,6 8 7

5,853

8,509

3 9 ,7 6 2

31,199

34,050

(5,091)

T o t a l a s s e ts
C urre nt lia bilit ie s
Trade and o ther payables

16

( 11,6 0 9 )

(4,484)

P ro visio ns

17

(2 15 )

(38)

(92)

Other liabilities

18

(776)

(611)

(871)

(12 ,6 0 0 )

(5,133)

(6,054)

2 7 ,16 2

26,066

27,996

T o t a l a s s e ts le s s c urre nt lia bilitie s
N o n- c urre nt lia bilit ie s
Lo cal go vernment pensio n liability

19

(7 7 1)

(501)

(1,123)

( 13 ,3 7 1)

(5,634)

(7,177)

2 6 ,3 9 1

25,565

26,873

P ublic dividend capital

16 ,2 4 6

16,246

16,246

Revaluatio n reserve

10 ,2 9 6

9,733

10,638

-

-

-

(484)

(232)

(947)

T o t a l lia bilit ie s
N e t a s s e t s / (lia bilit ie s )
T a xpa ye rs ' e quit y

Do nated asset reserve
Lo cal go vernment pensio n reserve
M erger reserve
Inco me and expenditure reserve
T o t a l t a xpa ye rs ' e quit y

19

736
(403)
2 6 ,3 9 1

-

-

(182)

936

25,565

26,873

*The statement o f financial po sitio n fo r the prio r years has been restated to remo ve the Do nated A sset thro ugh the Inco me and Expenditure Reserve in line with IA S 20 A cco unting
fo r Go vernment Grants and Disclo sure o f Go vernment A ssistance and IA S 8 A cco unting P o licies, Changes in A cco unting Estimates and Erro rs.

The financial statements o n pages 6 to 9 were appro ved by the B o ard o f Directo rs o n 29 M ay 2012 and were signed o n its behalf by:

……………………………………………………………………………………..

Date:………………………………………………………

Karen Do wman, Chief Executive and A cco unting Officer
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Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN TAXPAYERS' EQUITY

Public
Revaluation Donated LA
Merger Income and
Dividend Reserve
Asset
Pension Reserve Expenditure
Capital
Reserve Reserve
Reserve
£'000
£'000
£'000
£'000
£'000
£'000

Total

£'000

2011/12
Taxpayers' Equity at 1 April 2011 - as previously stated
TCS adjustments
Taxpayers' Equity at 1 April 2011 - restated
Surplus/(deficit) for the year
Other comprehensive income:
Reversal of impairments
Revaluation gains / (losses) on property
Asset disposals
Actuarial gains/(losses) on defined benefit pension scheme
Transfers to the income and expenditure account in respect of assets
Public dividend received
Other transfers between reserves
Merger reserve
Total other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income for the year
Balance at 31 March 2012

16,246
16,246
16,246

9,733
9,733
523
48
(8)
563
563
10,296

16,246

10,638

16,246
16,246

10,638
(906)
(906)
(906)
9,733

-

(232)
(232)
-

-

(182)
(182)
(527)
-

-

(252)
(252)
(252)
(484)

-

306
306
(221)
(403)

25,565
25,565
(527)
523
48
298
(252)
736
1,353
826
26,391

336
(336)
-

(947)

901
35
936
(1,082)
(35)
(35)
(1,117)
(182)

27,174
(301)
26,873
(1,082)
(906)
715
(35)
(226)
(1,308)
25,565

736
736
736
736

2010/11
Taxpayers' Equity at 1 April 2010 - as previously stated
Prior period adjustment
Taxpayers' Equity at 1 April 2010 - restated
Surplus/(deficit) for the year
Other comprehensive income:
Revaluation gains / (losses) on property
Asset disposals
Actuarial gains/(losses) on defined benefit pension scheme
The statement of comprehensive income above reflects the organisation
Public dividend received
Other transfers between reserves
Merger reserve
Total other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income for the year
Balance at 31 March 2011

(947)
715
715
715
(232)

-
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B la c k C o unt ry P a rt ne rs hip N H S F o unda t io n T rus t
S T A T E M EN T O F C A S H F LO WS
Ye a r E nding 3 1 Year Ending 31M arch
2011
M a rc h 2 0 12

N o te

£'000

£'000

113

(247)

C a s h f lo ws f ro m o pe ra t ing a c t iv it ie s
Operating surplus/(deficit) fo r the year fro m co ntinuing o peratio ns
N o n c a s h inc o m e a nd e xpe ns e :
Depreciatio n and amo rtisatio n

3

895

799

No n-current asset revaluatio n net lo ss

11

133

1,705

Reversals o f impairments

11

(89)

-

(Increase) / decrease in trade and o ther receivables

12

(3,192)

1,007

Increase / (decrease) in trade and o ther payables

16

7,395

(607)

Increase / (decrease) in o ther liabilities

18

165

(260)

Increase / (decrease) in pro visio ns

17

177

(54)

1,790

57

7 ,3 8 7

2,400

Other mo vements in o perating cashflo ws
N e t c a s h ge ne ra t e d f ro m o pe ra t ing a c t iv it ie s

C a s h f lo ws f ro m inv e s t ing a c t iv it ie s
Interest received

8

25

17

P ayments to acquire pro perty, plant and equipment

11

(1,105)

(3,214)

N e t c a s h us e d in inv e s t ing a c t iv it ie s

( 1,0 8 0 )

(3,197)

C a s h f lo ws f ro m f ina nc ing a c t iv it ie s
P DC dividends received
P DC dividends paid

9

(665)

(938)

N e t c a s h us e d in f ina nc ing a c t iv it ie s

(665)

Inc re a s e / ( de c re a s e ) in c a s h a nd c a s h e quiv a le nt s

5 ,6 4 2

C a s h a nd c a s h e quiv a le nt s a t 1 A pril

3 ,2 6 3

4,912

C a s h a nd c a s h e quiv a le nt s a t 3 1 M a rc h 2 0 12

8 ,9 0 5

3,263

(938)

( 1,7 3 5 )

.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES
1. Accounting policies
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and International Financial
Reporting Committee (IFRIC) interpretations as endorsed by the European Union, applicable at 31 March 2012 and appropriate to Black Country
Partnership NHS Foundation Trust.
Monitor has directed that the financial statements of NHS foundation trusts shall meet the accounting requirements of the NHS Foundation Trust
Annual Reporting Manual which shall be agreed with HM Treasury. Consequently, the following financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with the 2011/12 NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual issued by Monitor.
The accounting policies contained in that manual follow International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and HM Treasury’s 2011/12 Financial
Reporting Manual to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to NHS foundation trusts. The accounting policies have been applied
consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the accounts.
1.1 Accounting convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.
1.2 Merger Accounting
The 2011/12 HM Treasury Financial Reporting Manual states that IFRS 3 Business Combinations excludes from its scope business combinations
where entities are under common control. NHS bodies are considered to be under common control. NHS bodies are therefore required to apply
merger accounting where a transfer of functions between NHS bodies or between NHS bodies and other public sector entities takes place.
Included within the "other movements in operating cash flows" in the Statement of Cash Flows is a balance in relation to the adjustments for merger
accounting. This is included to account for the surplus /deficit for the transferred services incorporated into the Statement of Comprehensive
Income.
1.3 Income recognition
Income in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance occurs and is measured at the fair value of the
consideration receivable. The main source of income for the trust is contracts with commissioners in respect of healthcare services and the main
types of income this relates to are cost and volume income, block contract income and clinical partnerships providing mandatory services.
Where income is received for a specific activity which is to be delivered in the following financial year, that income is deferred.
Income from the sale of non-current assets is recognised only when all material conditions of sale have been met, and is measured as the sums due
under the sale contract.
1.4. Expenditure on Employee Benefits
Short-term employee benefits
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the service is received from employees. The cost of
annual leave entitlement earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial statements to the extent that
employees are permitted to carry-forward leave into the following period.
1.5 Pension costs
NHS Pension Scheme
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. Details of the benefits payable under these provisions
can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.pensions.nhsbsa.nhs.uk. The scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS
employers, general practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of Secretary of State, in England and Wales.
The scheme is not designed to be run in a way that would enable the NHS foundation trust to identify its share of the underlying scheme liabilities.
Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as a defined contribution scheme. The cost to the Trust of participating in the scheme is taken as equal to
the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period. Employer’s pension cost contributions are charged to operating expenses as
and when they become due.
Additional pension liabilities arising from early retirements are not funded by the scheme except where the retirement is due to ill-health. The full
amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to the operating expenses at the time the trust commits itself to the retirement, regardless of
the method of payment.
Local Government Superannuation Scheme
Some employees are members of the Local Government Superannuation Scheme (LGPS) which is a “final salary” defined benefit pension scheme.
The scheme assets and liabilities attributable to these employees can be identified and are recognised in the Trust’s accounts as part of ‘FRS 17
Retirement Benefits’ accounting requirements. The assets are measured at fair value, and the liabilities at the present value of future obligations.
Staff who transferred to the Care Trust on 01 March 2003 from Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council contributes to the LGPS locally administered
by the West Midlands Metropolitan Authorities Pension Fund. From 1 April 2010 to March 2012, the Care Trust paid employer's contribution of
14.5%. The contribution rate is determined by the Fund's actuary based on 3 yearly valuations, with the last review being 31 March 2010.
The LGPS is subject to a full actuarial valuation every three years. Between the full valuations the LGPS is subject to an IAS 19 Employee Benefits
valuation every year.
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The purpose of this valuation in accord with IAS 19 Employee Benefits is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the
LGPS taking into account its recent demographic experience and to recommend the contribution rates to be paid by employers and LGPS
members.
From 1 April 2008, employee’s contributions are on a tiered scale from 5.5% up to 7.5% of their pensionable pay depending on total earnings.
Further information can be found in the Pension Fund's Annual Report which is available on request from The West Midlands Metropolitan
Authorities Pensions Fund, Care of Wolverhampton City Council, Civic Suite, St Peter's Square, Wolverhampton, WV1 1SL or the Fund’s website at
www.wmpfonline.com
The increase or decrease in the liability arising from pensionable service earned during the year is recognised within operating expenses.
Actuarial gains and losses during the year are recognised in the pensions reserve and reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as an
item of ‘other comprehensive income’.
Scheme Provisions as at 31 March 2012
The LGPS is a "final salary" scheme. Annual pensions are normally based on 1/60th of the best of the last 3 years pensionable pay for each year of
service. No lump sum is payable on membership accrued from 1 April 2008 and previous membership rights prior to this date were frozen at that
point with certain protections being applicable to some employees.
Annual increases are applied to pension payments at rates defined by the Pensions (Increase) Act 1971 and are based on changes in consumer
prices (CPI) in the twelve months ending 30 September in a previous calendar year. On death, a pension of 50% of the member's pension is
normally payable to the surviving eligible beneficiaries.
Early payment of a pension, with enhancement, is available to members of the LGPS who are permanently incapable of fulfilling their duties
effectively through illness or infirmity. A death gratuity of three times the final year's pensionable pay for death in service.
For early retirements, other than those due to ill health, the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the LGPS. The full amount of the liability
for the additional costs is charged to the Profit and Loss account at the time the Trust commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of
payment.
The LGPS provides the opportunity to members to increase their benefits through money purchase Additional Voluntary Contributions provided by
an approved life company. Under the arrangement the employee can make contributions to enhance their pension benefits. The benefits payable
relate directly to the value of the investments made.
1.6 Expenditure on other goods and services
Expenditure on goods and services is recognised when, and to the extent that they have been received, and is measured at the fair value of those
goods and services. Expenditure is recognised in operating expenses except where it results in the creation of a non-current asset such as property,
plant and equipment.
1.7 Property, Plant and Equipment
Recognition
Property, Plant and Equipment is capitalised where:
•
•
•
•

It is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes;
It is probable that future economic benefits will flow or service potential be provided
It is expected to be used for more than one financial year; and
The cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Tangible assets are capitalised if they are capable of being used for a period which exceeds one year and they:
•

Individually have a cost of at least £5,000; or

•

Collectively have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than £250, where the assets are functionally
interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to have simultaneous disposal dates and are under single
managerial control; or

•

Form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward or unit irrespective of their individual or collective cost.

Measurement
Valuation
All property, plant and equipment assets are measured initially at cost (for leased assets at fair value), representing the costs directly attributable to
acquiring or constructing the asset and bringing it to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management. All assets are measured subsequently at fair value.
Land and Buildings are restated to current value by undergoing a full valuation by external professionally qualified valuers every five years with an
interim valuation to take place annually. The interim valuation is carried out by external professionally qualified valuers unless the Trust can provide
sufficient evidence that the valuation could be carried out by a professionally qualified valuer employed by the Trust.
Valuations are carried out by professionally qualified valuers having regard to International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as applied to the
United Kingdom public sector and in accordance with HM Treasury guidance, International Valuation Standards and the requirements of the Royal
Institute of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) Valuation Standards – Global and UK (7th Edition).
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An interim valuation has been undertaken on 31 January 2012 on Trust properties with inspection being carried out only on properties that have
been subject to physical changes completed, or programmed to be so, between 31 January 2011 and 31 January 2012.
Operational equipment is carried at current value. Where assets are of low value and, or have short useful economic lives, they are carried at
depreciated historic cost as a proxy for current value.
Subsequent expenditure
Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its original specification, the directly attributable cost is added to the asset’s carrying
value. Where subsequent expenditure is simply restoring the asset to the specification assumed by its economic useful life then the expenditure is
charged to operating expenses.
Where a component of an asset is replaced, the cost of the replacement is capitalised if it meets the criteria for recognition above. The carrying
amount of the part replaced is de-recognised. Other expenditure that does not generate additional future economic benefits or service potential,
such as repairs and maintenance is charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the period in which it is incurred.
Depreciation
Freehold land is considered to have an infinite life and is not depreciated. Items of Property, Plant and Equipment are depreciated over their
remaining useful economic lives in a manner consistent with the consumption of economic or service delivery benefits. The useful economic lives of
assets are reviewed on an annual basis and the effects of any change are recognised on a prospective basis. The economic life applied to buildings
is dependent on the building it relates to.
In accordance with IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment the Trust uses the following economic lives to depreciate its assets on a component
basis:
Estimated useful economic lives

Buildings (excluding dwellings
Plant and Machinery
Information Technology
Furniture and Fittings

Minimum life
Years
14
5
5
7

Maximum life
Years
39
15
8
10

Revaluation gains and losses
Revaluation gains are recognised in the revaluation reserve, except where, and to the extent that, they reverse a revaluation decrease that has
previously been recognised in operating expenses, in which case they are recognised in operating income.
Revaluation losses are charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is an available balance for the asset concerned, and thereafter are
charged to operating expenses.
Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as an item of ‘other comprehensive
income’.
Impairments
In accordance with the Monitor FT Annual Reporting Manual, impairments that are due to a loss of economic benefits or service potential in the
asset are charged to operating expenses. A compensating transfer is made from the revaluation reserve to the income and expenditure reserve of
an amount equal to the lower of (i) the impairment charged to operating expenses; and (ii) the balance in the revaluation reserve attributable to that
asset before the impairment.
An impairment arising from a loss of economic benefit or service potential is reversed when, and to the extent that, the circumstances that gave rise
to the loss is reversed. Reversals are recognised in operating income to the extent that the asset is restored to the carrying amount it would have
had if the impairment had never been recognised. Any remaining reversal is recognised in the revaluation reserve. Where, at the time of the original
impairment, a transfer was made from the revaluation reserve to the income and expenditure reserve, an amount is transferred back to the
revaluation reserve when the impairment reversal is recognised.
Other impairments are treated as revaluation losses. Reversals of ‘other impairments’ are treated as revaluation gains.
De-recognition
Assets intended for disposals are reclassified as ‘Held for Sale’ once all of the following criteria are met:
•
the asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only to terms which are usual and customary for such sales;
•

the sale must be highly probable i.e.:
o

management are committed to a plan to sell the asset;

o

an active programme has begun to find a buyer and complete the sale;

o

the asset is being actively marketed at a reasonable price;

o

the sale is expected to be completed within 12 months of the date of classification as ‘Held for Sale’; and

o

the actions needed to complete the plan indicate it is unlikely that the plan will be dropped or significant changes made to it.
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Following reclassification, the assets are measured at the lower of their existing carrying amount and their ‘fair value less costs to sell’. Depreciation
ceases to be charged. Assets are de-recognised when all material sale contract conditions have been met.
Property, plant and equipment which is to be scrapped or demolished does not qualify for recognition as ‘Held for Sale’ and instead is retained as an
operational asset and the asset’s economic life is adjusted. The asset is de-recognised when scrapping or demolition occurs.
Donated, government grant and other grant funded assets
Donated and grant funded property, plant and equipment assets are capitalised at their fair value on receipt. The donation or grant is credited to
income at the same time, unless the donor has imposes a condition that the future economic benefits embodied in the grant are to be consumed in
a manner specified by the donor, in which case, the donation or grant is deferred within liabilities and is carried forward to future financial years to
the extent that the condition has not yet been met.
The donated and grant funded assets are subsequently accounted for in the same manner as other items of property, plant and equipment.
The 2010/11 figures in the accounts which have been restated under IAS 20 Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of Government
Assistance and have been indicated as "*restated" throughout the financial statements. The new approach represents a change in accounting policy
and therefore the new policy applies retrospectively, through a prior period adjustment, in accordance with IAS 8.
1.8 Intangible assets
Recognition
Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance which are capable of being sold separately from the rest of the Trust’s
business or which arise from contractual or other legal rights. They are recognised only where it is probable that future economic benefits will flow
to, or service potential be provided to the Trust and where the cost of the asset can be measured reliably.
Intangible assets are capitalised when they are capable of being used in the Trust's activities for more than one year; they can be valued, and they
have a cost of at least £5,000.
Purchased computer software licences are capitalised as intangible fixed assets where expenditure of at least £5,000 is incurred. They are
amortised over the shorter of the term of the licence and their useful economic lives.
Internally generated intangible assets
Internally generated goodwill, brands, mastheads, publishing titles, customer lists and similar items are not capitalised as intangible assets.
Expenditure on research is not capitalised.
Expenditure on development is capitalised only where all of the following can be demonstrated:
•

the project is technically feasible to the point of completion and will result in an intangible asset for sale or use;

•

the trust intends to complete the asset and sell or use it;

•

the trust has the ability to sell or use the asset;

•

how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic or service delivery benefits e.g. the presence of a market for it or its
output, or where it is to be used for internal use, the usefulness of the asset;

•

adequate financial, technical and other resources are available to the trust to complete the development and sell or use the asset; and

•

the trust can measure reliably the expenses attributable to the asset during development.

Software
Software which is integral to the operation of hardware e.g. an operating system, is capitalised as part of the relevant item of property, plant and
equipment. Software which is not integral to the operation of hardware e.g. application software, is capitalised as an intangible asset.
Measurement
Intangible assets are recognised initially at cost, comprising all directly attributable costs needed to create, produce and prepare the asset to the
point that it is capable of operating in the manner intended by management.
Subsequently intangible assets are measured at fair value. Increases in asset values arising from revaluations are recognised in the revaluation
reserve, except where and to the extent that they reverse impairment previously recognised in operating expenses, in which case they are
recognised in operating income.
Decreases in asset values and impairments are charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is an available balance for the asset
concerned, and thereafter are charged to operating expenses. Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported in the Statement
of Comprehensive Income as an item of ‘other comprehensive income’.
Intangible assets held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount or ‘fair value less costs to sell’.
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Amortisation
Intangible assets are amortised over their expected useful economic lives in a manner consistent with the consumption of economic or service
delivery benefits and charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
Revenue government and other grants
Government grants are grants from Government bodies other than income from primary care trusts or NHS trusts for the provision of services. .
Where a grant is used to fund revenue expenditure it is taken to the Statement of Comprehensive Income to match that expenditure.
Protected and non-protected assets
Property needed for the purposes of providing mandatory goods and services and mandatory training and education is protected.
The Trust may not dispose any protected property without the approval of Monitor.
The Trust shall establish and maintain an asset register in respect of protected property, in accordance with guidance to be issued by Monitor.
Assets which are not required for the provision of mandatory goods and services and the mandatory training and education are not protected and
may be disposed of by the Trust without the approval of Monitor.
1.9 Financial instruments and financial liabilities
Recognition
Financial assets and financial liabilities which arise from contracts for the purchase or sale of non-financial items (such as goods or services), which
are entered into in accordance with the Trust’s normal purchase, sale or usage requirements, are recognised when, and to the extent which
performance occurs i.e. when receipt or delivery of the goods or services is made.
De-recognition
All financial assets are de-recognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the assets have expired or the Trust has transferred substantially
all of the risks and rewards of ownership.
Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or expires.
Classification and Measurement
Financial assets are categorised as ‘Fair Value through Income and Expenditure’, Loans and receivables or ‘Available-for-sale financial assets’.
Financial liabilities are classified as ‘Fair value through Income and Expenditure’ or as ‘Other Financial liabilities’.
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments with are not quoted in an active market. They are
included in current assets. The Trust’s loans and receivables comprise: current investments, cash and cash equivalents, NHS receivables, accrued
income and ‘other receivables’.
Loans and receivables are recognised initially at fair value, net of transactions costs, and are measured subsequently at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts exactly estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the
financial asset, or when appropriate a shorter period, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.
Interest on loans and receivables is calculated using the effective interest method and credited to the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
Other financial liabilities
All other financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and measured subsequently at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.
The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts exactly estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the financial liability, or
when appropriate a shorter period, to the net carrying amount of the financial liability.
They are included in current liabilities except for amounts payable more than 12 months after the Statement of Financial Position date, which are
classified as long-term liabilities.
Interest on financial liabilities carried at amortised cost is calculated using the effective interest method and charged to Finance Costs. Interest on
financial liabilities taken out to finance property, plant and equipment or intangible assets is not capitalised as part of the cost of those assets.
Impairment of financial assets
At the Statement of Financial Position date, the Trust assesses whether any financial assets, other than those held at ‘fair value through profit and
loss’ are impaired. Financial assets are impaired and impairment losses are recognised if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a
result of one or more events which occurred after the initial recognition of the asset and which has an impact on the estimated future cash-flows of
the asset.
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1.10 Finance leases
Where substantially all risks and rewards of ownership of a leased asset are borne by the NHS foundation trust, the asset is recorded as property,
plant and equipment and a corresponding liability is recorded. The value at which both are recognised is the lower of the fair value of the asset or
the present value of the minimum lease payments, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease.
The asset and liability are recognised at the commencement of the lease. Thereafter the asset is accounted for an item of property plant and
equipment.
The annual rental is split between the repayment of the liability and a finance cost so as to achieve a constant rate of finance over the life of the
lease. The annual finance cost is charged to Finance Costs in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. The lease liability, is de-recognised when
the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires.
1.11 Operating Leases
Land operating leases - Trust as lessee
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land component is separated from the building component and the classification for each is assessed
separately.
Building operating leases - Trust as lessee
Building operating lease rentals are charged to operating expenses on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Operating lease incentives
received are added to the lease rentals and charged to operating expenses over the life of the lease.
1.12 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash, bank and overdraft balances are recorded at the current values of these balances in the NHS Foundation Trust's cash book. These balances
exclude monies held in the Foundation Trust's bank account belonging to patients (see "third party assets" – note 14 below).
Account balances are only set off where a formal agreement has been made with the bank to do so. In all other cases overdrafts are disclosed
within other creditors. Interest earned on bank accounts and interest charged on overdrafts is recorded as, respectively, "finance income" and
"finance cost" in the periods to which they relate. Bank charges are recorded as an operating expense in the periods to which they relate.
1.13 Provisions
The NHS foundation trust recognises a provision where it has a present legal or constructive obligation of uncertain timing or amount; for which it is
probable that there will be a future outflow of cash or other resources; and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount. The amount recognised
in the Statement of Financial Position is the best estimate of the resources required to settle the obligation.
Where the effect of the time value of money is significant, the estimated risk-adjusted cash flows are discounted using HM Treasury’s discount rate
of 2.2% in real terms, except for early retirement provisions and injury benefit provisions which both use the HM Treasury’s pension discount rate of
2.9% (2010/11 2.9%) in real terms.
Clinical negligence costs
The NHS Litigation Authority (NHSLA) operates a risk pooling scheme under which the NHS foundation trust pays an annual contribution to the
NHSLA, which, in return settles all clinical negligence claims. Although the NHSLA is administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases,
the legal liability remains with the NHS foundation trust. The total value of clinical negligence provisions carried by the NHSLA on behalf of the NHS
foundation trust is disclosed at note 21 but is not recognised in the NHS foundation trust’s accounts.
Non-clinical risk pooling
The NHS foundation trust participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are risk pooling schemes
under which the trust pays an annual contribution to the NHS Litigation Authority and in return receives assistance with the costs of claims arising.
The annual membership contributions, and any ‘excesses’ payable in respect of particular claims are charged to operating expenses when the
liability arises.
1.14 Contingencies
Contingent assets
These are assets arising from past events whose existence will only be confirmed by one or more future events not wholly within the entity’s control
are not recognised as assets.
Contingent liabilities
These liabilities are not recognised, but are disclosed in note 21, unless the probability of a transfer of economic benefits is remote. Contingent
liabilities are defined as:
Possible obligations arising from past events whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not
wholly within the entity’s control; or
Present obligations arising from past events but for which it is not probable that a transfer of economic benefits will arise or for which the amount of
the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.
1.15 Public dividend capital
At any time the Secretary of State can issue new public dividend capital to, and request payment of public dividend capital from the Trust. Public
Dividend Capital (PDC) is a type of public sector equity finance based on the excess of assets over liabilities at the time of establishment of the
predecessor NHS trust. HM Treasury has determined that PDC is not a financial instrument within the meaning of IAS 32.
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A charge, reflecting the cost of capital utilised by the NHS foundation trust, is payable as public dividend capital dividend. The charge is calculated
at the rate set by HM Treasury (currently 3.5%) on the average relevant net assets of the NHS foundation trust during the financial year.
Relevant net assets are calculated as the value of all assets less the value of all liabilities, except for (i) donated assets (including lottery funded
assets), (ii) net cash balances held with the Government Banking Services (GBS), excluding cash balances held in GBS accounts that relate to a
short-term working capital facility, and (iii) any PDC dividend balance receivable or payable.
In accordance with the requirements laid down by the Department of Health (as the issuer of PDC), the dividend for the year is calculated on the
actual average relevant net assets as set out in the ‘pre-audit’ version of the annual accounts. The dividend thus calculated is not revised should
any adjustment to net assets occur as a result the audit of the annual accounts.
1.16. Value Added Tax
Most of the activities of the Trust are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and input tax on purchases is not
recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. Where
output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.
1.17 Foreign exchange
The functional and presentational currencies of the trust are sterling.
A transaction which is denominated in a foreign currency is translated into the functional currency at the spot exchange rate on the date of the
transaction.
Where the trust has assets or liabilities denominated in a foreign currency at the Statement of Financial Position date:


monetary items (other than financial instruments measured at ‘fair value through income and expenditure’) are translated at the spot
exchange rate on 31 March;



non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at historical cost are translated using the spot exchange rate at the date of the transaction;
and



non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at fair value are translated using the spot exchange rate at the date the fair value was
determined.

Exchange gains or losses on monetary items arising on settlement of the transaction or on re-translation at the Statement of Financial Position date
are recognised in income or expense in the period in which they arise.
Exchange gains or losses on non-monetary assets and liabilities are recognised in the same manner as other gains and losses on these items.
1.18 Third party assets
Assets belonging to third parties (such as money held on behalf of patients) are not recognised in the accounts since the NHS foundation trust has
no beneficial interest in them. However, they are disclosed in a separate note to the accounts (see note 14 below) in accordance with the
requirements of HM Treasury’s 2011-12 Financial Reporting Manual.
1.19 Losses and special payments
Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the health service or passed
legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to special control procedures compared with the
generality of payments. They are divided into different categories, which govern the way that individual cases are handled.
Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis, including losses which would
have been made good through insurance cover had NHS trusts not been bearing their own risks (with insurance premiums then being included as
normal revenue expenditure).
However the losses and special payments note is compiled directly from the losses and compensations register which reports on an accrual basis
with the exception of provisions for future losses. (See note 25 below).
1.20 Accounting judgements and estimation uncertainty
In the application of the trust’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors, which are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from those estimates. The estimates and
underlying assumptions are continually reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.
1.21 Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
In the application of the Trust’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from those estimates and the estimates and
underlying assumptions are continually reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.
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The main areas which require the exercise of judgement are in accounting for:




Valuation of non-current assets
Actuarial assumptions in respect of post-employment benefits; and
Assumptions underlying the likelihood and outcome of material provisions

1.22 Accounting standards that have been issued but have not yet been adopted
The following accounting standards, amendments and interpretations have been issued by the IASB and IFRIC but are not yet required to be
adopted by the European Union (EU):
Standard

Adopted by
EU

Changes that apply from 1 July 2011 – 2011/12
Amendment to IFRS 1, ‘First-time adoption’ – exemption for severe hyperinflation and removal of fixed
dates
Amendment to IFRS 7, ‘Financial instruments: Disclosures’ – disclosures on transfers of financial
assets
Changes that apply from 1 January 2012 – 2011/12
Amendment to IAS 12, Income taxes’ – deferred tax accounting for investment properties
Changes that apply from 1 July 2012 – 2012/13
Amendment to IAS 1, ‘Presentation of financial statements’ – presentation of items of other
comprehensive income
Changes that apply from 1 January 2013 – 2012/13
IAS 19 (revised), ‘Employee benefits’

X
√

Early-adoption status

Early
adoption
permitted
Early
adoption
permitted

is
is

X

Early
adoption
permitted

is

X

Early
adoption
permitted

is

X

Early
adoption
permitted
Early
adoption
permitted
Early
adoption
permitted
Early
adoption
permitted
Early
adoption
permitted
Early
adoption
permitted
Early
adoption
permitted
Early
adoption
permitted
Early
adoption
permitted
Early
adoption
permitted

is

IAS 27 (revised), ‘Separate financial statements’

X

IAS 28 (revised), ‘Associates and joint ventures’

X

Amendment to IFRS 1, ‘First-time adoption’ – government loans

X

Amendment to IFRS 7, ‘Financial instruments: Disclosures’

X

IFRS 10, ‘Consolidated financial statements’

X

IFRS 11, ‘Joint arrangements’

X

IFRS 12, ‘Disclosure of interests in other entities’

X

IFRS 13, ‘Fair value measurement’

X

IFRIC 20, ‘Stripped costs in the production phase of a surface mine’

X

Changes that apply from 1 January 2014 – 2013/14
IAS 32, ‘Financial instruments: Presentation’

X

Early
adoption
permitted

is

Changes that apply from 1 January 2015 – 2014/15
IFRIC 9, ‘Financial instruments’ – classification of financial assets and financial liabilities

X

Early
adoption
permitted

is

Changes published

Effective for future financial years
Published by
IASB

IAS 12 Income Taxes amendment
IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures – amendment:
Transfers of financial assets
IAS 1 Presentation of financial statements, on other
comprehensive income (OCI)
IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements
IAS 28 Associates and joint ventures
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments –
Financial Assets
Financial Liabilities
IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements
IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements
IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement

Effective date of 2012/13
Effective date of 2012/13

Jun 2011

Effective date of 2013/14

May 2011
May 2011

Effective date of 2013/14
Effective date of 2013/14
Uncertain. Not likely to be adopted
by the EU until the ISAB has
finished the rest of its financial
instruments project.
Effective date of 2013/14
Effective date of 2013/14
Effective date of 2013/14
Effective date of 2013/14

Oct 2010
May 2011
May 2011
May 2011
May 2011

is
is
is
is
is
is
is
is

Financial year for which the
change first applies

Dec 2010
Oct 2010

Nov 2009

is
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The Trust has considered the above new standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards that are yet effective and concluded
that they are either not relevant to the Trust or that they would not have a significant impact on the Trust’s financial statements, apart from some
additional disclosures.
1.23 Accounting standards, amendments and interpretations issued that have been adopted early
The Trust has not early adopted any new accounting standards, amendments or interpretations.
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Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
2. Segmental Analysis
The Board (the Chief Operating Decision Maker as defined by IFRS 8 Operating Segments) has determined that the Trust operates one material business segment,
which is the provision of healthcare services. The operating results of this segment are regularly reviewed by the Board.
The provision of healthcare (including medical treatment, research and education) is within one main geographical segment, the United kingdom, and materially from
Departments of HM Government in England.
Revenue from activities (medical treatment of patients) is analysed by revenue source and revenue type in note 2 to the financial statements on page 19. Other
operating revenue is also analysed in note 2 to the financial statements on page 19 and materially consists of revenues from healthcare research and development,
medical education and the provision of services to other NHS bodies. Total revenue by individual customers within the whole of HM Government and considered
material, is disclosed in the related parties transactions note 23 to the financial statements on page 28.
The percentage of total revenue receivable from within the whole of HM Government is disclosed below. The significant factor behind which is the 'mandatory services
requirement' (NHS healthcare), as set out in the Trust's Terms of Authorisation from Monitor and defined by legislation.
2.1 Total revenue

Revenue from activites
Other operating revenue
Total revenue

TCS 1 April 2011 - BCP 1 April 2011 - Year Ending
31 July 2011
31 March 2012 31 March 2012
£'000
16,907
87,996
104,903
223
4,171
4,394
17,130
92,167
109,297

2.2. Revenue from Activities - by Source

Foundation Trusts
NHS Trusts
Department of Health
Strategic Health Authorities
Primary Care Trusts
Local Authorities
NHS Other
Non-NHS Other
Total

183
69
26
65
16,208
252
104
16,907

421
511
68
70,976
15,778
2
240
87,996

Year Ending
31 March 2012
£'000
604
580
26
133
87,184
16,030
2
344
104,903

Year Ending
31 March 2011
£'000
49,321
2,925
52,246

%
94%
6%
100%

Year Ending
31
March
2011
£'000
%
44
1%
527
1%
0%
0%
40,507
83%
8,184
15%
59
0%
0%
100%
49,321

%
0%
1%
0%
0%
82%
17%
0%
0%
100%

%
32%
54%
8%
6%
0%
100%

Year Ending
31 March 2011
£'000
33,355
8,987
6,979
49,321

%
68%
18%
14%
0%
0%
100%

%
0%
0%
50%
0%
0%
0%
0%
50%
100%

Year Ending
31 March 2011
£'000
1,484
1,441
2,925

%
0%
0%
51%
0%
0%
0%
0%
49%
100%

%
96%
4%
100%

A breakdown of the income received from Primary Care Trusts and Local Authorities is provided in note 23 on page 28
2.3 Revenue from Activities - by Type

Cost and volume contract revenue
Block contract revenue
Clinicial partnerships providing mandatory services
Community Trusts - income from PCTs
Community Trusts - income from non PCTs
Total

TCS 1 April 2011 - BCP 1 April 2011 - Year Ending
31 July 2011
31 March 2012 31 March 2012
£'000
33,578
33,578
16,372
40,356
56,728
416
7,913
8,329
105
5,995
6,100
14
154
168
16,907
87,996
104,903

All of the above revenue from activities arises from mandatory services as set out in the Trust's Terms of Authorisation from Monitor.
2.4 Other Operating Revenue

Education and research
Research and development
Education and training
Charitable and other contributions to expenditure
Transfers from donated asset reserve
Non-patient care services to other bodies
Rental revenue
Other revenue
Total

TCS 1 April 2011 - BCP 1 April 2011 - Year Ending
31 July 2011
31 March 2012 31 March 2012
£'000
13
13
204
1,986
2,190
19
2,172
2,191
223
4,171
4,394

Revenue from activities, education and and research arises from mandatory services as set out in the Trust's Term's of reference. Revenue is almost totally from the
supply of services.
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Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
3. Operating expenses

Services from NHS Foundation Trusts
Services from NHS Trusts
Services from PCTs
Purchases of healthcare from non-NHS bodies
Employee expenses- executive directors
Employee expenses- non-executive directors
Employee expenses- staff
Drug costs
Supplies and services- clinical (excluding drugs costs)
Supplies and services- general
Establishment
Transport
Premises
Increase / (decrease) in provision for impairment of receivables
Increase in other provisions
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment
Amortisation on intangible assets
Audit services- statutory audit
Audit services- regulatory reporting
Legal fees
Consultancy
Training, courses and conferences
Patient travel
Car parking and security
Redundancy
Hospitality
Insurance
Other services. Eg external payroll
Loss, ex gratia and special payments
Other expenses
Total Operating expenses

TCS 1 April 2011 - BCP 1 April 2011 Year Ending
31 July 2011
31 March 2012 31 March 2012
£'000
£'000
£'000
169
169
443
443
3
3
41
3,087
3,128
7
899
906
100
100
12,892
66,577
79,469
196
1,442
1,638
193
190
383
29
1,129
1,158
342
2,305
2,647
45
132
177
3,914
9,489
13,403
201
201
54
54
882
882
13
13
115
115
11
11
2
145
147
73
515
588
44
424
468
2
308
310
2
26
28
328
328
1
9
10
3
281
284
116
116
26
26
18
174
192
17,804
89,593
107,397

%
0%
1%
0%
3%
1%
0%
74%
2%
0%
1%
2%
0%
12%
0%
0%
1%
0%
0%
0%
0%
1%
1%
0%
0%
0%
0%
1%
0%
0%
0%
100%

Year Ending
31 March 2011
£'000
168
350
42
2,909
943
97
36,450
1,373
80
938
1,132
9
3,763
13
785
14
86
109
301
193
277
64
9
120
104
38
250
50,617

%
0%
1%
0%
6%
2%
0%
72%
3%
0%
2%
2%
0%
7%
0%
0%
2%
0%
0%
0%
0%
1%
1%
1%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
100%

The Trust's contract with its external auditors, KPMG LLP, provides for a limitation of the auditors liability of five hundred thousand pounds sterling.
3.1 Restructuring costs
Following Transforming Community Services the Trust went through a restructuring process resulting in the removal of 7 posts, 4 from Childrens, Young People and
Families division and 3 from Corporate amounting to £433k .
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4. Operating leases
4.1 As lessee - payments recognised in operating expenses

Total

TCS 1 April 2011 - BCP 1 April 2011 Year Ending
31 July 2011
31 March 2012 31 March 2012
£'000
£'000
£'000
146
5,083
5,229

Year Ending
31 March 2011
£'000
1,547

4.2 Total future minimum operating lease payments payable
Buildings

Not later than one year
Between one and five years
After 5 years
Total

5,805
4,224
6,339
16,368

Other

Year Ending
31 March 2012
£'000
318
6,123
456
4,680
6,339
774
17,142

%
36%
27%
37%
100%

Annual Rent
£'000
7
0
0
1
64
29
257
57
6
1
852
3
88
1
42
36
35
195
67
0
38
37
220
704
18
40
27
641
9
11
7
21
14
65
14
21
6
54
2
8
256
18
1,398
17
76
8
245
87
2
5,805

%
0%
0%
0%
0%
1%
0%
4%
1%
0%
0%
15%
0%
2%
0%
1%
1%
1%
3%
2%
0%
2%
1%
4%
12%
0%
1%
0%
11%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
2%
0%
0%
0%
2%
0%
0%
4%
0%
24%
0%
1%
0%
4%
1%
0%
100%

Year Ending
31 March 2011
£'000
1,460
5,153
9,553
16,166

%
9%
32%
59%
100%

The trust holds the following operating leases on its properties:
Operating lease buildings
323 High Street
Alfred Square Clinic
Ashmore Park Health
Bliston Clinic
Brooklands
Corner House Mental Health Resource Centre
Gem Children Centre
Horizon house
Mayfields Centre
Pendeford Health Clinic
Penn Hospital
Phoenix Centre
Pond Lane
Primrose Clinic
Regent house
Simpson Street
St Johns House
Steps to Health
West Park Hotel
Whitmore Reans
Hill Crest
St Michaels Court
Delta House
PFI - Hallam St
LIFT Birmingham
LIFT Oldbury
LIFT Whiteheath
Brierly Hill H&Scc
Central Clinic
Churchvale
Coseley Health and Family Centre
Croft Mental Health Resource Centre
Cross Street Health Centre
Falcon House
Feldon lane Clinic
Halesowen Health Centre
Kingswinford Health Centre
Ladies Walk
Lower Gornal Health Centre
Netherton Health Centre
Orchards Hill
Quarry Bank
Ridge Hill Centre
St James Medical Practice
Step Rehabilatation (Suttons Drive)
Stepping Stones
Stourbridge H&Scc
Sunflower Centre
The Greens
Total annual operating lease costs
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5. Employee costs and numbers

5.1 Employee costs

Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Pension cost - defined contribution plans
Pension cost - other contributions
Agency/contract staff
Total

5.2 Average number of persons employed

Medical and dental
Administration and estates
Healthcare assistants and other support staff
Nursing, midwifery and health visiting staff
Scientific, therapeutic and technical staff
Bank and agency staff
Other
Total

TCS 1 April
2011 - 31 July
2011
£'000
9,637
930
1,332
21
979
12,899

BCP 1 April
Year Ending
2011 - 31
Year Ending
March 2012 31 March 2012 31 March 2011
£'000
£'000
£'000
53,898
30,472
63,535
4,205
2,434
5,135
6,023
3,269
7,355
97
109
118
3,581
1,109
4,560
67,804
80,703
37,393

TCS 1 April
2011 - 31 July
2011
Number
33
187
240
322
132
94
11
1,019

BCP 1 April
Year Ending
2011 - 31
Year Ending
March 2012 31 March 2012 31 March 2011
Number
Number
Number
75
84
51
348
409
220
408
470
251
498
628
263
203
243
113
165
131
74
26
23
22
1,723
1,988
994

5.3 Directors remuneration

Directors remuneration
Employers contributions to the pensions scheme

Total number of directors to whom benefits are accruing under:
Money purchase schemes
Defined benefit schemes

Year Ending
Year Ending
31 March 2012 31 March 2011
£'000
£'000
1,590
1,506
133
125

Number

Number

12

10

Full details of Directors' remuneration and interests are set out in the Directors' Remuneration Report which is a part of the annual report
and financial statements.
5.4 Early retirements due to ill-health
During the year there was 2 early retirements on the grounds of ill-health (year ended 31 March 2011 - 0). The estimated additional pension
liabilities of these ill-health retirements will be £227k (year ended 31 March 2011 £0). This information has been supplied by NHS Pension
and the costs of these early ill-health retirements will be borne by NHS Pension.

5.5 Exit packages

Number of
compulsory
Reporting of other compensation schemes - exit packages 2011/12 redundancies
Number
Exit package cost band (including any special payment element)
<£10,000
8
£10,001 - £25,000
5
£25,001 - 50,000
7
£50,001 - £100,000
5
£100,001 - £150,000
1
£150,001 - £200,000
>£200,001
26
Total

Cost of
Total number
compulsory
of exit
Total cost of
redundancies
packages
exit packages
£000s
Number
£000s
45
8
45
106
5
106
236
7
236
285
5
285
131
1
131
803
26
803

Number of
compulsory
Reporting of other compensation schemes - exit packages 2010/11 redundancies
Number
Exit package cost band (including any special payment element)
<£10,000
£10,001 - £25,000
£25,001 - 50,000
1
£50,001 - £100,000
£100,001 - £150,000
£150,001 - £200,000
>£200,001
1
Total

Cost of
Total number
compulsory
of exit
Total cost of
redundancies
packages
exit packages
£000s
Number
£000s
36
1
36
36
1
36

5.6 Fair pay multiple
The Trust is required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the highest-paid director in their organisation and the median
remuneration of the organisation’s workforce.
The median remuneration of the reporting entity’s staff is the total remuneration of the staff member(s) lying in the middle of the linear
distribution of the total staff, excluding the highest paid director. This is based on annualised, full-time equivalent remuneration as at the
reporting period date.
The banded remuneration of the highest-paid director in Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust in the 2011-12 financial year is
£120k-£125k. This is 6 times the median remuneration of the workforce, which is £20,376.
In 2011-12 there were 4 employees that received remuneration in excess of the highest-paid director. Remuneration ranged from £125k to
£147k. These are all consultant staff members.
Total remuneration includes salary and benefits-in-kind It does not include employer pension contributions and the cash equivalent transfer
value of pensions.
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6. Private Finance Initiative scheme (PFI)
The overall Scheme sees the Trust entering into a Project Agreement with Ryhurst for a period of 25 years for the provision of serviced Acute Mental
Health facilities. The facilities, Hallam Street Hospital, have been constructed by Ryhurst on land in the ownership of the Trust.
The facilities comprise:
1. A Resource Centre for use by Inpatients and other Patients attending on a day basis.
2. Five residential blocks including a small Learning Disabilities bungalow.
Within the Project Agreement Ryhurst provide the following services for the Trust:
1. Domestic Services

4. Portering Services

2. Catering Services

5. Site Security Services

3. Laundry and Linen Services

6. Maintenance Services

Within the main agreement a payment mechanism has been agreed, with the Trust paying a single monthly payment. The payment mechanism has the
following main features:

1. An availability element - the unitary payment for the availability of serviced facilities.
2. Service failure reductions - reductions to the availability element for failures of performance in delivering services; and
3. A variable element - to reflect variations from budgeted volumes of patient activity for catering and linen.
The contract has an operating phase of 25 years, at the end of which the Trust does not have the right to acquire the asset. At Year 25, the Trust has
the option to continue using the assets should the health need remain on terms to be agreed and negotiated.
The Scheme Operator has accounted for the Scheme as an asset on its own Statement of Financial Position.
The Scheme has resulted in no Guarantees, Commitments or other rights and obligations beyond the contract end in October 2023.
6.1 Off-Statement of Financial Position PFI scheme charges to operating expenses
Year Ending
31 March 2012
£'000
1,432

Year Ending
31 March
2011
£'000
1,398

Within one year
2nd to 5th years (inclusive)
Later than five years
Total PFI scheme commitments

Year Ending
31 March 2012
£'000
1,284
5,279
9,841
16,404

Year Ending
31 March
2011
£'000
1,270
5,221
11,184
17,675

6.3 Off-Statement of Financial Position PFI scheme details

Year ending 31 March 2012

PFI scheme charges to the operating expenses
6.2 Off-Statement of Financial Position PFI scheme commitments

Total length of project (years)
Number of years to the end of the project
Estimated capital value of project

25
12
£5,572

7. The late payment of commercial debts (interest) Act 1998
Nil interest was charged to the Trust in the year for late payment of commercial debts (year ending 31 March 2011 £nil).
8. Finance income
Interest received for year ending 31 March 2012 was £25k ( year ending 31 March 2011 £17k)
9. Public dividend capital dividends
Public dividend capital dividends paid to the Department of Health for the year ending 31 March 2012 was £665k (year ending 31 March 2011 £938k).
10. Taxation
The activities of the Trust have not given rise to any corporation tax liability in period to 31 March 2012. (year ending 31 March 2011 £nil).
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11. Non current assets

2011/12
Valuation at 1 April 2011
TCS adjustments
Valuation at 1 April 2011 - restated
Additions - purchased
Impairments
Reversal of impairments
Revaluations
Disposals
Gross cost at 31 March 2012
Accumulated amortisation and depreciation at 1 April 2011
TCS adjustments
Accumulated amortisation and depreciation at 1 April 2011 - restated
Provided during the year
Impairments
Reversal of impairments
Revaluations
Disposals
Elimination of depreciation
Amortisation and depreciation at 31 March 2012
2010/11
Valuation at 1 April 2010
Prior period adjustment
Valuation at 1 April 2010 - restated
Additions - purchased
Impairments
Gross cost at 31 March 2011
Accumulated amortisation and depreciation at 1 April 2010
Prior period adjustment
Accumulated amortisation and depreciation at 1 April 2010 - restated
Provided during the year
Impairments
Accumulated amortisation and depreciation at 31 March 2011

Software
Licences

Buildings
excluding
dwellings

Land

£'000
80

Information
Technology

80

8,138
8,138

£'000
619
37
656
63
719

1,227

1,018

67
67
13
80

-

617
617
521
(234)
(105)
(570)
(54)
907
1,082

319
319
49
368

634

480

634
182
816

480
127
607

£'000
8,568
8,568
(430)
8,138

£'000
19,612
(328)
19,284
2,939
(5,441)
16,782

£'000
552
552
67
619

£'000
884
884
92
976

£'000
752

-

3,408
(27)
3,381
496
(3,260)
617

277
277
42
319

490
490
144
634

377
377
103

-

8,138
8,138

15,765
15,765

351
351

13
13

8,138
8,138

16,165
16,165

300
300

-

£'000
80
80

80
53
53
14
67

£'000
976
7
983
244
-

Fixtures and
fittings

£'000
16,782
16,782
604
(135)
89
573
(1,066)
16,847

80

£'000
8,138

Plant and
machinery

£'000
868
17
885
133
-

Property,
Plant and
Equipment
£'000
27,383
61
27,383
1,044
(135)
89
573
(1,066)
27,888

Non Current
Assets

27,463
61
27,524
1,044
(135)
89
573
(1,066)
28,029

2,050
2,050
880
(234)
(105)
(570)
(54)
907
2,874

2,117
2,117
893
(234)
(105)
(570)
(54)
907
2,954

£'000
30,368
(328)
30,040
3,214
(5,871)
27,383

£'000
30,448
(328)
30,120
3,214
(5,871)
27,463

480

4,552
(27)
4,525
785
(3,260)
2,050

4,605
(27)
4,578
799
(3,260)
2,117

411
411

411
411

23,903
1,172
25,075

23,903
1,172
25,075

342
342

388
388

24,303
1,030
25,333

24,316
1,030
25,346

752
116
868

Net book value - purchased assets at 31 March 2012
Net book value
Protected purchased assets at 31 March 2012
Unprotected purchased assets at 31 March 2012
Total at 31 March 2012

-

Net book value - purchased assets at 31 March 2011
Net book value
Protected purchased assets at 31 March 2011
Unprotected purchased assets at 31 March 2011
Total at 31 March 2011

Condition 9(1) of the Trust's Terms of Authorisation defines protected assets as "Propertyneeded for the purposes of providing any of the mandatorygoods and services". This comprises
NHS healthcare and related education and training services. Such properties cannot be sold without the prior approval of Monitor.
11.1 Valuation at the reporting date
The valuation basis for intangible fixed assets is described in accounting policy note 1.8. There is no active market for the Trust's intangible assets and there is no revaluation reserve.
The land, buildings and dwellings were valued at the reporting date by an independent valuer, the District Valuation Service 'DVS'. The purpose of this exercise being to determine a fair
value for Trust property, as detailed in accounting policy notes 1.7
The surpluses and deficits upon revaluation exercise resulted in an impairment charge to operating expenses as shown in the statement of comprehensive income on page 6 of the
financial statements amounting to £133k (year ending 31 March 2011 £1,705k). The keyassets affected were Heath Lane site £66k and Delta House £67k ( year ending 31 March 2011,
Heath Lane site £1,610k and Delta House £95k)
The surpluses and deficits upon revaluation exercise also resulted in gains and (losses) charged to the revaluation reserves as shown in the Statement of Changes in Taxpayers' Equity on
page 7 of the financial statements amounting to £571k (year ending 31 March 2011 £(906k)). The key assets affected were Edward Street Hospital £529k, Lodge Road £27k and Heath
Lane site £15k ( year ending 31 March 2011, Edward Street Hospital £(502k), Heath Lane site £(44k), Metro Court £(41k), Lodge Road £16k and Land £(430k))

Included within the £571k above is £89k which relates to a revaluation gain taken to operating income in respect of assets that increased in value in 2011/12, where revaluation losses
were taken to expenditure as an impairment in 2010/11. The asset that was affected was Heath Lane site
11.2 Gain/(loss) on disposal of fixed asset
Loss on disposal of Metro Court amounting to £1,310m (year ended 31 March 2011 Loss on disposal of Hillcrest/Garden Lodge amounting to £84k)
During 2011/12 the Trust disposed of the Metro Court asset after the Trust decommissioned the service provided. An element of this asset was a donated asset which makes up the
£298k amount shown in other comprehensive income.
11.3 Contractural capital commitments
Propery, plant and equipment contractual commitments are £298k ( year ended 31 March 2011 £56k)
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12 . T ra de a nd o t he r re c e iv a ble s

C urre nt
Y e a r E nding 3 1 Year Ending 31M arch
2011
M a rc h 2 0 12

N o n c urre nt
Y e a r E nding 3 1 Year Ending 31M arch
2011
M a rc h 2 0 12

£ '0 0 0

£'000

NHS Receivables - Revenue

2 ,5 2 5

781

-

-

Other receivables with related parties - Revenue

2 ,5 0 9

950

-

-

P ro visio n fo r impaired receivables

(2 3 4 )

P repayments (No n-PFI)

£ '0 0 0

£'000

(33)

-

-

431

292

-

-

21

215

-

-

-

-

-

A ccrued inco me
Interest Receivable

2

VA T receivable

10 6

82

-

-

Other receivables

422

303

-

-

5 ,7 8 2

2,590

-

-

T o ta l

NHS receivables co nsist o f balances o wed by NHS bo dies in England, receivables with o ther related parties co nsist o f balances o wed by o ther HM Go vernment o rganisatio ns. Related party
transactio ns are detailed in no te 23 to the financial statements o n page 28

C urre nt

N o n c urre nt

12 .1 P ro v is io n f o r im pa ire d re c e iv a ble s
Y e a r E nding 3 1 Year Ending 31M arch
2011
M a rc h 2 0 12

Y e a r E nding 3 1 Year Ending 31M arch
2011
M a rc h 2 0 12

£ '0 0 0

£'000

£ '0 0 0

£'000

33

20

-

-

Increase in pro visio n

201

13

-

-

T o ta l

234

33

-

-

B alance at 1A pril

C urre nt

N o n c urre nt

12 .2 A ge d a na lys is o f im pa ire d re c e iv a ble s
Y e a r E nding 3 1 Year Ending 31M arch
2011
M a rc h 2 0 12

£ '0 0 0
60-90 days

71

Y e a r E nding 3 1 Year Ending 31M arch
2011
M a rc h 2 0 12

£'000

£ '0 0 0

£'000

-

-

-

-

-

-

90- 180 days

-

o ver 180 days

16 3

33

-

-

T o ta l

234

33

-

-

C urre nt

N o n c urre nt

12 .3 A ge d a na lys is o f no n- im pa ire d re c e iv a ble s pa s t t he ir due da te
Y e a r E nding 3 1 Year Ending 31M arch
2011
M a rc h 2 0 12

Y e a r E nding 3 1 Year Ending 31M arch
2011
M a rc h 2 0 12

£ '0 0 0

£'000

£ '0 0 0

60-90 days

381

645

-

-

90- 180 days

866

211

-

-

353

105

-

-

1,6 0 0

961

-

-

o ver 180 days
T o ta l

C urre nt

£'000

N o n c urre nt

13 . C a s h a nd c a s h e quiv a le nt s
Y e a r E nding 3 1 Year Ending 31M arch
2011
M a rc h 2 0 12

Y e a r E nding 3 1 Year Ending 31M arch
2011
M a rc h 2 0 12

£ '0 0 0

£'000

£ '0 0 0

A t 1 A pril

3 ,2 6 3

4,912

-

£'000
-

Net change in year

5 ,6 4 2

(1,649)

-

-

A t 3 1 M a rc h

8 ,9 0 5

3,263

-

-

B ro ken do wn into :
238

(41)

-

-

Cash with Go vernment B anking Service

Co mmercial banks and cash in hand

8 ,6 6 7

3,304

-

-

3 ,2 6 3

-

C a s h a nd c a s h e quiv a le nt s a s in S O F P

8 ,9 0 5

B ank o verdraft - Go vernment B anking Service

-

-

-

B ank o verdraft - Co mmercial banks

-

-

-

C a s h a nd c a s h e quiv a le nt s a s in S O C F

8 ,9 0 5

3 ,2 6 3

-

-

14 . T hird pa rt y a s s e ts
The Trust held £101k cash at bank at 31 M arch 2012 (£478k at 31M arch 2011) which relates to mo nies held by the NHS Fo undatio n Trust o n behalf o f patients. This has been excluded fro m the cash
and cash equivalents figure repo rted in the statement o f financial po sitio n.

15 . N o n- c urre nt a s s e t s he ld f o r s a le
The Trust has no no n-current assets held fo r sale (year ended 31M arch 2010 - £nil).
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2 0 . C linic a l ne glige nc e lia bilit ie s

There was no pro visio n o f the NHS litigatio n autho rity in respect o f clinical negligence liabilities o f Black Co untry P artnership NHS Fo undatio n Trust (year ended 31
M arch 2011£nil).

2 1. C o nt inge nc ie s

Co ntingent liabilities o f £27k at 31M arch 2012 relating to amo unts no tified by the NHSLA fo r po tential emplo yer and public liability claims (M arch 2011, £44k). The Trust
also has a £59k co ntingency relating to 2 emplo yment tribunal cases.
2 2 . P rude nt ia l bo rro wing lim it

Lim it s s e t by M o nit o r

C urre nt
Y e a r E nding 3 1
M a rc h 2 0 12

Year Ending 31
M arch 2011

£ '0 0 0

N o n c urre nt
Ye a r E nding 3 1
Year Ending 31
M a rc h 2 0 12
M arch 2011

£'000

£'000

£'000
9,300

-

-

18 ,6 0 0

Wo rking capital facility

8 ,3 0 0

3,700

-

-

Wo rk ing c a pit a l bo rro wing a t 3 1s t M a rc h

8 ,3 0 0

3,700

18 ,6 0 0

9,300

To tal lo ng term bo rro wing

Lo ng term bo rro wing at 1st A pril

-

-

-

-

Net actual bo rro wing / (repayment) in year - lo ng term

-

-

-

-

Lo ng t e rm bo rro wing a t 3 1s t M a rc h

-

-

-

-

The Trust is required to co mply and remain within a prudential bo rro wing limit. This is made up o f two elements:

1. the maximum cumulative amo unt o f lo ng term bo rro wing. This is set by reference to the fo ur ratio s test set o ut in M o nito r's P rudential B o rro wing Co de. The
financial risk rating set under M o nito r's Co mpliance Framewo rk determines o ne o f the ratio s and therefo re can impact o n the lo ng term bo rro wing limit.

2. the amo unt o f any wo rking capital facility appro ved by M o nito r.

The ratio tests used to determine the maximum lo ng-term bo rro wing limit and the Trust's perfo rmance against them is set o ut belo w.
C urre nt

N o n c urre nt

2 2 .1 P B L R a t io s
Y e a r E nding 3 1
M a rc h 2 0 12

Year Ending 31
M arch 2011

£ '0 0 0
M aximum Debt/Capital Ratio

Ye a r E nding 3 1
M a rc h 2 0 12

Year Ending 31
M arch 2011

£'000

£'000

£'000

0%

0%

0

M inimum Dividend Co ver

1x

1x

0

0
0

M inimum Interest Co ver

0x

0x

0

0

M inimum Debt Service Co ver

100x

100x

0

0

M inimum Debt Service to Revenue

0%

0%

0

0

The Trust has achieved the ratio 's abo ve laid do wn by M o nito r in the Prudential B o rro wing Co de. There has been no necessity to make use o f the Trust's P rudential
B o rro wing Limit o r use its o verdraft.
Further info rmatio n o n the NHS Fo undatio n Trust Prudential B o rro wing Co de and Co mpliance Framewo rk can be fo und o n the website o f M o nito r, the Independent
Regulato r o f NHS Fo undatio n Trusts.
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23. Related party balances and transactions
Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust is a corporate body established by order of Monitor. During the year none of the Board Members or
members of the key management staff or parties related to them has undertaken any material transactions w ith Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation
Trust.
The Trust considers all government related bodies as related parties w ith the Department of Health being the Parent. In addition the Trust is a Corporate
Trustee of Black Country Partnership Foundation Trust Charity, is a member of the NHS Pension Scheme and a member of the Local Government Pension
Scheme w hich are also considered to be a related party.

NHS in England
Organisation

Receivables
Year Ending 31
March 2012

Payables
Year Ending 31
March 2012

Revenue
Year Ending 31
March 2012

Expenditure
Year Ending 31
March 2012

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

3,251

Local Authorities
Sandw ell Metropolitan Borough Council

2,050

466

10,678

Walsall Metropolitan Borough Council

-

18

4,457

Wolverhampton Metropolitan Borough Council

276

79

734

Dudley Metropolitan Borough Council
Sub Total

1,306

175

51

224

30

2,501

614

16,093

4,587

19

256

2,169

104

56

20

73

6

Strategic Health Authorities
West Midlands Strategic Health Authority
Charities
Charitable Fund
Prim ary Care Trusts
Sandw ell Primary Care Trust

422

483

31,261

19

Wolverhampton Primary Care Trust

862

2,207

35,263

5,043

Dudley Primary Care Trust

379

389

16,287

3,206

Birmingham East and North Primary Care Trust
Walsall Primary Care Trust

96

-

4,292

-

177

35

489

362

Sub Total

1,936

3,114

87,592

8,630

Total

4,512

4,004

105,927

13,327
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24. Financial instruments and related disclosures
IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures require disclosure of the role that financial instruments
have had during the period in creating or changing the risks an entity faces in undertaking its activities.
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one company and a financial liability or equity instrument in another
company.
The Trust does not have any complex financial instruments and does not hold or issue financial instruments for speculative trading purposes and
because of the continuing service provider relationship the Trust has with Primary Care Trusts and the way those Primary Care Trusts are financed,
the Trust is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by business entities.
Financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be typical of the listed companies to which IFRS 7
mainly applies. Due to the Trust's terms of authorisation it has limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities
are generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to change the risks facing the Trust in undertaking its activities.
The Trust's financial instruments comprise provisions, cash at bank and in hand and various items, such as trade debtors and trade creditors that
arise directly from its operations. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the Trust's operations.
24.1 Financial risk
Due to the continuing service provider relationship that the Trust has with primary care trusts (PCTs) and the way those PCTs are financed, the
Trust is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by business entities. Also financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating
or changing risk than would be typical of listed companies, to which the financial reporting standards mainly apply.
The Trust has limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational activities
rather than being held to change the risks facing the Trust in undertaking its activities.
24.2 Interest rate risk
The majority of the Trust's financial assets and financial liabilities carry nil or fixed rates of interest. Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation
Trust are not therefore exposed to significant interest-rate risk.
24.3 Currency risk
The Trust is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and liabilities being in the UK and sterling based.
The Trust has no overseas operations. The Trust therefore has low exposure to currency rate fluctuations.
24.4 Credit risk
The Trust operates primarily within the NHS market and receives the majority of its income from other NHS organisations as disclosed in Note 26.
Bad debt provisions are calculated based on the Trust's bad debt provision policy which considers the type of debtor, age of the outstanding debt
and knowledge of specific balances.
24.5 Liquidity risk
The Trust's net operating costs are incurred under annual service level agreements with local Primary Care Trusts which are financed from
resources voted annually by Parliament. The Trust also largely finances its capital expenditure from funds made available from Government under
agreed borrowing limits. Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust are not therefore exposed to significant liquidity risk compared with the
generality of payments. They are divided into different categories, which govern the way each individual case is handled.
The fair value of a financial instrument is the price at which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing
parties in an arms-length transaction. All the financial instruments of the Trust are initially measured at fair value on recognition and subsequently
at amortised cost. The following table is a comparison by category of the carrying amounts and the fair values of the Trust’s financial assets and
financial liabilities:
Carrying
Value

Fair
Value

Carrying Value

Fair
Value

Carrying values and fair values of financial instruments
Year Ending
Year Ending
Year Ending
Year Ending
31 March 2012 31 March 2012 31 March 2011 31 March 2011
£'000
£'000
£'000
£'000

Current financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and receivables
Non-current financial assets
Trade and receivables
Total financial assets
Current financial liabilities
Trade and other payables
Non-current financial liabilities
Other payables
Total financial liabilities
Net financial assets / (liabilities)

8,905
5,351
14,256

8,905
5,351
14,256

3,263
2,298
5,561

3,263
2,298
5,561

14,256

14,256

5,561

5,561

(11,609)

(11,609)

(4,484)

(4,484)

(771)
(12,380)
1,876

(771)
(12,380)
1,876

(501)
(4,985)
576

(501)
(4,985)
576
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2 5 . Lo s s e s a nd S pe c ia l P a ym e nt s
There were 8 cases o f lo sses and special payments to talling six hundred and fo rty-nine po unds appro ved in the year. (2010/11- 3 cases to talling three hundred
po unds)
There were no clinical negligence, fraud, perso nal injury, co mpensatio n under legal o bligatio n o r fruitless payment cases where the net payment o r lo ss fo r the
individual case exceeded £100,000.

2 6 . C o ns o lida tio n o f c ha rit a ble f unds

HM Treasury has granted the NHS a divergence fo r 2011/12 fro m the co nso lidatio n requirements o f IA S 27 in respect o f NHS charitable funds. The trust is the
co rpo rate trustee o f the charity and the charitable funds wo uld have been co nso lidated if the dispensatio n had no t been granted.
2 7 . M e rge rs a nd a c quis it io ns

Fo llo wing changes in the NHS resulting fro m the Transfo rming Co mmunity Services agenda further services have been inco rpo rated into the Trust during 2011/12.
The services belo w reflect full year effect.
Walsall P CT - effective date o f transfer o f service 1A pril 2011

Learning Disabilities services

V a lue

WT E

£'000

N um be r

4 3 17

80

The transactio n did no t invo lve the purchase o f any assets.

Wo lverhamto n P CT - effective date o f transfer o f service 1A ugust 2011

M ental Health services

V a lue

WT E

£'000

N um be r

27,283

551

A ddictio n services

4,955

75

CA HM S

3,249

64

Learning Disabilities services

2,601

46

3 8 ,0 8 8

736

T o tal

Dudley P CT - effective date o f transfer o f service 1A ugust 2011
V a lue

WT E

£'000

N um be r

Children's, Yo ung P eo ple and Families

9,158

199

Learning Disabilities

6,499

118

15 ,6 5 7

3 17

T o tal

The transactio n did no t invo lve the purchase o f any assets.

T o t a l T ra ns f o rm ing C o m m unit y S e rv ic e s

V a lue

WT E

£'000

N um be r

5 8 ,0 6 2

1,13 3

2 8 . E v e nt s a f t e r t he re po rt ing pe rio d

There have been no material events after the repo rting perio d requiring additio nal disclo sure in the 2011/12 acco unts.
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Statement by the Chief Executive
This document allows us to share with you our ongoing commitment to achieve better outcomes
for our service users and carers. This Quality Report outlines our progress against the priorities we
set last year and looks ahead to those we have set for the coming year. Through the hard work
and commitment of our staff, I am sure we can continue to make improvements and raise the
quality of our services.
Our aim is to ‘reduce inequality by recognising diversity and celebrating difference, to improve and
promote health and well-being of local communities, by providing high quality care, in the right
place at the right time, by putting people and their families at the heart of care’.
The information in this Quality Report will demonstrate how we are working to deliver this aim and
the highest standard of services which support people, to do the things they want to do, live the
lives they want to live and access those opportunities that all citizens should take for granted.
Our external regulators such as the Care Quality Commission (CQC), Monitor and the local
Primary Care Trusts (PCTs) who commission services from us also detail certain standards that
we must meet, to satisfy them that we are providing high quality, safe care and to allow them to
compare us with other providers of similar services.
Considerable preparation was required this year for the national Transforming Community
Services (TCS) programme and the significant changes this would mean for the organisation as a
whole. The TCS programme meant that between the 1st April and the 1st August 2011, we
became responsible for a wider range of community services including Children, Young People
and Family services, previously provided by the three local Primary Care Trusts, plus an additional
1191 staff. We are extremely grateful for the excellent preparatory work staff undertook to ensure
the successful and safe transfer of staff and services. This transfer offers new and exciting
opportunities for the organisation and our focus is now to achieve a genuine integration of
services.
This Quality Report represents my commitment to ensuring that we continue to embed quality
improvement at the heart of our organisation. I look forward to working with all of you to make this
happen.
In publishing this report the Board of Directors have reviewed its content and verified the accuracy
of the details contained therein. I therefore confirm, in accordance with my statutory duty, that to
the best of my knowledge, the information provided in this Quality Report is accurate.

K. E. Dowman
Chief Executive
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9.1

A Review of our priorities for improvement in 2011/12

We undertook a process of involvement and engagement with key stakeholders to establish views
on what our priorities for improvement should be in 2011/12. These priorities reflect the three
domains of quality, clinical effectiveness, patient experience and patient safety.
9.2.1 Clinical effectiveness - West Midlands Quality Review of Dementia Services
Why we chose this as a priority for improvement
West Midlands Quality Review Service (WMQRS) is a collaborative venture by NHS organisations
in the West Midlands to help improve the quality of health services by developing evidence-based
quality standards, carrying out developmental and supportive quality reviews. We agreed to
independent reviews of our services by WMQRS as their quality standards are designed to
improve clinical outcomes and service users’ and carers’ experiences by improving the quality of
services.
We said we would …
•
agree to reviews of our acute inpatient mental health services, dementia services and
learning disability services. This proved too challenging following delays in the timetable
for completing the TCS programme and the review was therefore limited to dementia
services.
The outcomes we wanted to achieve were:
- that service users, their families and carers will know more about the services they can expect
- to work together with commissioners to improve service quality
- for quality review visits to give an independent view of service quality
- for good practice to be shared
How did we do?
The review took place in January 2012 and required the submission of evidence in respect of the
different standards prior to visits to these services by an inspection team. Inspectors carried out
site inspections and held interviews with managers, staff and service users. The findings and
assessment are summarised in table 1 below..
Table 1 Summary of Quality Standards for Dementia Services
Services for people
with Dementia
Memory Service - Sandwell
Memory Service Wolverhampton
Inpatient services - Sandwell
Inpatient services Wolverhampton
Black Country Partnership Trust
Total

56

No. of
standards
met
45

56

38

68

46
46

18
30

39
65

204

131

64

No. of applicable
Quality Standards

%
met
80

For more information: http://www.wmqi.westmidlands.nhs.uk/wmqrs/publications/for-reviewprogramme/85
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What will we do next?
The review clearly highlighted a number of standards that we need to improve upon and work has
already started on developing an action plan to deliver these improvements. It also highlighted the
importance of partnership working and we are committed to involving and working with our
partners in the year ahead. We look forward to reporting on our progress in next year’s quality
report.
9.2.2 Patient experience - Understanding and improving the experience of people using our
adult mental health services
Why we chose this as a priority for improvement
The Board of Directors are committed to developing systems to receive continual feedback about
the quality of the experience of people who use our community and inpatient services. The
feedback we receive plays an integral part in developing our understanding of people’s experience
and the aim to change from professionally driven to patient-centred care.
We said we would …
•
continue this work, which cuts across a number of the priority areas identified in the
previous quality report, as an activity that supports quality improvement
•
ensure that our service activities and improvements are focused on improving the
experience of service users
The outcomes we wanted to achieve were:
- that mechanisms put in place to obtain the views of service users who have used our inpatient
and community services continue to operate effectively
- the views they offer are discussed and acted upon to improve the services we provide
How did we do?
It was not possible to include the views of people receiving adult inpatient and community mental
health services in Wolverhampton as these services did not transfer to the Trust until August 2011.
The number of responses received back from adult community services during the first and last
quarters of the year, see table 2 overleaf, increased five fold on the year before and levels of
satisfaction have moderated accordingly. The feedback from adult inpatient service users has not
been as favourable this year as we would like it to be. One reason for this was that many service
users did not consider that on arrival to the ward the daily routine was explained to them. In a
number of instances this was because they were too unwell on arrival for this to take place and
staff judged that it would be better to wait until they were feeling more settled.
A group of different health professionals reviews all of the feedback received and considers what
actions can be taken to improve services. They provide progress reports to the Acute Care Forum,
which includes service user representatives. Among the actions taken to improve admission to the
ward has been to review and audit the admissions checklist used by staff when service users are
first admitted and to pilot the introduction of a welcome pack folder for each person to have in their
room.
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Table 2 Patient Experience Feedback of Adult Mental Health Services
Sandwell

Adult Inpatients
Adult Community
No. of
Overall level
No. of
Overall level
Period
Questionnaires of satisfaction Questionnaires of satisfaction
Jan - March 2012
40
52%
223
67%
April - June 2011
73
64%
65
70%
Jan - March 2011
20
81%
30
91%
April - June 2010
19
66%
25
89%
What will we do next?
Obtaining the views of services users will continue to be at the heart of everything we do and we
will carry on this work to ensure that all of the services we provide have mechanisms in place to
receive continuous feedback from the people who use our services.
9.2.3 Safety - Absconds
Why we chose this as a priority for improvement
In 2008/09 the number of episodes of absconding behaviour i.e. the problem of patients going
missing without permission, from inpatient areas was 146. In 2009/10 it was 132 and in 2010/11 it
rose again to 162. Analysis showed that the majority of all absconds originated from the three
wards at Hallam Street Hospital but the level of risk to self and others was mainly moderate or low.
Nonetheless, a project to reduce the continuing upward trend was launched at Hallam Street
Hospital in October 2010 by the Productive Mental Health Ward programme. All three wards were
involved. The project used the ‘Strategies to reduce Missing patients,’ a practical workbook
(National Mental Health Development Unit 2009) as a framework for the project.
We said we would …
continue this work during 2011/12 to look at:
•
the motivators to leave - what reason did people give for leaving
•
why and how people left - what made it possible for people to abscond and how they left
•
risks – the processes in place that made absconding possible/more likely
•
the solution/potential solutions
The outcomes we wanted to achieve were:
- to develop a greater understanding of the reasons why some patients are motivated to abscond
- to develop strategies to reduce the number of episodes of absconding behaviour taking place
at Hallam Street Hospital
How did we do?
Workshops attended by a range of health professionals were set up to examine past cases of
absconding behaviour. They looked at motivators to leave, how people left, the level of risk and
potential solutions. As a result, indicators for absconding were added to the induction checklist, the
profile for absconding risk was raised in clinical risk management and activities training. Greater
emphasis was placed on alleviating boredom by increasing the range of activities, which led to the
creation of key staff acting as ‘Activity Champions’ in the summer of 2011. By November 2011, all
ward staff had started training so they could better support service users in their chosen activities.
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Hallam Street Hospital admits between 30-40 patients each month and the majority of them are
compliant and supportive of their treatment programme. Nonetheless, despite the work undertaken
during 2011/12 the number of episodes of absconding behaviour at Hallam Street Hospital has not
reduced significantly (see table 3 below).
Table 3 Summary of Absconding Behaviour at Hallam Street Hospital

Year
2008/09
2009/10
2010/11
2011/12

Total No
of
Absconds
146
132
158
213

No of
Absconds at
Hallam Street
137
109
140
133

What will we do next?
This will remain a priority for 2012/13 see 9.3.1 below:
9.3 Looking ahead - our priorities for quality improvement in 2012/13
We have listened to feedback from service users, staff and stakeholders over the past year and
reviewed national guidance in order to develop a set of priorities for the year ahead. See table 4
below.
Table 4 Quality Improvement Priorities for 2012/13
Domain

Division

Priority
Reduction in Absconding
Behaviour

Patient Safety

Mental Health

Patient Experience

Learning
Disabilities

Nutrition/Healthy Eating

Clinical
Effectiveness

Children

Quality of Health Visitor Care
Records

9.3.1 Absconds - Mental Health Division - Patient Safety
Why we chose this as a priority for improvement
Despite the work undertaken during 2011/12 (see 9.2.3) the number of absconds at Hallam Street
Hospital has not reduced significantly and the Board of Directors in consultation with stakeholders,
have agreed that this work should therefore remain a priority for improvement for the year ahead.
How we will monitor, measure and report on progress
An analysis of the work undertaken so far will be made and why it has not yet produced a
substantial reduction in the number of absconds at Hallam Street Hospital, with a view to revising
or developing new strategies to improve this situation. As before the key issues to consider will be:
- the motivators to leave - what reason did people give for leaving
- why and how people left - what made it possible for people to abscond and how they left
- risks – the processes in place that made absconding possible/more likely
- the solution/potential solutions
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Regular reporting of absconds via the Trust’s Incident Reporting System will ensure the progress
of this project will be monitored by the Operational Risk Group throughout 2012/13.
9.3.2 Nutrition/Healthy Eating - Learning Disabilities Division - Patient Experience
Why we chose this as a priority for improvement
Levels of obesity are higher in people with learning disabilities, particularly women. Obesity can
have secondary affects on health and increase the likelihood of heart disease, stroke and type 2
diabetes. People with learning disabilities can be at increased risk because they may have
difficulties understanding health promotion material; they may take medication that has weight gain
side-effects or due to poor lifestyle choices. In addition, some genetic conditions are associated
with obesity such as Down’s and Prader-Willi syndromes.
How we will monitor, measure and report on progress
The community health access team will identify suitable candidates from the obesity register they
maintain and from people who are referred to the team by their GP who require one to one support
for weight management. Everyone selected will be invited to attend a healthier lifestyle
improvement group and receive health checks at the outset to identify any risks. It is planned to
run two groups for 15 weeks throughout the year using the following criteria to measure people’s
improvement:
- attendance rate
- reduction in weight 2.5-5%
- reduced BMI
- how many people continue to take up exercise
- how many GP referrals did we have
- how many care providers received Weight Management Training
- accessible Pre and Post Questionnaires
This scheme and its key actions will be monitored through regular reports to the monthly service
managers meetings, the service clinical governance team and by the divisional care governance
committee.
9.3.3 Quality of Health Visitor Care Records - Children’s Division - Clinical Effectiveness
Why we chose this as a priority for improvement
A Health Visitor can be a qualified registered nurse, midwife, sick children’s nurse or psychiatric
nurse with specialist qualifications in community health, which includes child health, health
promotion and education. The role is a varied one and is an integral part of the NHS community
health service. Every family with children under five has a named health visitor and working closely
with GPs they offer support and encouragement to families through the early years from
pregnancy and birth to primary school and beyond.
Record-keeping is an integral part of health visitors’ practice and it is essential to the provision of
safe and effective care. A joint inspection of safeguarding and looked after children services in
Dudley by Ofsted and the Care Quality Commission in 2011 highlighted the need to improve the
quality of record keeping for health visitors’ care records. The Board of Directors shared this
concern and in consultation with stakeholders, identified it as a priority for improvement in 2012/13.
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How we will monitor, measure and report on progress
A record skills workshop is scheduled for health visitors early in April 2012 and record training will
take place within each team. Standards of record keeping will be based on the model developed
by the London Safeguarding Children Board, which is recognised as the preferred model. Our local
safeguarding board use this model so when multi-agency audits are undertaken there will be
consistency.
Every month five sets of records will be randomly selected for auditing to measure if they have
improved or not. This will determine to what degree the training and using the new model has been
embedded in health visitors’ practice. Comparison to the required standards for record keeping will
identify any concerns at an early stage so appropriate action can be taken to address them. In
addition, an annual record keeping audit will be carried out as part of the service’s local audit
programme when 10% of each health visitor’s case load is audited in September 2012.
Health partners have agreed an action plan to ensure a robust response to the findings of the
Ofsted inspection. This priority for improvement as part of the plan is being monitored via the
divisional care governance meetings and via the health safeguarding sub group. Regular meetings
are also held with the local authority to report back on progress.
9.4 Statements of Assurance from the Board
The aim of this section is to provide information to the public which will be common across all
quality reports, thereby enabling people to gain a more informed and transparent view about what
different healthcare organisations have reported. The statements in this section will aim to offer
assurance from the Board of Directors to the public that the Trust is:
•
•
•

performing to essential standards
measuring our clinical processes and performance
involved in national projects and initiatives aimed at improving quality

9.4.1 Review of Services
During 2011/12 the Trust provided and/or sub-contracted 10 NHS services:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

adult mental health inpatient services for people in Sandwell and Wolverhampton
adult mental health community services for people in Sandwell and Wolverhampton
older adult mental health inpatient services for people in Sandwell and Wolverhampton
older adult mental health community services for people in Sandwell and Wolverhampton
learning disabilities inpatient services for people in Dudley, Walsall, Sandwell and
Wolverhampton
learning disabilities community-based services for people in Dudley, Walsall, Sandwell and
Wolverhampton
community healthcare services for children, young people and their families in Dudley
child and adolescent mental health services (CAMHS) for children and young people in
Sandwell and Wolverhampton
community services for adults and young people in Sandwell and Wolverhampton who are
dependent upon alcohol and drugs
counselling services for adults living in Sandwell

120

Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust / Annual Report 2012

The Trust has reviewed all the data available to it on the quality of care in all of these NHS
services.
The income generated by the NHS services reviewed in 2011/12 represents 100% per cent of the
total income generated from the provision of NHS services by the Trust for 2011/12.
9.4.2 Participation in Clinical Audits
During 2011/12, 5 national clinical audits and a national confidential enquiry covered NHS services
that Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust provides.
During that period the Trust participated in 100% national clinical audits and 100% national
confidential enquiries of the national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries which it was
eligible to participate in.
The national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries that the Trust was eligible to
participate in during 2011/12 (see table 5) were as follows:
Table 5 Eligibility to Participate in National Clinical Audits
Sponsor

Title

Royal College of Psychiatrists
Royal College of Psychiatrists
Prescribing Observatory for Mental
Health (POMHS-UK)
Royal College of Psychiatrists
Prescribing Observatory for Mental
Health (POMHS-UK)
Royal College of Psychiatrists
Prescribing Observatory for Mental
Health (POMHS-UK)
Royal College of Psychiatrists
Prescribing Observatory for Mental
Health (POMHS-UK)

National Audit of Schizophrenia
Prescribing High Dose and Combined
Antipsychotics on adult acute and
psychiatric intensive care wards

Department of Health and Healthcare
Quality Improvement Partnership
(HQIP)

Prescribing Antipsychotics for People
with Dementia
Use of Antipsychotic Medicine in
Child and adolescent Mental Health
Service (CAMHS)
Prescribing for People with
Personality Disorder
National Confidential Enquiry into
Suicide and Homicide by People with
Mental Illness (data collection FebApril 2012)

For more information: http://www.hqip.org.uk/national-clinical-audits-for-quality-accounts-2011-12released-by-department-of-health/
The national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries that the Trust participated in, and for
which data collection was completed during 2011/12, are listed below (see table 6 overleaf)
alongside the number of cases submitted to each audit or enquiry as a percentage of the number
of registered cases required by the terms of that audit or enquiry.
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Table 6 Participation in National Clinical Audits
Title

Start

Finish

National Audit
of
Schizophrenia

August
2011

February
2012

Prescribing
Antipsychotics for
People with
Dementia

March
2011

April
2011

Use of antipsychotic
medicine in
Child and
Adolescent
Mental Health
Services
(CAMHS)

October
2011

November
2011

Prescribing
High Dose
and Combined
February
Anti2012
psychotics on
adult acute
wards

March
2012

Criteria
1. Prescribing of antipsychotics through case
note audit
2. Quality of physical health
check monitoring offered to
people with schizophrenia
through case note audit
3. Service users’ experience
through completion of
questionnaires
4. Carers’ experience through
completion of postal
questionnaires
Prescribing anti-psychotic
medication for older people
with diagnosed dementia.
BPSD (behavioural and
psychological symptoms in
dementia), likely factors that
may generate, aggravate or
improve such behaviours
should be considered
For all children and
adolescents prescribed antipsychotic medication for three
months or less, the
indication(s) for treatment with
anti-psychotic(s) should be
documented in the clinical
records. Side effects should be
reviewed at least every six
months
Prescribing of combined
and high dose antipsychotics on acute adult
psychiatric wards including
MHA Status and current
Community Treatment
Legislation Orders. Other
medication groups

Cases
submitted

99%

100%

100%

100%
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The Trust uses clinical audit and participation in national confidential enquiries as a driver for
improvements in quality. The Trust aims to ensure that all clinical professional groups participate in
clinical audit. The reports of three National clinical audits and one National Confidential Enquiry
were reviewed by the Trust in 2011/2012 (see table 7 below) and it has taken the following actions
to improve the quality of healthcare provided:
Table 7 Reports of National Clinical Audits and Confidential Enquiry
Title

National Audit
of NICE
Guidance:
Health & Work

POMHS
Prescribing
antipsychotics
for people with
dementia

Report

April
2011

July
2011

Actions Taken
Reviewed by Health and Wellbeing Strategy Group:
The development of a comprehensive, proactive health and
well being service that meets the needs of employees and
the organisation. Developments include:
- A single provider of Occupational Health and in-house
staff support with a plan to develop this for staff groups
as well as individuals.
- An action plan has also been developed since the last
Staff Opinion Survey.
- Plans to develop an intranet page for Health and
Wellbeing of staff as a single point of information for
staff.
- Sickness and absence levels have also reduced.
- Health and Wellbeing Strategy Group now includes an
executive director and reports to the Executive
Committee.
Reviewed by Medicines Management Committee:
Potential risks and benefits of anti-psychotic medication to
be considered and documented by the clinical team, prior to
initiation.
Potential risks and benefits of antipsychotic medication to be
discussed with the patient and/or carer(s), prior to initiation.
Medication to be regularly reviewed. Re-audit 2012/13
Reviewed by Psychological and Social Therapies Group:

National Audit
of Anxiety and
Depression

National
Confidential
Enquiry into
Suicide and
Homicide by
People with
Mental Illness

November This national audit assessed 10 standards. The Trust only
2011
took part in auditing of three of the ten standards.
Action Plan Toolkit completed in draft March 2012.
Service Development reflects findings including the
establishment of focus groups reflecting client groups
Reviewed by Operational Risk Group
June
2011

Work is continuing on the implementation of the Trust’s
Suicide Prevention Strategy. Suicides and homicides are
investigated by the Trust in accordance with local policy.
This policy is approved by the NHSLA

See also 9.8.3
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9.4.3 Research
9.4.3.1 Participation in research
The Trust continues to be research active (see also 9.8.5) and has an established Research and
Development Group which meets every month and is attended by senior clinicians representing
their different services and professions. It is a member of both the Birmingham and Black
Country Comprehensive Local Research Network (BBC CLRN) and the Heart of England Hub of
the Mental Health Research Network. This collaborative approach enables the Trust to
participate in national, large scale research projects designed to improve the quality of care we
offer and make a contribution to the wider health economy. We have exceeded the 2011/12
target set by BBC CLRN for the number of participants voluntarily taking part in national, large
scale research projects. The number of participants receiving NHS services provided by the Trust
in 2011/2012 that were recruited during that period to participate in research approved by a
research ethics committee was 69. Table 8 overleaf gives details of the research projects we
have participated in.
For more information: http://www.crncc.nihr.ac.uk/about_us/ccrn/bbc/rmg/BBC+CLRN+RMG+Consortium
http://www.mhrn.info/pages/heart-of-england-hub.html
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Table 8 Research Activity 2011/12
Study Title
Study of Suicide in the Criminal Justice System: Nested Case-Control
- SSEW
Hospital management of self-harm in England
Explaining Health Managers' Information Behaviour and Use
Best Interest Decision Study (BIDS)
Children's experiences of stimulant drug medication for ADHD (Voices
Study)
Crossing the divide: Diagnosis of ASD and ADHD in young adults
Models of Medical Leadership and their Effectiveness an exploratory
study
RCT of Anger Management for People with mild to moderate Learning
Disabilities
A multicentre Randomised Controlled Trial of Cognitive Therapy to
Prevent Harmful Compliance with COMMAND Hallucinations
SAGE A whole-genome linkage study of attention deficit hyperactivity
disorder (ADHD) with antisocial behaviour as a covariate
Evaluation of the Youth Justice Liaison and Diversion (YJLD) Pilot
Scheme
Study of antidepressants for depression in dementia(SADD)
The Aetiology and Prevention of Inpatient Suicide (National
Confidential Inquiry)
Donepezil and Memantine in moderate to severe Alzheimer's Disease
(DOMINO-AD)
REAL: Rehabilitation Effectiveness and Activities for Life: a multicentre
study of rehabilitation for people with severe mental health problems
OASIS: Observational Assessment of Safety in Seroquel study
Molecular Genetic Investigation of Bipolar Disorder and related mood
disorders
A pilot study of Expert Carers Helping Others (ECHO) intervention for
anorexia nervosa sufferers
Here to stay: People with learning disabilities from new migrant
communities
Homicide by patients with schizophrenia: a case control study National Confidential Inquiry
Sudden Death in Psychiatric In-patients and the Relationship with
Psychotropic Drugs
DNA Polymorphisms in Mental Illness
PARADES: ADE project on Mental Capacity and Bipolar Disorder
The BIG Study for Better Care for Children and Families
The Association between autism spectrum conditions (ASC) and
psychosis investigating the importance of chromosome 15q11-13

Status
Completed
Completed
Completed
Completed
Completed
Ongoing
Ongoing
Ongoing
Ongoing
Ongoing
Ongoing
Ongoing
Ongoing
Ongoing
Ongoing
Ongoing
Ongoing
Ongoing
Ongoing
Ongoing
Ongoing
Ongoing
Ongoing
Ongoing
Ongoing
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ADEPT - Understanding and preventing adverse effects of
psychological therapies
Validation of new Risk Assessment instruments for use with patients
discharged from Medium Secure Services (VoRAMSS)

Ongoing
Ongoing

9.4.4 Goals agreed with Commissioners
A proportion of the Trust’s income in 2011/2012 was conditional on achieving quality improvement
and innovation goals agreed between the Trust and any person or body they entered into a
contract, agreement or arrangement with for the provision of NHS services, through the
Commissioning for Quality and Innovation Payment Framework (CQUIN). Further details of the
agreed goals for 2011/12 and for the following 12 month period are available online at:
http://www.monitornhsft.gov.uk/sites/all/modules/fckeditor/plugins/ktbrowser/
The statement overleaf (tables 9 and 10) includes a monetary total for the amount of income in
2011/12 conditional upon achieving quality improvement and innovation goals, and a monetary
total for the associated payment in 2010/11.

126

Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust / Annual Report 2012

Table 9 Income 2011/12

Table 10 Income 2010/11

2011/12

2010/11

CQUIN @ 1.5%
Sandwell PCT - Older Adult
Sandwell PCT - CAMHS
Sandwell PCT - Other
Sandwell PCT - adult mental health
Sandwell MBC - learning disabilities
Overperformance on Sandwell PCT
Overperformance on Sandwell MBC
Birmingham PCT
Dudley PCT
Walsall PCT
Wolverhampton PCT
Wolverhampton TCS Contracts
Telford & Wrekin PCT
South Staffordshire PCT
Shropshire PCT
Sandwell PCT
Dudley PCT
Walsall PCT
Wolverhampton PCT
Dudley TCS Contracts
Sandwell PCT
Dudley PCT
Wolverhampton PCT
Walsall TCS Contracts
Walsall MBC
Grand Total

143,840
27,110
33,880
297,540
28,810
2,500
314
15,440
10,262
923
1190
561,809
106
2,705
106
578
6,114
4,561
231,253
245,423

CQUIN @ 1.5%
Sandwell PCT - Older Adult
Sandwell PCT - CAMHS
Sandwell PCT - Other
Sandwell PCT - adult mental
health
Sandwell MBC - learning
disabilities
Birmingham PCT
Dudley PCT
Walsall PCT
Wolverhampton PCT
Grand Total

122,830
27,520
61,680
319,400
71,720
15,569
10,469
1,122
737
631,047

4,461
211,141
214
215,819
63,418
63,418
1,086,469

9.4.5 Care Quality Commission (CQC)
Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust is required to register with the Care Quality
Commission and its current registration is registered without conditions.
On 1st August 2011, services from Wolverhampton Primary Care Trust moved into Black Country
Partnership NHS Foundation Trust as part of the Transforming Community Services Programme.
Wolverhampton Primary Care Trust was pursuing an improvement plan focused on Penn Hospital
inpatient services prior to the transfer as a result of a CQC compliance visit. CQC inspectors
visited Penn Hospital on 1st August 2011 - the first day of the transfer and as a result of this visit,
they issued two warning notices that required action to be taken to meet:
•
•

Regulation 15 (i) safety and suitability of premises
Regulation 23 (i) supporting workers of the Health and Social Care Act (regulated
activities) Regulations 2010.

In response to these letters, the Trust undertook an intensive piece of work in respect of ensuring
that staff mandatory training requirements were met. Between August 2011 and February 2012,
participation in mandatory training at Penn Hospital increased from 19% to 70%. Work continues
to ensure this level is maintained and improved.
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The CQC indicated their view that Penn Hospital is not fit for purpose. As a result of this, the Trust
and the Black Country Commissioning Cluster have worked together to agree a plan to undertake
a significant refurbishment of Penn Hospital. This will be completed by April 2013 and will ensure
that the hospital offers a therapeutic and safe environment for people using its services.
The Trust has participated in special reviews or investigations by the Care Quality Commission
relating to the following areas during 2011/12 - Learning Disability Services.
The Trust has taken the following action (see table 11) to address the conclusions or requirements
reported by the CQC:
Table 11 CQC Learning Disabilities Review 2011/12
Inspection
Date

Location

12th – 13th
October 2011

Heath Lane
Hospital,
Sandwell

23rd - 24th
November 2011

5th - 6th
December 2011

Findings

Outcome 4 care and
welfare of people:
moderate concerns
Outcome 4 care and
Pond Lane,
welfare of people:
Wolverhampton
moderate concerns
Outcome 4 care and
welfare of people:
moderate concerns
Ridge Hill,
Outcome 7
Dudley
Safeguarding from
abuse: moderate
concerns

Action
Action Plan
submitted to CQC
10th January 2012
Action Plan
submitted to CQC
3rd February 2012

Action Plan
submitted to CQC by
9th March 2012

The Trust has made the following progress (see table 12) by 31st March 2012 in taking such action
Table 12 Progress on Action Plans
Location
Heath Lane Hospital,
Sandwell

Action
Action Plan submitted to
CQC 10th January 2012

Pond Lane,
Wolverhampton

Action Plan submitted to
CQC 3rd February 2012

Ridge Hill, Dudley

Action Plan to be
submitted to CQC by 14th
March 2012

Progress
Work on the action plan is
scheduled to be fully
implemented by June 2012
Work on the action plan is
scheduled to be fully
implemented by April 2012
Work on the action plan is
scheduled to be fully
implemented by May 2012

For more information: http://www.cqc.org.uk/directory/TAJ
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9.4.6 Data Quality
NHS Number and General Medical Practice Code Validity
The Trust has submitted records during 2011/2012 to the Secondary Uses Service for inclusion in
the Hospital Episode Statistics which are included in the latest published data. The percentage of
records in the published data, which included the patient’s valid NHS number, was 99.1% for
admitted patient care; and 99.8% for out patient care. The percentage of records in the published
data, which included the patient’s valid General Medical Practice Code, was 100% for admitted
patient care; and 100% for out patient care.
Information Governance Toolkit attainment levels 2011/2012
The Trust’s Information Governance Assessment Report overall score for 2011/2012 was 62% and
was graded ‘unsatisfactory’ (see table 13).
Table 13 Information Governance Toolkit
2010/11 2011/12
Achieved Achieved

Initiative
Information Governance
Management
Confidentiality and Data Protection
Assurance
Information Security Assurance
Clinical Information Assurance
Secondary Use Assurance
Corporate Information Assurance
Overall

60%

46%

62%

62%

64%
53%
58%
33%
59%

64%
66%
70%
55%
62%

As part of the Transforming Community Services (TCS) programme a number of mental health
services were transferred to the Trust from local organisations, but not all staff transferred until.
Some support elements are still to be transferred but cannot be undertaken until 2012/13. The
transfer effectively doubled the workload connected with Information Governance leading to a
situation where the Trust is now reviewing its overall provision and how the Information
Governance Management Framework is maintained. To reflect this position, the overall Trust
score remains ‘not satisfactory’ but an action plan is in place to remedy this situation by the end of
2012/13. Central to this plan is a full audit of the evidence base to provide assurance that the
Trust is conforming to national standards.
Clinical Coding Error Rate
The Trust was subject to the Payment by Results clinical coding audit during March 2012, and the
error rates reported (see table 14) in the latest published audit for that period for diagnosis and
treatment coding (clinical coding) was:
Table 14 Clinical Coding Error Rate
Clinical Coding

2010/11 2011/12

Primary diagnoses correct

91.92%

97%

Secondary Diagnosis correct

49.28%

96.1%
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Clinical data must be accurately and consistently recorded to well defined national standards to
enable it to be used for statistical analysis. Information drawn from accurate Clinical Coding better
reflects the pattern of practice of clinicians and provides a sound basis for the decision making
process. Of the 100% episodes audited, (see table 15) none were unsafe to audit.
Table 15 Audit Results
Services audited
Learning Disabilities
Adult Mental Health
Old Age Psychiatry
Overall

% Diagnoses coded correctly % Procedures coded correctly
Primary
100.0
98.55
92.59
97.00

Secondary
100.0
92.96
98.92
96.14

Primary
0.0
0.0
100.0
100.0

Secondary
0.0
0.0
100.0
100.0

9.5 A Review of our Quality Performance
With the exception of infection prevention and control, which is an ongoing priority for the Board of
Directors, we have changed the indicators we reported on in the quality report for 2010/11. The
rationale behind this change was two-fold: firstly, the results we published for these indicators all
showed significant improvement and secondly, the Board of Directors in consultation with
stakeholders, decided that it was important to report on progress made on quality initiatives in
other areas of the Trust. The results of our progress with these new indicators are set out below:
9.5.1 Safety - Medicines Management
Why we chose this as a priority for improvement
The point of transfer between care settings, and in particular hospital admission, is a known period
of high risk for prescribing errors. While at home, a patient may be taking a combination of
medicines, some of which may have been prescribed by a GP, some by a hospital specialist and
some obtained without the need for a prescription. At the point of admission to hospital, medicines
that the patient has been taking at home can be missed with the potential to cause harm e.g.
insulin used to treat serious physical health problems.
We said we would …
• improve appropriate medicines reconciliation information and recording on admission for
hospital in-patients at Edward Street and Hallam Street Hospitals
The outcomes we wanted to achieve were:
- to ensure there is a robust system to minimise the potential for medication errors on the point of
admission
- nursing, medical and pharmacy staff have a clear understanding of their respective roles and
work in collaboration with each other to ensure effective medicines management on the point of
admission
- 95% of all new admissions will have appropriate medicines reconciliation information and
recording on admission
How did we do?
An initial review of 108 admissions at Edward Street and Hallam Street Hospitals between April June 2011 revealed that medicines reconciliation was not embedded in normal practice with only
1% of reconciliations taking place. Systems were quickly put in place and a further snapshot for
130

Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust / Annual Report 2012

the month of September for both hospitals showed an immediate improvement with medicines
reconciliation completed for 30 of 35 admissions (86%). A more detailed review was undertaken
for the period from 1st October 2011 to the 31st December 2011 which showed that medicines
reconciliation took place for 95 out of 104 admissions (91%). A further review was then undertaken
for the period 1st January 2012 to the 31st March 2012, which showed that medicines reconciliation
took place for 137 out of 140 admissions (98%).
9.5.2 Safety - Infection Prevention and Control
Why we chose this as a priority for improvement
Infection prevention and control is an essential component of care. We want our patients to feel
they are safe and receiving the best possible healthcare with us so, while the risk of an infection is
very small indeed, reducing the risk of infections remains of paramount importance.
We said we would …
•
continue to undertake surveillance throughout the Trust as this is an essential component
in the prevention and control of infection through weekly monitoring of the incidence of
infections across the services we provide
The outcomes we wanted to achieve were:
- continued prevention and early detection of outbreaks in order to allow timely investigation and
control
- assessment of infection levels over time, in order to determine the need for and measure the
effectiveness of prevention and/or control measures
- the Infection Prevention and Control Committee continues to meet quarterly to review the
annual work plan to maintain a safe environment and the Director of Infection Prevention and
Control presents regular progress reports to the Board of Directors
- the infection control team works with the wider health economy to reduce healthcare acquired
infection incidence
How did we do?
•
2009/2012 Zero MRSA bacteraemia
•
2009/2012 Clostridium difficile only one case reported.
Table 16 below illustrates in more detail the prevalence of infections over the last three years. Due
to continued low numbers the Trust has not been set any trajectory targets.
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Table 16 Prevalence of Infections over the last 3 Years

Organism
Beta Haemolytic Streptococcus
(A-G)
Blood borne virus (unconfirmed
but high risk)
Clostridium difficile
Diarrhoea & vomiting
Escherichia coli UTI
ESBL producing E. coli
Hepatitis B (*new)
HCV (*new)
HIV (*new)
BBV (known previously)
Influenza type viruses
Klebsiella
MRSA bacteraemia
MRSA (new cases)
Proteus mirabilis
Pseudomonas
Scabies
Shingles
Staphylococcus aureus (MSSA)
Staphylococcus aureus (MSSA)
bacteraemia
TB
UTI (symptomatic)

Apr
2009Mar
2010

Apr
2010Mar
2011

Apr
2011Mar
2012

0

6

6

1

2

3

0
14
5
1
1
10
1
4
2
0
0
4
0
0
3
0
9

1
18
8
1
2
14
0
5
8
1
0
7
1
1
2
2
14

0
24
5
1
0
0
0
16
8
0
0
5
0
0
4
2
3

0

0

1

4
10

0
6

5
48

*reduction in new cases HBV, HCV & HIV due to no longer the provider of drug misuse services in
Sandwell
9.5.3 Safety - The use of the ESSEN Scale in Gerry Simon Clinic
Why we chose this as a priority for improvement
Gerry Simon Clinic within Heath Lane Hospital is a low secure forensic unit which admits people
with learning disabilities and complex mental health needs. A supportive ward atmosphere is
recognised as a pre-condition for successful treatment in forensic psychiatry. The Essen Climate
Evaluation Scheme (EssenCES) was developed jointly in Germany and the UK and it is
considered a valid climate evaluation instrument for assessing the ward environment.
The EssenCES questionnaire is a tool designed to assess the therapeutic climate within a care
setting. It is explores the degree to which service users feel safe and supported by both their peers
and care staff. Evidence suggests that service users and staff respond better, engage more in
treatment, with the likelihood of a reduced length of stay, where they feel safe and comfortable.
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Service developments based on feedback from this tool will serve to improve the therapeutic
climate in the Gerry Simon Clinic.
We said we would …
•
identify a service development/improvement based on the findings from ESSEN surveys
•
provide an implementation plan that delivers the service development/ improvement,
which sets out the intended improved outcomes in service user experience and clinical
outcomes
The outcomes we wanted to achieve were:
- the development of service developments/improvements will be better informed from the
results of using the ESSEN Scale
- to better understand current lengths of stay and develop strategies to reduce them
- to embed the development of service user defined activity plans ensuring that these link to
recovery and service user outcomes
- to develop a shared understanding of the pathway between service users and staff, where
service users take a greater role and responsibility in relation to choice and lifestyle
How did we do?
The feedback we received from the Essen surveys completed by both staff and service users were
scored using a traffic lights scale of green, amber and red. An implementation plan was then
drawn up to highlight and work towards addressing those issues that resulted in a score of either
amber or red. The key service development/improvement identified was the need to work towards
improving patient cohesion and facilitating patients to interact better with each other through
activities and groups.
A multi-disciplinary working group was created, which set a number of targets, the achievement of
which was regularly monitored through the Forensic Services Development Group at the Gerry
Simon Clinic. The targets achieved included:-

-

better training of all staff groups working on the unit on risk management/ identification.
setting up a mechanism for staff de-briefing following incidents, through their line manager.
encourage a parallel system of staff/peer support whilst advertising the formal staff support
structures.
establishing a variety of groups for patients within the clinic to help mutual cohesion and mutual
support. These included a communal living skills group, a values clarification group, a food
safety group, a photography group (designing posters) and relaxation groups.
offence specific groups aimed at identifying and reducing risks. All patients have detailed risk
assessment profiles and were enrolled in the ‘Good Thinking Programme’ (a thinking skills
programme adapted for people with learning disabilities). Other patients completed the ‘Life
Minus Violence - Enhanced Group’ targeting violent behaviours. One-to-one work within our
patient group with sexual offending history was reviewed with the aim of starting group sex
offender work based on the SOTSEC-ID Programme with a number of patients having
specifically tailored one-to-one interventions that were evaluated at the end of treatment.
a number of nursing staff were trained in the provision of these offence specific treatment
activities, which they provided in conjunction with our psychology and occupational therapy
teams. This training helped in enhancing overall staff’s sense of safety in management of the
patient group.
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The EssenCES has ultimately helped us identify further patient compatibility issues and, therefore,
help us think about the type of patients who will benefit most from treatment in our services. This
will ultimately improve the clinical outcomes achieved within the service.
9.5.4 Clinical Effectiveness - Increasing the number of young people with a written review
and transition plan in place by the time they turn 17 years and 6 months
Why we chose this as a priority for improvement
A number of research studies and recent government reports have highlighted that many young
people with serious mental health problems do not experience a good move or ‘transition’ between
adolescent and adult mental health services. Further, in adolescence, overall rates of serious
mental health problems can increase just at the time when there is a higher risk of young people
falling between child and adult services and disengaging from services.
We said we would …
•
provide at least 85% of all young people moving from child and adolescent to adult mental
health services with a written review and transition/discharge plan at 17 years 6 months
•
ensure the written care review and plan will comply with a set of locally agreed standards
that relate to the review and planning process
The outcome we wanted to achieve was:
- that a flexible and organised approach is taken in respect of young people moving from child
and adolescent to adult mental health services
How did we do?
Forty one young people turned 17½ years of age during 2011/12 of which 27 were identified as
likely to require a written review and transition/discharge plan for their move from child and
adolescent to adult mental health services. Nine of these young people subsequently did not
require a plan and the remaining 18 (100%) all received their plans before they reached the age of
17½ years.
9.5.5 Clinical Effectiveness - To better understand current lengths of stay and so develop
strategies to reduce length of stay within our secure unit
Why we chose this as a priority for improvement
Forensic mental health services are specialist services for people with mental health problems who
have been arrested, who are on remand or who have been to court and found guilty of a crime.
‘Forensic’ means ‘pertaining to the law’. These services are an alternative to prison for people who
have mental health problems and offer specialist treatment and care. They are secure units so
people who are referred there are not free to come and go. Most people are detained in secure
forensic services under mental health legislation. The time spent in a forensic unit depends on an
individual’s recovery and progress towards rehabilitation. Decisions about length of stay are taken
by professionals working in forensic services in collaboration with the professionals who will be
responsible for an individual’s support and care following discharge.
We said we would …
•
develop systems for recording length of stay and average length of completed episodes in
the preceding 12 months including source of admission and discharge
•
submit a report demonstrating impact on current length of stay and submit a report that
describes the length of stay by cluster
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The outcomes we wanted to achieve were:
- to examine in more detail current lengths of stay to understand them better
- to measure length of stay
- to develop strategies to reduce length of stay within secure hospitals
How did we do?
The unit adopted the forensic ‘shared pathway’ work. This identifies the type of interventions,
investigations and reporting mechanism in each stage of an individual’s pathway in forensic inpatient care. Moreover, it outlines time frames by which formulations/investigations are expected to
be completed, leading to implementation of offence specific treatment programmes. The shared
pathway work has been linked to Payment by Results, utilising the forensic clustering system.
However, initial national field testing had cast doubt about whether the forensic clusters are
applicable to forensic learning disability patients, leading to some delay in deciding which
clustering tools to use in this patient group.
Engaging in the shared pathway has led to a number of changes within the service. Patients are
now expected to take more responsibility for their treatment within the service. Patients now have
an activity diary recording daily participation in activities, including leisure, an individual timetable,
an individual patient held portfolio containing copies of service user health action plans, service
user friendly care plans etc, as well as changes in the way the CPA process focuses treatment on
clearly defined clinical outcomes early on in an admission. This on-going work has helped us
understand better how to provide effective treatments in future, such that the length of in-patient
stay can be reduced by focusing on treatment outcomes early on and regular monitoring ourselves
as to how well we are progressing in meeting our pre-set targets.
9.5.6 Clinical Effectiveness - Mental Health Act Code of Practice
Why we chose this as a priority for improvement
The Care Quality Commission (CQC) has a statutory duty to monitor how services exercise their
powers under the Mental Health Act to provide a safeguard for patients. In their annual report for
2010/11 they highlighted the importance of good record keeping of patient consultations and the
need for mental health practitioners to document their reasons when deciding that a patient has
the capacity to consent.
We said we would …
•
review our systems for ensuring that approved clinicians make full records in relation to
capacity and consent to treatment as part of the code of practice requirements
The outcomes we wanted to achieve were:
- an overall reduction in the numbers of files of detained people which do not contain a record of
capacity and consent to treatment
- at least 85% of people detained under the Mental Health Act will have a record of capacity and
consent to treatment in accordance with code of practice requirements
How did we do?
During the period October - December 2011, 59 people were detained under the Mental Health Act
who required a capacity and consent form, and 57 forms were completed (97%). During the period
January - March 2012, 64 people were detained under the Mental Health Act who required a
capacity and consent form, and 64 forms were completed (100%).
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9.5.7 Patient Experience - to develop a robust system to undertake surveys of people who
use our children’s services
Why we chose this as a priority for improvement
On 1st April 2011, the Trust took over responsibility for providing community healthcare services for
children, young people and their families in Dudley. One of the first priorities was to establish a
process to receive feedback about the quality of the experience of people who use these services.
The information received would then be analysed and used to inform and shape the planning of
future service quality improvements.
We said we would …
•
develop questionnaires and ensure they are sent out by the end of June 2011
•
group baseline survey findings by the teams that they relate to and any common themes
identified
•
evidence that findings of the baseline survey (including the descriptive details) will be
used in planning service quality improvements and presented in an agreed action plan for
any service development groups
The outcomes we wanted to achieve were:
- to improve the experience of people who use our services
- feedback received will help to inform and shape our services in the future
How did we do?
Questionnaires were developed and sent out per the Table 17 below:
Table 17 Feedback Received on Children’s Services
Overall, were you satisfied with the personal care and treatment you have
received from the Children’s services?
Services
Occupational Therapy
Children’s Assessment
Unit
Physiotherapy
Speech and Language
Therapy
School Health Advisors
Totals

No. of
Questionnaires

Yes

No

No
Response

%

29

29

0

0

100

5

5

0

0

100

15

15

0

0

100

17

16

1

0

94

40
106

38
103

0
1

2
2

95
97

Although the overall response was favourable, feedback received to more specific questions
provided much valued information from which an action plan has been developed to make service
quality improvements. The action plan will need to be formally approved by the Children, Young
People and Families Division but this work will continue into 2012/13 and we look forward to
reporting on our progress in next year’s quality report.
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9.5.8 Patient Experience - Improving how the needs of people with a history of sexual abuse
are met
Why we chose this as a priority for improvement
Sexual abuse in childhood is associated with higher rates of mental health illness, poorer
outcomes of treatment, and revictimisation as adults. By seeking to heighten awareness in clinical
practice we are seeking to help improve outcomes for people who have been subject to sexual
abuse.
We said we would …
•
establish a system initially within our psychiatric liaison teams and then extend this across
adult mental health services whereby we will ask people in a sensitive manner whether
they have been subject to sexual abuse
•
offer specific help to people around the sexual abuse they have experienced
The outcomes we wanted to achieve were:
- appropriate consideration is given to, and services are arranged for, people with a history of
sexual abuse
- we ask at least 85% of the total number of people referred to our psychiatric liaison teams,
whether they have been subject to sexual abuse
- we offer specific help to at least 85% of people referred who confirmed that they had been
subject to sexual abuse
- people who have been subject to sexual abuse are more readily identified and referred to
specialists for treatment
How did we do?
Systems were put in place and during 2011/12, 614 out of 668 (92%) people referred to our
psychiatric liaison teams were asked whether they had been subject to sexual abuse. For those
people who indicated that they had been subject to sexual abuse, we offered help to 138 out of
149 (93%) of them around the sexual abuse they had experienced.
We were able to extend this service across all of our adult mental health services by 1st September
2011. Over the next six months, we asked 128 out of 201 (64%) people whether they had been
subject to sexual abuse. For those people who indicated that they had been subject to sexual
abuse, we offered help to nine out of 13 (69%) of them around the sexual abuse they had
experienced.
9.5.9 Patient Experience - Provide 25 Hours Meaningful Activity per week to alleviate
boredom and improve motivation to produce better clinical outcomes for service users
within secure care
Why we chose this as a priority for improvement
Evidence suggests that boredom and reduced motivation results in poorer clinical outcomes for
service users within secure care. ‘Meaningful activity’ is defined as time spent doing activities on
their own or with others, which are personal and important to them and will impact on the way they
feel and drive their treatment and recovery. Examples will include time spent in personal care,
sport and physical fitness, ward based therapeutic and recreational activities, outdoor sports and
trips, activities outside the hospital building such as gardening and therapeutic walks. It also
includes quality time spent with staff in one to one sessions and therapeutic group activities.
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We said we would …
•
promote a balanced and structured day involving meaningful activity linked to service
users agreed care plans that promote recovery
•
assess 25 hour a week activity plans and recording systems against the agreed national
definition of ‘Meaningful activity’
•
audit the service using the national agreed benchmarking tool
•
develop a work plan to address needs identified in audit report
•
implement and report on work plan
The outcomes we wanted to achieve were that:
•
every service user will have a personal activity timetable which is planned weekly and
determined by the service user, in partnership with their clinical team
•
service users will hold their own record of activities, both planned and unplanned, which
will be recorded in either a diary or on the timetable
•
information about activities will be clearly displayed on the ward which should include
present activities and ideas for future activities
•
service users will be supported to lead and influence group activities and social events
•
this is to include decisions about how resources are spent
How did we do?
The outcomes listed above were implemented by the Occupational Therapy Team, who won the
Trust’s annual Team Award for innovation and creativity for completing this work. They began by
introducing activity diaries for each service user on the unit. The diaries provided an opportunity to
review the different activities people engaged in as well as ensuring there was some degree of
balance in the types of activities they were undertaking. The diaries also provided the necessary
information to map activity across the unit as a whole. Members of the team are continuing to
evaluate the extent to which service users enjoyed these activities in order to build on this work.
9.6 How this report is produced
The Executive Director for Children’s Services is also the lead executive with responsibility for
quality. Production of the quality report is the responsibility of the Deputy Director for Governance,
Quality and Risk. Clinical staff from the three divisions of mental health, learning disabilities and
children’s services are involved in producing the content of the quality report. The Trust routinely
reports quality measures to both executive and board level. Data quality is assured through the
Trust’s data quality governance structures, with Board Directors confirming a statement of
compliance with responsibilities in completing the quality report. Key partners get sight of a draft of
the quality report in a timely manner. A draft is also reviewed by the Audit Committee as part of the
annual report. Final approval for the quality report is given by the Board of Directors.
9.7 Quality Measures
Below we set out a range of quality measures we use to determine our progress in trying to embed
and improve quality across the trust. This is a continuation of the process to integrate the quality
report with our wider quality improvement agendas and for quality to be at the heart of everything
we do.
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9.7.1 Engaging with service users, the wider public and staff
“People are experts in their own right and can offer valuable insights into how a service will affect
them for better or worse”
9.7.1.1 Assembly of Governors
As a NHS foundation trust we are required to be more accountable to the populations we
serve through our members. Membership is about the local community being involved in shaping
our services so that they suit local needs (see tables 18 and 19 below). At the 31st March 2012 we
had 5,313 public members.
Table 18 Breakdown of membership – Age
Under
17 - 21 22 and Over
16
137
622
4555
Table 19 Breakdown of membership – Disability
Sensory Physical Mental
Learning Other special Not
Disability Disability Disability Disability
needs
Stated
39

169

332

63

41

4,669

Governors are elected by members of the trust or appointed to represent stakeholder
organisations. At the heart of being a foundation trust is local accountability. Governors play a
pivotal role in ensuring the Board of Directors are held collectively to account for the performance
of the trust. They are the individuals that bind the trust to its service users, staff, and stakeholders.
Our Assembly of Governors is made up of:
•
•
•

22 members of the public
8 members of staff
9 people appointed by recognised stakeholder organisations

The Director for Children’s Services, the executive lead with responsibility for quality attends
meetings of the Assembly of Governors to discuss and agree what our quality improvement
priorities should be. In addition, a Quality Council is held twice a year. The aim of the council is to
promote and improve the delivery of high quality care with the active collaboration of people who
use services, their representatives, governors and trust members. The council is chaired by a nonexecutive director and one of its roles is to receive information on and offer feedback regarding
proposals for the work streams for this report.
For more information: http://www.bcpft.nhs.uk/join-us/being-a-member
9.7.1.2 Commissioners
Every month senior clinical and governance managers meet with commissioners from Sandwell,
Dudley and Wolverhampton Primary Care Trusts at a Clinical Quality Review meeting to
specifically discuss and review the quality of our services.
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This provides an ideal forum for commissioners to have input into our quality agenda and to
monitor our progress throughout the year.
9.7.1.3 Local Authority Overview and Scrutiny Committees (OSCs) / Local Involvement
Networks (LINks)
Every local authority with social services responsibilities has the power to scrutinise local health
services and have established Overview and Scrutiny Committees (OSCs). They bring democratic
accountability into healthcare decisions and make the NHS more publicly accountable and
responsive to local communities. Local Involvement Networks (LINks) are made up of individuals
and community groups, such as charities, faith groups, residents' associations and youth
councils, working together to improve health and social care services.
We recognise that in what has been a transitional year for us, with the transfer of over one
thousand staff and new services from Walsall, Dudley and Wolverhampton Primary Care Trusts,
we were unable to engage with OSCs and LINks about quality improvement priorities in the way
we would have liked. We fully intend to improve on this in the year ahead.
9.7.1.4 Involving People who use our Services
‘Make a Difference Group’ is now well established as a key forum for people who use our
services to become involved in the way we shape our services. Meetings are held monthly and
they are consulted on a range of issues. The contribution made by members of this group was
recognised at our staff awards ceremony. Further groups are currently being established to focus
on the new areas and services managed by the Trust. A group is now meeting regularly focusing
on older adult services at Edward Street Hospital and a further group focusing on services in
Wolverhampton is due to meet for the first time in April 2012.
In addition, the group makes a significant contribution to our aim (see 9.2.2) that obtaining the
views of services users will continue to be at the heart of everything we do. We recognise that
people who have used our services are best placed to carry out this role as they are independent
and they understand and empathise with the person they are asking the views and opinions of. In
particular, their expertise will help to address any reluctance on the part of someone to comment
on the more negative aspects of care they may have received. They have received training in the
development of questionnaires and audit methodology to provide them with the skills to support
this valuable work. During this year, the group has completed its work in auditing the experience of
people using our adult mental health outpatient services in Sandwell.
For the first time, a service user attended the January meeting of the Board of Directors to tell
their personal story and it is proposed that there will be a slot for a service user story at each board
meeting in the future. We are currently working to develop a process so that any service user or
carer using our services will be able to put themselves forward to tell their story to the Board of
Directors.
Changing Our Lives is a Sandwell based self-advocacy organisation that supports people with
learning disabilities of all ages to speak up for their rights and take control of their lives. It is
recognised locally and nationally for its best practise.
As above, we recognise that people who have used our services or similar services are best
placed to carry out this role as they are independent and they understand and empathise with the
person they are asking the views and opinions of. We are proud to work in partnership with
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Changing Our Lives on the ‘Making Our Voices Heard’ project, to ensure that patient voices and
experiences are heard in our services.
They have carried out carried out Quality of Life audits in a range of their services including:
•
•
•
•
•

Penrose acute assessment unit for people with learning disabilities
Gerry Simon low secure unit for men with learning disabilities
Newton House step down unit for men with learning disabilities
Edward Street Hospital for older people with mental health issues
Hallam Street Hospital for adults with mental health issues.

All of the audits are led by people with learning disabilities and by people who have experience of
using mainstream mental health services. The services are all audited against person-centred
quality standards that are specifically written for each individual service. Following each audit an
action plan for improvement is developed. They feed back their findings to divisional care
governance groups as well as the quality council to ensure the improvements are implemented.
For more information: http://www.changingourlives.org/index.php/what-we-do/ourworkstreams/making-our-voices-heard
9.7.2 A listening organisation
“Seek first to understand, and then to be understood”
9.7.2.1 Community Service Users’ Survey
Table 20 Community Service Users’ Survey
Black Country
All Trusts with
Wolverhampt
Results
Partnership
Mental
on
for 2011 NHS Foundation
Health
City PCT
Trust
Services
Overall, how would you rate the care you have received in the
last 12 months?
Category
Total
Total
Total
%
%
%
Excellent
60
27
57
25
6237
29
Very
59
27
63
28
6433
30
good
Good
33
15
51
23
4306
20
Fair
46
21
36
16
2747
13
Poor
11
5
9
4
1068
5
Very Poor
10
5
10
4
748
3
Missing
10
14
1264
For more information:
http://caredirectory.cqc.org.uk//caredirectory/searchthecaredirectory.cfm?FaArea1=customWidgets
.content_view_1&cit_id=TAJ&element=SURVEY
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9.7.2.2 Inpatients’ Survey
Table 21 Inpatients’ Survey
Black Country
All Trusts
Results
Partnership
Wolverhampton
with Mental
for 2011 NHS Foundation
City PCT
Health
Trust
Services
Overall, how would you rate the care you have received in the
last 12 months?
Category
Total
Total
%
% Total
%
Excellent
6
16
6
18
514
19
Very good
10
27
7
21
756
29
Good
11
30
7
21
605
23
Fair
9
24
8
24
417
16
Poor
1
3
6
18
346
13
Missing
2
2
91
For more information:
http://caredirectory.cqc.org.uk//caredirectory/searchthecaredirectory.cfm?FaArea1=customWidgets
.content_view_1&cit_id=TAJ&element=SURVEY&zone=MAINMH09
9.7.2.3 Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS)
The Patient Advice and Liaison Service, is a confidential service known as PALS, to ensure that
we listen to service users, their relatives, carers and friends, and answer their questions and
resolve their concerns as quickly as possible (see tables 22 and 23).
Table 22 Concerns raised
per year
Reporting
Period
2011/12
2010/11
2009/10
2008/09
2007/08
2006/07

Contacts

182
206
231
231
191
194

Table 23 Concerns raised during
2011/12
Division
Mental Health
Learning Disabilities
Children, Young People
and Families
Corporate
Other
Totals

Total
135
16

10
2
46
182

9.7.2.4 Complaints
For anyone not happy with the care or treatment they have received they have the right to
complain, have their complaint investigated, and be given a full and prompt reply (see tables 24
and 25). The Board of Directors receives regular reports on complaints throughout the year.
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Table 24 Complaints Made During 2011/12

Division
Sandwell Dental health
Wolverhampton mental health
Mental health sub-total
Dudley learning disabilities
Sandwell learning disabilities
Walsall learning disabilities
Wolverhampton learning disabilities
Learning disabilities sub-total
Dudley Children, Young people and
Families
Sandwell CAMHS
Wolverhampton CAMHS
Children, Young People and Families
sub-total
Sandwell Corporate
Wolverhampton Corporate
Corporate sub-total
Totals

Table 25 Complaints
per year
Total
56
71
127
2
6
2
3
13

Reporting Complaints
Period
2011/12
166
2010/11
71
2009/10
54

14
4
1
19
4
3
7
166

The increase in complaints correlates to the increase in the size of the trust during 2011/12
following the transfer of additional services and staff under the Transforming Community Services
programme (see 9.1).
9.7.2.5 Staff Survey
The survey asks for staff views about their job and about working for this trust. The aim of the
survey is to gather information that will help us to improve the working lives of staff, and so provide
better care for service users. In the years prior to 2011, all staff were given the opportunity to have
their say and complete the survey. For 2011, given the unprecedented changes and after listening
to members, it was agreed the trust should only survey a percentage of staff and therefore a
random selection of staff received the survey.
The 2011questionnaire was largely similar to that used in previous surveys and asked questions
about a member of staff’s job, their work with colleagues, the leadership and supervision they
received, health and safety, and their views on the trust. The survey is an important way of
ensuring that the views of staff working in the NHS inform local improvements and support national
assessments of quality and safety, and delivery of the NHS Constitution. The latter includes four
pledges to staff that set out, for the first time, what the NHS expects from its staff and what staff
can expect from the NHS as an employer.
Questionnaires were returned to an external survey contractor who administered the survey so no
one from this trust was able to see individual responses.
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Table 26 below shows how Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust compares with other
mental health/learning disability trusts on the overall indicator for staff engagement. Possible
scores range from one to five, with one indicating that staff are poorly engaged with their work,
their team, their trust and 5 indicating they are highly engaged. The trust’s score was average
when compared with trusts of a similar type.
Table 26 Staff Engagement Survey

Table 27 below shows how Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust compares with other
mental health/learning disability trusts on each of the sub-dimensions of staff engagement and
whether there has been a change since the 2010 survey.
Table 27 Extract of Staff Engagement Survey

For more information: http://nhsstaffsurveys.com/cms/index.php?page=mental-health-trusts
9.7.3 Open and Transparent
“Working in a way which naturally enables people to see what you are doing”
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9.7.3.1 Patient Safety
Figure 1 Reported Incidents as a % of Mental Health Incidents

9.7.3.2 Never Events
Never Events are serious, largely preventable patient safety incidents that should not occur if the
available preventative measures have been implemented. To be a “never event”, an incident must
fulfil the following criteria;
•
•
•
•
•
•

the incident has clear potential for or has caused severe harm/death
there is evidence of occurrence in the past i.e. it is a known source of risk
there is existing national guidance and/or national safety recommendations on how the
event
can be prevented and support for implementation
the event is largely preventable if the guidance is implemented
occurrence can be easily defined, identified and continually measure

There have been no ‘never events’ recorded during 2011/12.
9.7.3.3 Serious Untoward Incidents
When something out of the ordinary or unexpected occurs on NHS premises resulting in serious
harm, it is categorised as a ‘serious untoward incident’. The types of incidents this could include
would be sudden death, suicide, serious harm to self or others, or an allegation of abuse. Incidents
do not have to be about clinical issues as they can relate to property or machinery. Every incident
is be reported on the trust’s incident reporting system within 24 hours and an appointed officer is
required to review the incident in more detail within 72 hours. Depending on the nature of the
incident an internal or external enquiry may be required using root cause analysis to determine
why it happened, what changes we need to make to minimise the risk of similar incidents occurring
in the future and what lessons we can learn for the future (see 9.8.1).
Serious untoward incidents are monitored by and discussed with our commissioners at monthly
Clinical Quality Review meetings (see 9.7.1.2). Reporting processes also require serious incidents
to be reported on the Strategic Executive Information System (STEIS) so that learning is shared
across the wider health community. During 2011/12 the Trust reported 48 serious untoward
incidents on STEIS to NHS Midlands and East.
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For more information: http://www.westmidlands.nhs.uk/WhatWeDo/PatientSafety/SeriousIncidents.aspx
9.7.3.4 NHS Litigation Authority (NHSLA)
The NHS Litigation Authority (NHSLA) is a special health authority responsible for handling
negligence claims made against NHS bodies in England. One of their key functions is to contribute
to the incentives for reducing the number of negligent or preventable incidents through an
extensive risk management programme. Healthcare organisations are regularly assessed against
risk management standards which have been specifically developed to reflect issues which arise in
the negligence claims reported to the NHSLA.
Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust (BCPFT) is a member of the NHS Litigation
Authority Clinical Negligence Scheme for Trusts (CNST) and Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme
(LTPS) schemes. The membership number is T180.
The CNST scheme does not have an excess for each claim brought against BCPFT and unlimited
indemnity for each and every claim brought under this scheme. There are no CNST claims
presently outstanding against BCPFT.
Since the 1st August 2011, the mental health arm of Wolverhampton City Primary Care Trust was
transferred to BCPFT as part of the Transforming Community Services programme. They had two
outstanding CNST claims brought against them. Day to day control over those claims has passed
to BCPFT but they are indemnified against the potential cost of those claims from Wolverhampton
City Primary Care Trust.
In respect of the LTPS scheme, this covers employer’s liability claims, public and product liability
claims. Employer’s Liability claims have an unlimited indemnity from the NHSLA for each and
every claim and an excess of £10,000.00. For Public and Product liability cases each claim has an
unlimited indemnity from the NHSLA attracting an excess of £3,000 for each and every claim.
Upon receipt, each claim, whether under the CNST or LTPS schemes, is reported to the NHS
Litigation Authority in accordance with their rules of membership. At the end of March 2012, there
were 14 claims outstanding against the Trust that were being handled by the NHSLA, four of which
were public liability claims the remainder being employers liability claims.
The claims had a combined gross estimate of £356,891 (inclusive of damages, claimant’s legal
costs and defence costs). The estimate is based upon the nature and extent of the injury the
claimant sustained in the material incident, the prognosis for recovery, likely special damages and
costs with reference to case law and Judicial Studies Board’s Guidelines for Assessment of
General Damages. BCPFT had a combined liability of £117,741 being the maximum amount the
Trust would be exposed to financially for all of the claims.
For more information: http://www.nhsla.com/Patients/
9.7.3.5 Royal College of Psychiatrists Centre for Quality Improvement Accreditations
The Royal College of Psychiatrists Accreditation Service works with mental health services to
assure and improve the quality of the administration of electroconvulsive therapy (ECT). They
engage staff in a comprehensive process of review, through which good practice and high quality
care are recognised and services are supported to identify and address areas for improvement.
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The Accreditation Committee includes nominated representatives from the Royal College of
Psychiatrists, Royal College of Nursing and the Royal College of Anaesthetists. Accreditation
assures staff, service users and referrers, commissioners and regulators of the quality of the
service being provided. Our ECT services based at Edward Street Hospital attained the highest
level of accreditation, ‘accredited as excellent’ which is valid until October 2013.
For more information: http://www.rcpsych.ac.uk/quality/qualityandaccreditation/ectclinics/ectas.aspx
9.7.3.6 Freedom of Information Requests
Everyone has the right to request information held by public sector organisations. Under Section
19 of the Freedom of Information Act 2000, we have a legal duty to adopt and maintain a Freedom
of Information Publication Scheme. The Act does not affect someone’s legal right to patient
confidentiality and protecting a patient’s legal right to confidentiality continues to be a responsibility
we take very seriously.
During 2011-12, we received 150 requests for information and figure 2 below shows the areas that
these requests related to. 137 were answered within the 20 working days deadline, there were
slight delays with 6 and 7 are currently being processed.
Figure 2 Categories of Freedom of Information Requests
Types of Requests
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For more information: http://www.ic.nhs.uk/data-protection/freedom-of-information-foi
9.7.3.7 Patient Environment Action Teams (PEAT)
PEAT is an annual assessment of inpatient healthcare sites in England that have more than 10
beds. It is a benchmarking tool to ensure improvements are made in the non-clinical aspects of
patient care including environment, food, privacy and dignity. The assessment results (table 28
below) help to highlight areas for improvement and share best practice across healthcare
organisations in England.
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Table 28 PEAT Inspections 2009 - 2011
Year
2012

2011

2010

2009

Hospital
Edward
Street
Hallam
Street
Heath
Lane
Penn
Hospital
Edward
Street
Hallam
Street
Heath
Lane
Penn
Hospital
Edward
Street
Hallam
Street
Heath
Lane
Edward
Street
Hallam
Street
Heath
Lane

Environment

Food

Privacy &
Dignity

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Excellent

Good

Good

Excellent

Good

Good

Excellent

Good

Excellent

Excellent

Good

Good

Good

Good

Excellent

Excellent

Excellent

Good

Excellent

Good

Excellent

Good

Acceptable

Acceptable Good

Good

Excellent

Good

Excellent

Excellent

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Excellent

Good

For more information: http://www.ic.nhs.uk/statistics-and-data-collections/facilities/patientenvironment-action-team-peat
9.7.3.8 Privacy and Dignity - same sex accommodation breaches
Same-sex accommodation means patients share sleeping accommodation, bathroom and toilet
facilities only with people of the same-sex. It applies to all areas of hospitals and mental health
units.
The Government is seeking to eliminate mixed-sex accommodation except where it is in the
overall best interests of the patient, or reflects their personal choice. We declared that we are
compliant with this requirement, having the necessary facilities, resources and culture to ensure
that patients who are admitted to our hospitals will only share the room where they sleep with
members of the same sex, and same-sex toilets and bathrooms will be close to their bed area.
In the year 2011/12, we incurred one breach that took place at Heath Lane Hospital but only
following detailed discussions between the senior clinical staff and commissioners concluded this
was in the overall best interests of the patient.
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For more information: http://www.bcpft.nhs.uk/help-a-advice/privacy-and-dignity
9.7.3.9 Care Quality Commission (CQC) Essential Standards for Quality and Safety
The essential standards of quality and safety consist of 28 regulations and associated outcomes.
The CQC focus on the 16 regulations (out of the 28) that most directly relate to the quality and
safety of care. Standards are focused on what is needed to make sure people who use services
have a positive experience, a direct result of what people said they wanted.
The Care Quality Commission has undertaken seven inspections and their Mental Health Act
Commissioners 12 visits to our inpatients areas during 20011/12. As reported earlier (see 9.4.5) in
the report the trust has drawn up action plans for those areas that require improvement and work
on their completion is underway.
For more information: http://www.cqc.org.uk/directory/TAJ
9.7.3.10 Care Quality Commission Quality and Risk Profile
The Care Quality Commission maintain a quality and risk profile for each provider of NHS services
as a way of monitoring compliance with the essential standards of quality and safety ( see 9.7.3.8
above).They do this by drawing in data from a number of sources e.g. National Patient Safety
Agency and the NHS Litigation Authority, which they analyse to identify areas of potential noncompliance and produce a set of ‘risk estimates’ of non- compliance, one for each of the 16
essential standards.
The Care Quality Commission’s overall risk estimate (see table 29) is separated into three sections
with a rating for inherent risk, situational risk and population risk.
Table 29 CQC Trust Quality and Risk Profile
Provider code

Provider

TAJ
Type of Risk

Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust
3.8
Definition of Type of Risk
Estimation of risk focusing on the services provided by the
organisation

31.01.12
Score

Estimation of risk focusing on the organisation context and history

Green

Estimation of risk focusing on the local population served by the
organisation

Not
applicable

Inherent Risk
Situational
Risk
Population
Risk

Version

Version Date

Green

9.7.3.11 Quality and Diversity
We are committed to promoting equality and diversity, both in the services we provide and as an
employer.
What do we mean by diversity?
The Black Country is an ethnically diverse area made up of many different people from many
different cultures, communities, and backgrounds. Being responsive to the diverse range of people
in the Black Country is a responsibility we take very seriously. We want to provide person-centred,
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accessible, and effective services for all people. We wouldn’t be able to do this without being
sensitive to the different needs that different people have.
What do we mean by equality?
For us, equality means fair treatment and equal opportunities. We work hard to make our services
accessible to the people who need our support, regardless of their personal circumstances. We
also make sure that no-one using our services receives a lower standard of care and support than
someone else simply because of who they are. Making sure that all our staff members are treated
fairly is just as important to us.
The NHS now has a new way of measuring its performance around equality and diversity and
ensuring that we are doing all we can to reduce health inequalities. The NHS Equality Delivery
System (EDS) is a framework to help NHS Trusts to assess and improve their work around
equality. It also helps organisations to meet the requirements of the public sector equality duties in
the Equality Act 2010, and to ensure that we are consulting with and involving those who use our
services as the Trust develops.
We have successfully completed the first stage of the EDS, to publish equality information by
January 31st 2012. Figures 3 and 4 below are two examples:
Figure 3 Job Applications Received by Ethnicity
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Figure 4 Service Users Seen Between 01/12/10 and 30/11/11

For more information: http://www.bcpft.nhs.uk/about-us/equality-and-diversity
9.7.3.12 NICE Quality Standards
The National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE) provides national guidance on the
prevention and treatment of ill health and the promotion of good health for England and Wales.
NICE quality standards are a set of specific, concise statements covering the treatment and
prevention of different diseases and conditions. They are derived from the best available evidence
and developed independently by NICE, in collaboration with health and social care professionals,
their partners and service users. Our older adult mental health services meet the requirements for
the quality standard for dementia and our other mental health services are currently assessing our
compliance with the following quality standards: alcohol dependence and harmful alcohol use
depression in adults service user experience in adult mental health
For more information: http://guidance.nice.org.uk/qualitystandards/qualitystandards.jsp
9.8 Continually Learning
"A learning organisation is one that facilitates the learning of its members and continuously
transforms itself”
9.8.1 Report and Learn Bulletins
We recognise the benefits that can be gained from sharing and cascading learning from incidents
and complaints and we know that if this is done effectively it can help to minimise future risk and
strengthen the quality of the services we provide.
The main aim of evaluating our services and learning lessons is to improve outcomes for service
users. Our regular bulletins are intended to support this aim by communicating and strengthening
local and national lessons to be learnt from both positive practice and areas for improvement.
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9.8.2 Clinical Audit
We use clinical audit as an effective way to continually learn about the services we provide. It is a
quality improvement process to check how a service is working and whether it is meeting the
standards that people who use it should receive. It is a valuable component of each care
professional’s knowledge and skills set, to evidence how quality improvement is an integrated part
of their practice. The main focus of the trust is to participate in large scale, national clinical audits
(see 9.4.3 above) which allows good practices to be identified and shared with others but below is
an example of how we undertake local audits to inform and improve local clinical practice.
9.8.2.1 Are we referring parents to parent training programmes in the management of
children with Conduct Disorder?
Why this was undertaken
Conduct Disorder is the term given to a group of behavioural problems where a child is antisocial,
aggressive and defiant to a greater and more persistent extent than would be expected for their
age. Typically, this will involve aggression to people and animals, destruction of property,
deceitfulness and theft, serious violation of the rules. Currently, conduct disorders constitute the
most common reason for referral to child and adolescent mental health services across the
country.
National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE) conducted a systematic review of the
available research into parent training programmes and issued guidance to health professionals on
referring parents of children with conduct disorders to parent training programmes, as part of the
management of these problems.
For more information: http://www.nice.org.uk/TA1
The outcomes we wanted to achieve were:
the extent to which the child and adolescent mental health service in Sandwell is following the
standard set by NICE that 100% of parents of children with conduct disorder will be referred to
parent training programmes as part of the management plan to identify any reasons for not
referring families to parent training programmes.
How the audit was carried out
A sample of this population was identified by selecting all the children who were seen at the
service in a randomly selected month. The clinicians involved with these children were asked
whether the children presented with behaviours indicative of conduct disorders. A child was
included in the audit if at least one clinician saw them during that month and considered they
presented with behaviours indicative of conduct disorders.
This process left a sample of 66 children meeting the criteria for the audit. The case notes for all of
the children were then checked for a copy of the referral form for the parents to attend a parent
training programme or evidence in the notes that a parent training programme had been
discussed. Where parents had already completed a programme or declined the referral this was
checked for evidence it had been recorded.
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What did we find?
Figure 5 Referrals to Patient Training Programmes
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We found (see figure 5) that parenting interventions had been discussed and a referral made in
88% of cases. In addition, there was evidence that parenting was discussed and another agency
agreed to make the referral or the referral was declined in a further 5% of cases. This is slightly
below the 100% standard recommended by NICE.
Changes we have made to our local practice
discussions regarding parent training programmes are to be documented in the case notes when
they occur, whether the result is a referral, the referral is declined, or the family have already
completed a parenting programme referrals are to be made by our clinicians, rather than the task
being delegated to other agencies to help ensure referrals are always made
9.8.3 Service Evaluations
Service evaluations are another way we can learn about the services we provide and how we can
improve them. They are often referred to as small scale research projects and they are used to
identify the strengths and weaknesses of a service by providing an assessment of its aims,
activities, outputs or outcomes.
9.8.3.1 Service user perspectives on the methods used to evaluate a psychology service
Why this was undertaken
The Secretary of State for Health recently announced that service user surveys are to be at the
centre of new goals to measure the quality of care received in the NHS in England. Many services
are already using questionnaires to capture the views of people who use their services but what
happens when the response rates are consistently low?
The psychology service in this evaluation provides psychological assessment and treatment for
service users with a wide range of physical health problems, including neurological conditions such
as Parkinson’s disease, multiple sclerosis and stroke. The service is located across two sites in the
Black Country. Both sites use the same satisfaction survey to collect service user’s views of the
service and their response rates have traditionally been disappointing. The purpose of this
evaluation was to analyse this problem to determine what lessons this service could learn for the
future.
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The outcomes we wanted to achieve were:
•
to explore service users’ perspectives on evaluating the care they receive
•
to explore service users’ perspectives on potential barriers or challenges in completing
the satisfaction survey
•
to explore service user’s views on ways of overcoming the barriers or challenges in
survey completion
How the evaluation was carried out
•
satisfaction surveys are routinely sent to all service users upon discharge who were seen
by a psychologist or assistant psychologist on at least three occasions
•
between the period September 2010 and August 2011 a total of 67 surveys were sent out
but only 10 were completed and returned. A further 80 service users were discharged
during this period but were not sent a questionnaire because they had been seen on less
than three occasions
•
poor response rate due to the particular physical health difficulties of this service user
population and the culturally diverse area in which the service is located but a need to
gather the opinions of service users themselves in order to reach any firm conclusions
about these ideas
•
a group of five service users were selected for interview if they met one of the following
criteria: communication difficulties due to English being their second language, physical
health problems, or they had cognitive or physical difficulties. They all agreed to take part
What did we find?
•
there was a reluctance to report any negative aspects of their experience not wanting to
be seen to cause any hassle, or problems.
•
participants regarded the clinician as an ‘expert’ with an assumption and trust that they
would always provide the best care.
•
potential barriers or challenges to completing a questionnaire highlighted four main
themes, communication difficulties, cognitive difficulties, psychological issues and survey
composition.
•
all participants commented that receiving the survey through the post would be very
anxiety provoking. This seemed in part related to the length of the questionnaire, but
many concerns were raised in relation to understanding the questions, making mistakes
and that they would be judged negatively by those reading the questionnaire.
•
ways to overcome many of the barriers and challenges they faced were meeting with
someone face to face to complete the survey and the timing of sending the survey.
•
meeting with someone face to face to complete the form would help them feel more
listened to and more involved in the evaluation process. There seemed to be a feeling of
warmth in completing the form alongside someone as opposed to receiving a
questionnaire to complete along, which seemed to be experienced as quite cold. Meeting
with someone would enable questions to be clarified, suggesting that the accuracy of the
responses would be increased.
•
participants whose first language was not English confirmed that if the service provided
an interpreter they would be much more likely to respond.
•
timing was important, as they would be likely to forget parts of their experience if there
was a significant delay in their views being sought.
•
other ways such as focus groups or a conversation over the phone were not met with the
same enthusiasm as the idea of meeting face to face with someone to feedback their
views.
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What have we learned?
•
every clinician should highlight the importance and value of providing feedback at the start
of treatment by explaining what this means as well as its use and purpose to the service
•
this should include making service users aware of how to raise a concern or indeed a
complaint about the service they receive either verbally or if they prefer in writing
•
the importance of providing service users with different options for providing feedback
•
one option to sending blanket surveys, could be to randomly select a small number of
those discharged every three months and offer them the opportunity to talk about their
experiences with someone from the service
How this has informed local practice
Despite the small scale nature of this project, it illustrates how it still provides real insight into the
barriers and challenges many of the people using this service can face when asked to provide
feedback of their experiences using a questionnaire. It has been circulated widely across our
different services for clinical managers to consider and act upon when undertaking similar surveys.
9.8.4 Research
Healthcare professionals know a great deal about health, disease and medicines but research can
find answers to aspects that are still unknown, filling gaps in knowledge and changing the way that
they work. The aim is to find better ways of looking after patients and keeping people healthy
based on robust, relevant research evidence. Health and social care research looks at many
different issues, from illness, disease and disability to the way that health and social care services
are provided by the NHS. People in our care benefit from past research and continue to benefit
from research that is currently being carried out as the example below illustrates (see also 9.4.3).
9.8.4.1 Best Interests Decisions Study
Background
The Best Interests Decisions Study was the first large-scale national research to find out about
professional practices in best interests decisions made under the Mental Capacity Act 2005. The
study was led by the Norah Fry Research Centre at Bristol University, in collaboration with the
University of Bradford and a UK research and development charity, the Mental Health Foundation.
The study was funded by the Department of Health and was completed in 2011.
Why did we take part?
Four areas in England were selected for the study to reflect both rural localities and urban localities
with significant ethnic minority populations. Sandwell was chosen along with Surrey, Dorset and
Bradford. Within Sandwell, health and social care staff from the primary care trust, acute trust,
local authority and from our own mental health and learning disabilities services all agreed to take
part in the project.
What are best interests decision-making?
The ability to make decisions is sometimes called mental capacity. The Mental Capacity Act 2005
sets out what should happen if someone is unable to make a particular decision for themselves, if
they lack mental capacity. The Act states that a decision made for someone who lacks capacity
must be made in their ‘best interests’. The person making that decision is often a health or social
care worker, and they must follow the ‘Code of Practice’ an official good practice guide to using the
Mental Capacity Act. Within our Trust, what researchers refer to as ‘Best Interest Meetings’ are
incorporated within our Care Programme Approach (CPA) process (see 9.10.5). When planning
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the future care for an individual, a multi-disciplinary CPA meeting is convened and within that
structure any best interest decisions that have to be made are discussed by everyone.
Why the research was carried out
To find out more about how best interests’ decisions are being made, how far the Code of Practice
is followed and how helpful it is in real life situations. The study looked at:
•

•
•
•
•

the types of best interests decisions being made in different situations such as a hospital
or a care home and with different groups of people who may lack capacity such as people
with learning disabilities and people with dementia;
the different ways that best interests decisions are made;
what factors people making a decision take into account;
what helps health and social care workers make a good best interests decision,
and what stops them from doing that

How the research was carried out
Information about 385 best interests decisions made in these four areas was collected through an
online survey of professionals and workers involved in best interests decisions. These decisions
related to:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

154 people with dementia
131 people with learning disabilities
107 people with mental health problems
75 people with brain injuries or a neuro-disability
21 people intoxicated with drugs or alcohol
17 people who were unconscious
people with other conditions or no condition

Telephone interviews with 68 of these people gave a better understanding of what they had done
and why. Of these, 25 also agreed to speak to the research team in person, which provided a lot
more detail about the way that best interest decisions are made.
Main Findings:
•
researchers found that generally the right people are involved in decision-making
although there was some confusion about the role that Independent Mental Capacity
Advocates play.
•
in the vast majority of cases, the decision led to an action or treatment being carried out in
the person’s best interests. A successful outcome was said to do one or more of the
following: please the person lacking capacity; protect them from harm; protect staff.
•
assessing a person’s capacity was a concern for all the professionals although most were
found to be following the Code of Practice
•
the research found a preference for assessments of capacity to be reached by consensus
after different opinions had been aired, including expert advice where required. Where
there was disagreement about what was in a person’s best interests, the decision was
usually made over a series of meetings.
•
the research looked at how long it takes to make a best interests decision. Urgent
decisions were more likely to be about health care, while the ones that took longer were
more likely to be about property and affairs, or about more than one matter. Urgent
decisions were also most likely to be for people who were unconscious or who were
under the influence of alcohol or drugs.
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•

•

•

in 80% of decisions, the known wishes and feelings of the person were said to have been
taken into account although this did not always happen through meetings. Some people
were not interested in attending or not able to contribute in a meaningful way. Most of the
people still had a say by being supported outside of the meeting, where their
communication needs could be better met and more time could be taken to explain the
decision to be made.
the research showed that there are different ways of making best interests decisions and
roles that have emerged to make the process work. While these do not breach the spirit of
the Code of Practice they are not currently reflected in the training and guidance that is
available to health and social care workers.
the Code of Practice states that decision-makers should consult with people who know a
person who lacks capacity well when weighing up what is in their best interests. This
happened in 69% of the decisions they looked at. In the remaining cases it was either not
possible to consult with someone (perhaps because it was an emergency) or it was
inappropriate to do so (perhaps because of a safeguarding issue involving the family).

For more information: http://www.mentalhealth.org.uk/publications/bids-summary/
How this has informed local practice
Participation in this research study and the recent publication of its findings has provided the
opportunity to review our local procedures and processes for best interest decisions and the
requirements of the Mental Health Act 2005. The Trust has its own dedicated group, The Mental
Health Act Legislation Forum, attended by health and social care workers and chaired by the
Social Care Director, to consider the research findings in relation to current training, the use of
independent mental health advocates as well as reaffirming areas of good practice.
9.9 Valuing Our Workforce
Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust is committed to being a fair and inclusive
employer. We recognise that employees are essential to the provision of high quality healthcare
and we are committed to maintaining a working environment that promotes the health and wellbeing of our employees. Investing in a diverse local workforce enables us to deliver a better
service and improve patient care.
9.9.1 Staff involvement
We recognise that a good organisation involves staff in decisions about the direction of the
organisation and gets staff talking and swapping ideas with each other. We have set up a number
of ways for staff to communicate with each other. We also promote staff involvement through
online surveys, working groups that have representatives from different areas of the trust and a
monthly informal Staff Forum. As a Foundation Trust, our staff are also members of the Trust,
which provides an opportunity for staff to influence its direction. As members, staff elect fellow staff
to sit on the Assembly of Governors (see 9.7.1.1).
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9.9.2 Learning and Development
Giving staff opportunities to develop (see table 30) is a vital part of creating a motivated and skilled
workforce. Our learning and development team help staff to develop new skills, maximise their
potential, and progress in their careers. We also know that by investing in our employees' ongoing
learning and development the people using our services will benefit from a continued improvement
in the quality of care and support they receive.
Table 30 Percentage of Staff Receiving Training and Development

Taken from 2011 staff survey
•

Mandatory training showed significant improvement, particularly across Wolverhampton
mental health services from a position of 19% in April 2011 to 66.7% compliance in early
March 2012. This figure continues to improve month on month. Overall Trust figures for
key statutory training have also improved month on month from 58% at transfer in August
2011 to 67% in early March 2012.

•

6 non-clinical apprenticeships have been created across services, to provide
development and career opportunities to young people across the trust.

•

15 service user work placements have been piloted across the Trust, in a variety of
roles. This project has seen excellent feedback from service users, in building their
confidence, developing their skills, and further enabling their recovery

•

Trust Achievement Awards Ceremony included the presentation of an award
specifically for Quality. This year’s winner implemented the use of Talking Mats to gain
the views of service users in health units. Talking Mats is an established communication
tool, which uses a mat with pictures with symbols attached as the basis for
communication. It is designed to help people with communication difficulties to think about
the issues discussed with them and provide them with a way to effectively express their
opinions.

9.9.3 Library Service
A library service is provided for staff to support patient care, lifelong learning, professional
development, audit, service evaluations, research and training. A qualified and knowledgeable
team of library staff provide support and access to current, accessible evidence-based resources.
Services provided include:
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•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

a full enquiry service
literature searching
evidence and knowledge skills training
interlibrary loan facilities
IT access including printers, scanners and photocopier
access to e-book and e-journal collections and healthcare databases
quiet study space
24hr access

9.9.4 Staff Support Service
The Staff Support team consists of highly experienced counsellors and psychologists to assist with
personal or work-related issues. Any member of staff is able to self refer directly to the service.
They provide support to staff before sickness or performance problems with work occur. They also
support individuals with return to work, confidence building, getting through a grievance or
disciplinary process, coping with a change process or coming to terms with a difficult event. The
team also provide training for stress management and offer mediation and conflict resolution.
9.9.5 Health and well being
The Health and Well Being Strategy supports the Trust’s Business Plan and Strategic Objectives,
with a focus on the development of a comprehensive, proactive health and well being service that
meets the needs of employees and the organisation. Developments include a single provider of
Occupational Health and in-house staff support with a plan to develop this for staff groups as well
as individuals (see also 9.4.2).
An action plan has also been developed since the last staff opinion survey, which will include the
development an intranet page for the health and wellbeing of staff as a single point of information
for staff. Sickness and absence levels have also reduced. The group now includes an executive
director and reports go to the Executive Committee.
9.10 National Targets 2011/2012
Performance against key national targets is reported to the Board of Directors and our regulators
throughout the year. Actions to address any areas of under performance are put in place where
necessary. The patient related performance measures and outcomes below help us to monitor
how we deliver our mental health services.
9.10.1 Meeting commitment to serve new psychosis cases by early intervention teams
The World Health Organisation indicates that schizophrenia and other forms of psychoses which
affect young people represent a major public health problem. Worldwide, they rank as the third
most disabling condition and pose an enormous burden, both in terms of economic cost and of
human suffering. Yet, in spite of the availability of interventions that can reduce relapses by more
than 50%, not all affected individuals have access to them, and when they do, it is not always in a
timely and sustained way. The identification of the illness and its treatment, as early as possible,
represents a high priority (see table 31).
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Table 31 Target to Serve New Psychosis Cases by Early Intervention Teams
Indicator

2010/11
2011/12
Target Achieved Target Achieved

Meeting commitment to serve new
psychosis cases by early
intervention teams

53

67

97

143

9.10.2 Admissions to inpatients services had access to crisis resolution home treatment
teams
A crisis resolution team (sometimes called a crisis resolution home treatment team) provides
intensive support for people in mental health crises in their own home: they stay involved until the
problem is resolved. It is designed to provide prompt and effective home treatment, including
medication, in order to prevent hospital admissions and give support to informal carers. Table 32
explains the percentage of admissions to our acute admission wards that were seen by a member
of the crisis resolution team prior to admission.
Table 32 Target for Admissions via Crisis Resolution Home Treatment Teams
Indicator

2010/11
2011/12
Target Achieved Target Achieved

Admissions to inpatients services
had access to crisis resolution
home treatment teams

90%

97%

90%

100%

9.10.3 Delayed Transfers of Care
Once a service user no longer requires hospital treatment, they should not unnecessarily continue
to be in hospital waiting for discharge or transfer of care. This refers to the number of non-acute
patients aged 18 and over whose transfer of care was delayed each week. The delay of a service
user’s transfer to the next care setting has an impact on the quality of care they receive (see table
33).
Table 33 Target for Delayed Transfers of Care
Indicator
Over the full year, less
than 7.5% of beds
should be occupied by
patients whose transfer
is delayed

2010/11
Target Achieved
excluding
social care
less
0.3%
than
7.5% including social
care 15.2%

2011/12
Target Achieved
excluding
social care
less
2.5%
than
including
7.5%
social care
16.9%
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9.10.4 Care Programme Approach (CPA) 12 Month Formal Review
The Care Programme Approach (CPA) is a framework through which mental health care is coordinated, delivered and monitored. An integral part of that approach is that people under adult
mental illness specialties on the Care Programme Approach (CPA) receive a formal review within
12 months (see table 34).
Table 34 Target for 12 Month Formal Reviews
Indicator

2010/11
2011/12
Target Achieved Target Achieved

CPA 12 Month Formal Review

95%

96.4%

95%

98.8%

9.10.5 7 Day Follow-up
This refers to the number of people under adult mental illness specialties on the Care Programme
Approach (CPA) receiving follow up by phone or face to face contact within seven days of
discharge to their place of residence from psychiatric in-patient care. Follow up within seven days
for service users discharged from hospital is important because the early days after discharge are
when service users and their carers can feel especially vulnerable (see table 35). This process
contributes to reducing the overall rate of death by suicide across the NHS.
Table 35 Target for 7 Day Follow-up
Indicator

2010/11
2011/12
Target Achieved Target Achieved

Seven Day Follow up

95%

98%

95%

95.6%

9.10.6 Data Completeness
This relates to the Outcomes for patients on Care Programme Approach data completeness
metrics that consist of:
•
•
•

employment status
in settled accommodation
having a HoNOS assessment in the past 12 months

Table 36 shows the percentage of valid entries for each data item achieved compared to the target
percentage required.
Table 36 Target for Data Completeness
Indicator

2010/11
2011/12
Target Achieved Target Achieved

Data Completeness: Outcome
Employment status 88.8%
In settled accommodation 88.7%
HoNOS assessment in last 12
months 89.3%

50%

89%

50%

89%
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9.10.7 Identifiers Average
This relates to the Patient identity data completeness metrics (from Mental Health Minimum Data
Set) that consist of:
•
•
•
•
•
•

NHS number;
Date of birth;
Postcode (normal residence);
Current gender;
Registered General Medical Practice organisation code; and
Commissioner organisation code.

Table 37 shows the percentage of valid entries for each data item achieved compared to the target
percentage required.
Table 37 Target for Identifiers Average
Indicator

2010/11
2011/12
Target Achieved Target Achieved

Identifiers Average
Date of Birth 99.95%
Gender 100%
NHS Number 99.06%
Postcode 99.85%
Practice Code 99.65%

99%

99.7%

99%

99.7%

9.11 Annex
9.11.1 Statements from Stakeholders
9.11.1.1 NHS Dudley commissions children’s and learning disability services for people living in
Dudley and is responsible for monitoring the quality of services provided to people who use these
services
“The Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) welcomes the opportunity to comment on the quality
accounts for Black Country Partnership Foundation Trust (BCPFT) for 2011/12. We have carefully
reviewed the contents of this report and whilst a small proportion is concerned with Children’s
services, we believe the content is a true and accurate reflection of the performance information
recorded by the Trust. As such we are happy to endorse it.
The CCG continues to work closely with BCPFT and welcomes the transparency and commitment
to quality demonstrated in this report. It is recognised that the Trust has worked hard in 2011/12 to
successfully absorb services for Children, Young People and Families in Dudley, formerly provided
by the Primary Care Trust. It is recognised the Quality Account is predominantly focussed on
Mental Health and Learning Disability services and we are keen to see an increased reflection of
the quality improvement aimed towards Children’s services as they become embedded within the
trust. We welcome the consideration given to seeking improvements across Health Visitor records
in 2012/13.
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We look forward to the Trust enthusiastically embracing the new ways of working made possible
by the creation of CCGs in the coming year. We are committed to ensuring quality is at the heart
of all service provision, and are looking forward to working with the Trust to raise the profile of
children’s services and work with partners across the health economy for the benefit of the
population in Dudley.”
9.11.1.2 NHS Walsall commissions learning disability services for people living in Walsall and is
responsible for monitoring the quality of services provided to people who use these services
“The Quality Report was informative, explained the priorities on improving services in mental
health treatment and how these impacted on Patient Care and experience.”
9.11.1.3 Sandwell Primary Care Trust commissions mental health and learning disability services
for people who live in Sandwell and is responsible for monitoring the quality of services provided to
people who use these services.
“Sandwell and West Birmingham Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG), with Sandwell Primary
Care Trust, is one of the main commissioners for Black Country Partnership Foundation Trust and
have the responsibility of seeking assurance that the services commissioned by the CCG and
delivered by this Trust are of a consistently high standard. The CCG takes this task very seriously
and works closely with the Trust throughout the year to ensure that services are of high
quality. The CCG has undertaken a number of announced and unannounced visits to the Trust to
see at first hand the quality of services provided and the experience that patients have is as we
would expect. The Trust has been open and responsive to these visits. Good practice is
acknowledged and a collaborative approach ensures that actions to address any problems
identified are put in place at the earliest opportunity.
This Quality Account represents an accurate and well balanced view of the services delivered”
9.11.1.4 Wolverhampton City Primary Care Trust commissions mental health and learning
disability services for people who live in Wolverhampton and is responsible for monitoring the
quality of services provided to people who use these services
“The report shows the provider achievements in delivering a range of complex mental health
services across the City. The service improvements identified will lead to a safe, effective and
efficient mental health service for the people of Wolverhampton. The services need to continue
to work closely with social care, housing, welfare benefits, leisure and education services across
the City in order to ensure that people using mental health services are achieving their potential
and deliver against the vision and model of care identified within the joint commissioning strategy
for mental health.”
9.11.1.5 Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny
Committee Every local authority with social services responsibilities has the power to scrutinise
local health services and have established Overview and Scrutiny Committees (OSCs). They bring
democratic accountability into healthcare decisions and make the NHS more publicly accountable
and responsive to local communities.
“We have not commented on the quality reports for the past couple of years and will be taking this
approach again. There is no legal obligation on us to provide responses.“
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9.11.1.6 Dudley Local Involvement Network (LINk) Local Involvement Networks are made up of
individuals and community groups, such as charities, faith groups, residents' associations and
youth councils, working together to improve health and social care services.
“Dudley LINk would like to see more emphasis being given to dementia services, notably with
more funding for dementia and to see greater consultation with those using the service and
especially their families and carers to ensure that their views and experiences are used to improve
care. Dudley LINk is keen to work with the Black Country Partnership to contribute to the
improvements in services for the benefit of those people that need it.”
9.11.1.7 Sandwell Local Involvement Network (LINk)
“Overall the report was felt to be very interesting, but it was proposed that having someone from
the Trust attend the LINk to present its contents may be more useful in allowing meaningful
commentary in future.”
9.11.1.8 Walsall Local Involvement Network (LINk)
“Walsall LINk feels that more engagement is needed with patient representative groups and in
particular LINks when producing future quality accounts. Unfortunately this year the Trust has
failed to engage with Walsall LINk at the start of the process and as such we have been unable to
provide an informed comment about the work that the Trust is undertaking. We hope that future
engagement processes with patient groups at the Trust will be improved and we look forward to a
closer working relationship in the future.”
9.12 Statement of Directors’ responsibilities in respect of the Quality Report
The Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust ‘s Directors are required under the Health
Act 2009 and the National Health Service (Quality Accounts) Regulations 2010 to prepare Quality
Accounts for each financial year. Monitor has issued guidance to NHS foundation trust boards on
the form and content of annual quality reports (which incorporate the above legal requirements)
and on the arrangements that foundation trust boards should put in place to support the data
quality for the preparation of the quality report.
In preparing the quality report, directors have taken steps to satisfy themselves that:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

the content of the quality report meets the requirements set out in the NHS Foundation
Trust Annual Reporting Manual 2011/12
the content of the Quality Report is not inconsistent with internal and external sources of
information including:
board minutes and papers for the period April 2011 to June 2012
papers relating to Quality reported to the Board over the period April 2011 to June 2012
feedback from the Dudley commissioners dated 9th May 2012
feedback from the Wolverhampton commissioners dated 14th May 2012
feedback from the Sandwell and Walsall commissioners dated 15th May 2012
feedback from governors dated 20th March 2012
the Trust’s Complaints Report published under regulation 18 of the Local Authority Social
Services and NHS Complaints Regulations 2009 dated 10th May 2012;
the latest national patient survey
the latest national staff survey
the Head of Internal Audit’s annual opinion over the trust’s control environment dated 18th
April 2012
CQC quality and risk profiles dated 15th June 2012
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•
•
•

•

the Quality Report presents a balanced picture of the Trust’s performance over the period
covered;
the performance information reported in the Quality Report is reliable and accurate;
there are proper internal controls over the collection and reporting of the measures of
performance included in the Quality Report, and these controls are subject to review to
confirm that they are working effectively in practice;
the data underpinning the measures of performance reported in the Quality Report is
robust and reliable, conforms to specified data quality standards and prescribed
definitions, is subject to appropriate scrutiny and review;

This Quality Report has been prepared in accordance with Monitor’s annual reporting guidance
(which incorporates the Quality Accounts regulations) (published at www.monitornhsft.gov.uk/annualreportingmanual) as well as the standards to support data quality for the
preparation of the Quality Report.
The Directors confirm to the best of their knowledge and belief they have complied with the above
requirements in preparing the Quality Report.
By order of the Board

Bob Piper, Chairman
Date 29th May 2012
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